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For Ruta Sepetys, my friend and mentor.
You are a bell ringer for so many, especially me.
Genesis 6:22




“The truth is like a lion.

You don’t have to defend it.

Let it loose.

It will defend itself.”

—ST. AUGUSTINE




[image: image]




Contents



	Cover

	Title Page

	Copyright



	Contents

	Sage Advice

	Chapter 1

	Chapter 2

	A Note for the Reader

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 3

	Chapter 4

	Chapter 5

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 6

	Chapter 7

	Chapter 8

	Chapter 9

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 10

	Chapter 11

	Chapter 12

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 13

	Chapter 14

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 15

	Chapter 16

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 17

	Chapter 18

	Chapter 19

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 20

	Chapter 21

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 22

	Chapter 23

	Chapter 24

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 25

	Chapter 26

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 27

	Chapter 28

	Chapter 29

	Chapter 30

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 31

	Chapter 32

	Chapter 33

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 34

	Chapter 35

	Chapter 36

	The Elizabeth Letters

	The Elizabeth Letters

	The Elizabeth Letters

	The Elizabeth Letters

	The Elizabeth Letters

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 37

	Chapter 38

	Chapter 39

	The Elizabeth Letters

	Chapter 40

	Epilogue

	A Final Note to the Reader

	Acknowledgments

	Discussion Questions

	About the Author






Guide


	Cover

	Contents

	Sage Advice









	i

	ii

	iii

	iv

	v

	vi

	vii

	viii

	ix

	x

	1

	2

	3

	4

	5

	6

	7

	8

	9

	10

	11

	12

	13

	14

	15

	16

	17

	18

	19

	20

	21

	22

	23

	24

	25

	26

	27

	28

	29

	30

	31

	32

	33

	34

	35

	36

	37

	38

	39

	40

	41

	42

	43

	44

	45

	46

	47

	48

	49

	50

	51

	52

	53

	54

	55

	56

	57

	58

	59

	60

	61

	62

	63

	64

	65

	66

	67

	68

	69

	70

	71

	72

	73

	74

	75

	76

	77

	78

	79

	80

	81

	82

	83

	84

	85

	86

	87

	88

	89

	90

	91

	92

	93

	94

	95

	96

	97

	98

	99

	100

	101

	102

	103

	104

	105

	106

	107

	108

	109

	110

	111

	112

	113

	114

	115

	116

	117

	118

	119

	120

	121

	122

	123

	124

	125

	126

	127

	128

	129

	130

	131

	132

	133

	134

	135

	136

	137

	138

	139

	140

	141

	142

	143

	144

	145

	146

	147

	148

	149

	150

	151

	152

	153

	154

	155

	156

	157

	158

	159

	160

	161

	162

	163

	164

	165

	166

	167

	168

	169

	170

	171

	172

	173

	174

	175

	176

	177

	178

	179

	180

	181

	182

	183

	184

	185

	186

	187

	188

	189

	190

	191

	192

	193

	194

	195

	196

	197

	198

	199

	200

	201

	202

	203

	204

	205

	206

	207

	208

	209

	210

	211

	212

	213

	214

	215

	216

	217

	218

	219

	220

	221

	222

	223

	224

	225

	226

	227

	228

	229

	230

	231

	232

	233

	234

	235

	236

	237

	238

	239

	240

	241

	242

	243

	244

	245

	246

	247

	248

	249

	250

	251

	252

	253

	254

	255

	256

	257

	258

	259

	260

	261

	262

	263

	264

	265

	266

	267

	268

	269

	270

	271

	272

	273

	274

	275

	276

	277

	278

	279

	280

	281

	282

	283

	284

	285

	286

	287

	288

	289

	290

	291

	292

	293

	294

	295

	296

	297

	298

	299

	300

	301

	302

	303

	304

	305

	306

	307

	308

	309

	310

	311

	312

	313

	314

	315

	316

	317

	318

	319

	320

	321

	322

	323

	324

	325

	326

	327

	328

	329

	330

	331

	332

	333

	334

	335

	336

	337

	338

	339

	340

	341

	342

	343

	344

	345

	346

	347

	348

	349

	350

	351

	352

	353

	354

	355

	356

	357

	358








SAGE ADVICE

You don’t owe your truths to everyone.

Those were my father’s exact words.

There were upside-down spoons in our mouths, ice cream thawing on our tongues. The hard rock maple table held our elbows. It was midnight and I smelled like Johnson and Johnson. Dad tapped his watch and gave me the inevitable you should have been asleep hours ago I’m probably a terrible father grimace.

Trouble was, my new classmates at Wildwood Elementary were going to wonder about my mother. Dad spoke around a mouthful of mint chocolate chip. “Don’t tell them anything,” he said. When I argued that they’d ask, they’d definitely ask, we swapped bowls and he shrugged. Not like my question didn’t matter. More like the people asking didn’t.

I remember his lip curling into my favorite smirk and pink dribbles of Neapolitan clinging to his mustache. I remember Riverdance sounds as he clacked the spoon between his bottom and top teeth. Then the precise shape of his lips saying my name. “Thea.” And I remember what came after.

He shoved the bowl toward the lazy Susan and placed his hand over my eyes. “I want you to picture a basement,” he said. He gave my imagination time to populate the darkness. To spot the blackish-green mold clinging to the plaster, hear the boiler gurgling in the corner, hang a single raw bulb from the ceiling. His fingers smelled like sugar. “Now,” he said, “take all your favorite truths and secrets, the things you’re not sure about, the things you love most in the world and put them down there.” Almost as an afterthought he added, “Where they’ll be safe.”

“Like you letting me stay up past bedtime?” I peeked between his fingers.

“Definitely.” He winked. “And tough stuff too. Like Mom leaving.” I spotted a momentary wave of regret before he said, “Whatever, whoever you want. When that’s done, lock the door.” His face grew animated and he explained that his basement had an ancient door with a cool skeleton key.

“Like at Nana’s old house in Nashville?” I wanted to know.

“Yes, like at Nana’s old house.” Then he said something that’s wedged in my memory. “Imagine there are only three keys to the basement and the people with keys, they get to know about Mom. Everyone else gets a shrug.”

“Do I lie?”

He parted the hair on my forehead and planted a kiss along my worry wrinkle. “Only if you’re desperate.”

That was 2001.

The Gemini Thief kidnapped the first crop of boys that year.
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We’ll pass the billboards in another mile.

They’ll smear by.

The five of them.

Last September they sprouted in the field along I-65. Their font coal black and Apple Store white; huge block letters that demanded attention from motorists. The quintet is weatherworn now, and as far as advertisements go, can’t compete with Bojangles’s new spicy chicken sandwich or TriStar’s four-minute ER wait.

I’m staring out the passenger window of Nick’s Civic, watching the landscape pass, wide-eyed and afraid to blink. “They’re just ahead. After the water tower.” I tap the glass, leaving my fingerprint smudges for him to wipe away later. To appease me, he slows to a honk-worthy speed and we squint against the rising sun.


The Gemini Thief could be anyone.
Your father, your mother, your best friend’s crazy uncle.
Some country music star’s deranged sister. Anyone.
Someone is stealing Tennessee’s boys.
Report suspicious behavior.



A tip line number follows. The byline explains the Check Your Neighbor Campaign is funded by Families of Gemini Victims. These days the billboards are ants in the rush-hour parade. Another bit of empathy fatigue for the daily commute.

Unless your whole life is on those signs.

Aulus McClaghen’s my cousin.

Maybe you know the name. Maybe you don’t. In the media, he’s nobody yet. To Nick, he’s the Kentucky boy among the current three missing from Tennessee. To me, he’s the million-piece puzzle I’ve been working since childhood. It’s not just me fascinated either. Nearly everyone in Wildwood could reel off four or five Aulus facts without blinking. That’s the kind of person he is. Was? Is.

Like:

He worked the cash register at Quik Mart.

He once raised seven hundred dollars for St. Jude’s reselling Hershey’s Kisses.

Dude loved his car—an Audi Quattro that he tipped the Wildwood High shop class to handsomely accessorize.

He wrote letters to famous people and for some reason they always wrote back. His favorite, and mine: J. K. Rowling. (The letters are framed in the Wildwood Library, near the family bathroom.)

A person isn’t a grouping of stats or a list of strange accomplishments; that’s reductive and insulting. But take a snapshot of Aul’s life on any day, and you’d love him instantly.

Nick returns the Civic to an above-normal speed. “I hate what those signs do to you.”

“I like them,” I whisper. It’s nice to count on something in this case that doesn’t change.

He runs his index finger inside the looping Western Kentucky University lanyard attached to his keys. We reach for the radio at the same time and scan through the stations twice before giving up. He says, “We can always wait. Find out on the evening news.” Nick makes another loop on the lanyard.

The FBI found a body in Baxter, Tennessee, this morning.

Juvenile. Male.

Dumped on the side of the highway and phoned in by a motorist who had to pee and couldn’t wait.

Dana, Nick’s sister and one of the lead agents on the Gemini case, wouldn’t confirm the body was a Gemini victim—she’s not allowed—but the implication . . . clear. She called Nick. Nick called me. Thirty minutes later he arrived with breakfast and a full tank of gas.

I toss the pastry bag in the back seat and sigh.

“Didn’t think I’d get any calories into you,” Nick says.

“I can’t eat if he’s dead.”

In nine years the Thief has never killed. Never been violent with the boys, as far as the reports indicate.

I clear my throat. “Dana tell you where in Baxter?”

Nick shrugs but doesn’t look worried. I piggyback on his confidence even though we’re on a fishing expedition for flashing blue lights and federal vehicles in some remote county east of Nashville. “You want to talk? You don’t have to if you’re tired.”

I am tired. I went to bed at eleven, fell asleep around two, and answered Nick’s call at five a.m. “I don’t know what I want. For that body not to be Aulus’s.” Except, is that wishing for Zared or Rufus or Chris to be dead? Tension squeezes every muscle in my neck and shoulders. “Sorry,” I say.

Nick pumps my leg twice like my knee needs CPR. “Don’t be sorry.” He sips his coffee to the dregs and rattles ice against the plastic cup.

It could be Aul, his eyes say when he looks sideways.

I know, mine answer.

The Civic eats miles like candy.

We reach Nashville. We pass Nashville. I can’t bear forty more miles of silence so I say, “Uncle Warren” (who is not really my uncle, but might as well be) “says calls dribble in occasionally.”

“Huh?” Nick asks. Then, “Oh, on the tip line?”

“People ask if there’s a cash reward. They find out there isn’t and hang up. Did I tell you that already?”

“Thee.” My name empties the air. “Has this gone unsolved for so long because people never consider that someone they know might be guilty?” He nibbles skin on the side of his thumb. “Like . . . you and I have discussed every bizarre fact of this case and not one time did I—” He stops midsentence.

I intend to wait him out but can’t. “Not one time, what?”

His sigh, both deep and long, feels shaped by shame instead of fear. “I never asked myself if my mom or dad or a neighbor or Dana or anyone I know . . . could be responsible for taking Aul.” Nick’s eyes aren’t so much a specific color, but you’d call them blue if you had to call them something. They don’t pierce; they lean at your calf like a dog. “I mean . . . Have you?”

I can’t think of anything worse. “Everyone I know is pretty great. They don’t seem the kidnapping type.”

“But you’d report him?”

“Why wouldn’t I?”

Twelve kidnappings are attributed to the Thief. They’re all boys. Most were abducted from homes: bedrooms, backyards, driveways. One was riding a neon green bike with black racing stripes. Another was last seen begging his mother for strawberry ice cream. That kid was in a grocery store alley near Jackson.

The crimes started as early as 2001; the FBI acknowledged the pattern to the public in 2007. The pattern is this: On June 1st three boys disappear; no ransom is requested. The kidnappees are harbored in an underground bunker through June 30th of the following year. Thirteen months. Thirteen. Then they’re released, dropped somewhere along I-40.

A fallow season follows.

A dormant year. Sometimes two.

But he always steals again.

Three boys. Tennessee. June 1st.

And he’s gotten away with kidnapping twelve times. Thirteen, if you count Aulus. In 2009, Aulus’s year, he took Chris Jenkins (five years old) from Oak Ridge, Rufus Cohen (fourteen years old) from Portland, and Zared Parker (fifteen years old) from White House.

One is dead on the side of the road in Baxter, Tennessee. Russian roulette. So, back to Nick’s question, would I tell? Yeah, if I had the faintest suspicion of the Thief’s identity, I’d scream his name from a mountaintop.

Nick taps the steering wheel. “I’m only asking what happens if we consider the possibility that the Thief is a dude from Wildwood who gets up in the morning, pushes tomato soup through a crack in his cellar wall, and goes off to . . . drive his school bus or, I don’t know . . . provide legal aid or plumb toilets? He could have kids or a wife or a chinchilla named Biscuit.”

“That’s not exactly the profile, and I doubt the Thief’s from Wildwood.”

“You’re probably right . . .” Nick’s hand’s in mine and I’m not even sure who made that happen. I let him lift our fingers to his lips and kiss our laced knuckles.

“Love ya,” I say.

“You too,” he says from a long way away.

[image: image]

Locating Dana’s slew of federal agents happens without much fuss. They’re blocking the shoulder of I-40, clogging the Baxter exit. Vehicles dog-paddle along, their drivers rubbernecking the scene. Nick angles the Civic over the rumble strip. An uncomfortable assumption roils my stomach that if we crack the windows, we’ll smell who died. Nick swallows hard, rests his forehead against the wheel. “It’s not him,” he says, fingers paused on the door handle.

I crane toward the winking reds and blues. There’s a cop bent over in the bushes, hurling.

“It’s not him,” I repeat, but it probably is.

“That’s Dana’s.” Nick points at one of the dozen SUVs. “Remember, she won’t look happy to see us.”

We leave the car and pick our way toward Nick’s sister, me still attached to his hand. Cigarette butts and gravel litter the ground. Grass quickly creeps over the edge of my flip-flops and swats my toes. The May heat bats against our faces as semis whoosh by. I hold my breath until it hurts. This shoulder’s a ravine, dropping swiftly into a fenced-off wooded area that doesn’t garner much love from the highway department. It’s amazing anyone noticed a body; you could hide a circus in a grove this thick. An officer spots us and yells that the area is closed and if we’re media we can move along. We keep walking and he makes a fuss that stops the scene.

“Tommy,” Dana snaps at her coworker. “That’s my brother and his girlfriend. Let ’em through.”

After thinking long and hard about whether he should, Tommy steps aside. His partners follow suit and an aisle opens.

The crime scene raises its ugly head.

On the ground there’s a box. No, a suitcase. A multicolored tweed holdover from the Kennedy administration. It has burgundy handles, water marks, and grass stains. The zipper . . . the silver teeth have eaten hair and skin.

Bloated blue-gray skin.

Blondish-red hair.

Nick stops like someone suddenly nailed him to the earth. “I . . .” He starts to say can’t. The word cowers behind his clenched teeth.

I don’t know which of us is more ashamed. Him for the inability to move closer. Me for charging robotically forward.

Four to five yards away from the scene, Dana squats. Her eyes rove the disturbed space around the boy and suitcase. She’s brave to stare. I try to be brave.

The body’s small.

I look away.

Dana keeps staring.

I check again.

Too small to be Aulus. Far too small.

Another agent drops to Dana’s level and swaps her clipboard for an evidence bag as they discuss body identification and keeping the press out of the loop until the family is notified. Good luck with that. The press skulks toward the woods with cameras and microphones. If I had to guess, the connection to the Gemini Thief is already playing on every major network.

Dana adeptly wipes her cheek with her shoulder before jockeying the plastic bag from one hand to the other. Then she stands, walks to me, and angles our backs to the body. “Nick?” A crevice appears between her brows.

I point to the Civic.

“I shouldn’t have called.” She lowers her voice. “It’s not Aul . . .”

“Chris Jenkins,” I say.

She nods, then I find myself swallowed by Dana’s arms. She has been up most of the night. She’s wrung around the edges and red in the eyes. Still, the Jones warmth devours me. I hope I give her half what she gives me. She’s going to need it.

We break apart. The plastic evidence bag that was banging my ribs dangles there for viewing.

Inside, a silver key chain.

I bend closer.

Dana tightens the plastic around the object so the features are visible.

A castle.

Two turrets. Three arches. One dangling camo key.

I’m telling myself it can’t be and asking, “Where did this come from?” at the same time.

Dana leans toward me, whispers, “From the body. In his mouth,” and then makes a show of saying, “Tell my brother to drive the speed limit home. You know you can’t hang around a crime scene.”

Dana gives away nothing to her team, but she’s seen that key chain before.
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Chris Jenkins is dead.

The media circulated a photo after his initial disappearance that showed mischievous green eyes, a matching checkered button-up, and adorable aqua sandals. His jeans didn’t meet his ankles. I can imagine his mother cooing, “Chrisy-Chris, stop growing up so fast.”

He’s done growing now. Maxed out in less than three thousand days. He probably still believed in Santa Claus. Probably wanted the training wheels off his bicycle. Probably liked grape jelly on both sides of his peanut butter sandwich. Maybe he complained about whole wheat bread.

He died with Aulus’s key chain in his mouth.

I haven’t managed anything except a seated position. I’m curled around the glove box, cheek and nose buried in the dashboard dust. One of Nick’s arms drapes the wheel, the other massages my shaking shoulders. “I’m not driving until you tell me who’s dead.”

“Chris.” The name tastes like horseradish. “Sorry,” I say because I am crying and I’m not sure whether the motivation is grief or relief.

Nick frames out like a jockey who has stopped starving himself—small, not tiny. He crosses the console, scoops me against his chest, and hugs me like an octopus. It’s stunning, really, the amount of arms on this boy.

I’m not sure I can make myself say everything once, much less twice, and Gladys and Tank still need to be told. “Can you drive and let me tell you everything at the WCC?” I ask.

“Thee?” He has no intention of waiting.

I wriggle away and lift my pack from the floorboard into my lap. “Evidence on the body. This.” I hold a twin key chain of the one in the evidence bag. A key chain I’ve been led to believe is two of a kind. “Nick.”

He speaks my thought. “Now we’re sure.”

Aulus was with him.

And if I’m right, trying to get a message to us.

The sun bakes the car. More than one officer has tapped the window and asked us to move. We’re not being defiant. It’s hard to drive knowing what we know. No matter what I do, that tiny body and suitcase returns, and I can’t stop thinking: all the images I’ve conjured of Aulus over the last year—the basement, Welder, endless cans of soup—they’re true.

It’s quite a thing to be right. Quite a terrible thing.

Nick lifts my key chain and stares at it, through it. He fists the silver ring, knuckles reddening as he squeezes. “There’s a good chance we might be those people who know the Thief,” he says, nearly emotionless.

This seems like a leap. Still, there’s a new fear, half dressed and exposed, in his eyes. “You’re tied to this,” he says. “You. Not just Aulus.” And though he speaks with uncertainty, his tone betrays him. His brain is now a Rubik’s Cube spinning in perfect algorithm. The colors are lining up.

After that, we drive.




A NOTE FOR THE READER

To the best of our knowledge the following letters, hereafter referred to as the Elizabeth Letters, were penned in late June 2010 by Aulus McClaghen.




THE ELIZABETH LETTERS
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Nick’s proposition that I’m tied to the Gemini case fills the Civic. It stops with us for gas. It orders a latte. It passes the billboards at eighty miles an hour. It wants to know if we’re close to home.

Twenty miles from Wildwood, the silence overwhelms me. “Explain.”

“I’m probably wrong,” he says.

“Well, be wrong verbally.”

He checks the rearview mirror and fixes his eyes on the road. He’s like this sometimes. Stubborn. Internal. I can’t tell if he’s protecting himself from sounding stupid or protecting me from being unable to track his line of thinking. Occasionally he uses the gap in our ages against me. As if three years is the difference between smart and wise. I nearly remind him I’m the one who faced Chris Jenkins while he waited in the car, but that won’t get me anywhere. We already know which of us swallows this case by the handful.

“I need more time to . . .” He mimes moving boxes around.

I flippantly mime the same motion. “Too bad.”

“I didn’t mean you were guilty.” He’s suddenly worried I’ve misunderstood.

“Seriously? You didn’t mean I was killing six-year-olds?” I roll my eyes. “I get that you’re saying the key chain suggests proximity to the kidnapper . . . but connect the dots.” I wheel my hand, urging him to proceed.

“Your dad gave you the key chain, yeah?”

I nod.

“And he gave Aulus the same one?”

“Yeah.” I swivel against the pressure of the seat belt and use the emergency brake as a footstool, building a barrier of knees and elbows.

Nick shoves three fingers between the top two buttons of his oxford polo and taps his chest in a piano-like rhythm. “The discovery of the key chain not only ties Aulus to Chris, it ties your dad to the boys. Whoever put it in Chris’s mouth was delivering a message.”

“The only message I’m getting: Aulus is there.” The pressure in my chest tiptoes toward annoyance instead of fear. “For the first time in a year, we have evidence that my cousin didn’t run away, didn’t hitchhike out of Wildwood, didn’t drown in Mitchem Creek. He was taken. For the first time in months, we know exactly who took him. Which means we might very well get him back on June 30th. Let’s focus on that for a happy little minute.”

Nick squeezes my toes and makes fingertip indentions in my flip-flops without taking his eyes off the road. His head metronomes. “Your dad was with Aulus the morning he disappeared.”

“Yeah, and he was already questioned. So was I. So was Aulus’s uncle Leo. So were you.”

“By Wildwood police. Who were investigating a runaway, not a kidnapping.”

Uncle Warren is with the Wildwood Sheriff’s Office, and he’s been nothing but helpful and thorough. I’m slightly offended on his behalf.

Nick kneads his forehead and the car drifts. A middle finger shoots up from the minivan mom to our right. He waves apologetically. “This is what I meant when I asked if you would tell. We all think we would, but when you love someone, you look for a million reasons why they’re innocent.”

This riles me enough to raise my voice. “The key chain connection didn’t exist when you asked.”

Nick pins his lips together with his thumb, holds his words inside.

“Say it,” I urge.

“I shouldn’t have said anything.”

“Why? Because it might be awkward for my boyfriend to accuse my dad of kidnapping? Yeah, a wee bit.”

“No, I didn’t.”

“Yeah, you did.”

“Technically, I asked if he could be a murderer too.” I don’t understand in the slightest what’s happening. Nick and Dad get along fine. Dad didn’t even mind that Nick is older than me after Uncle Warren ran a background check and told him, “His dad’s a DA. Sister’s FBI. Kid’s prelaw without a parking ticket.” Dad has even gone so far as to admit Nick’s the only one who can reach me when I swim out too far in the ocean of Aulus. Still, Nick’s continuing with his proposal. “Your dad, he’s . . . well, he’s . . .”

When Nick won’t spit it out, I provide an option that stings my chest. “Strange?”

Nick darts around a truck with two huskies drinking air through cracked windows. The truck honks and the dogs honk too. “I was going to say”—another pause—“certifiable.”
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Certain questions require us to think deeply. They give us pedigrees and integrity. They stoke curiosity. I usually appreciate a well-asked question. Nick’s plants a ball of fire between my ribs.

Is my dad the average-height adult, weighing between 165 and 180 pounds, owning a welding helmet and black racing jumpsuit, who stole years from other families and security from twelve boys?

Did my dad kidnap his own nephew?

Or kill Chris Jenkins?

That’s what Nick’s asking.

I dial down every swirling rogue emotion and coat my answer in cool eucalyptus. “Crazy doesn’t make him guilty. Build your case,” I say.

And Nick, knowing me, says, “I’d be angry at me too if I were you, but you’ll be angrier later if you don’t force yourself to do this. You can’t come this far and stop at the hard place.” Then, “It’s smarter for you to build the case.”

[image: image]

Point number one, which I concede as a fact: my father is a liar.

I was almost seventeen listening to “Fifteen,” and summer was Taylor Swift, SweeTart sugar highs, and sticky bleachers at the American Legion Park. Gladys and I googled sex and wished we didn’t. Aulus and Tank devised plans for late-night phone calls that didn’t make our house phones ring. There were trips to Holiday World with Uncle Warren, Griff, and Ruby. And of course, my every-other-Wednesday decision to start a celery-only diet, followed by eating cheap cookie dough from the sleeve before the day was out.

This was me before Castle Delacroix.

The day I found out I owned a castle, summer was being a dutiful Wildwood summer: boring, beautiful, too hot to breathe unless you were sitting in the path of an air conditioner. Gladys said, “Tank and I got kicked out of Walmart last night for playing hide-and-seek,” and I lolled my head toward her and said, “We should try to get kicked out of Walmart every day.”

We were lying side by side on the floor, freshly painted toes propped on the bed’s edge, listening to her iPod with two fans oscillating our direction. Gladys had a Dr Pepper can balanced on her chest and was trying to tip all twenty-three flavors to her lips without spilling liquid on the carpet. “You think Tank likes me?” She rebalanced the can and changed the position of her chin for optimal catching.

“There’s probably some Southern correlation between being kicked out of Walmart together and marriage.” I sounded bored. I was tired of talking about boys—even our boys, whom I loved—and was wishing my way back to our middle school Bigfoot mania. We’d made huge plans to travel somewhere after graduation and shoot a Blair Witch–style mockumentary on Sasquatches.

Gladys gripped the lip of the Dr Pepper can with her teeth and nudged it toward the middle of her breastbone. “What if I get kicked out of Walmart with you every day in June? Is there a Southern correlation for that?”

“You only have me the last two weeks,” I reminded her.

Dad had left for his annual month-long mental health sojourn three days earlier. I was out of school and happy to spend the month with my village of uncles. Except that year, last year, Warren was supposedly off with Dad, so I was all Griff’s. We were planning to visit his parents—Grandma and Grandpa Holtz—in the Outer Banks. And since we were leaving for North Carolina in less than twelve hours, Gladys would clearly take more devious Walmart trips with Tank than me.

She groaned, upsetting the Dr Pepper can. Half the drink sloshed up her nose.

I tossed the closest thing in reach—a pair of folded panties from her clean clothes pile—and asked, “You plan to drink all the Dr Pepper in the fridge through your nose, or shall we get ourselves forcefully removed from the local superstore?”

She threw the Dr Pepper panties toward the laundry and glanced around her room for inspiration. “You still have skates?”

Everyone our age has Rollerblades. When you feel certain you’ve aged out of your bike, you buy skates. Mine were somewhere among the garage cobwebs, so I left Gladys’s on a mission to retrieve them and discovered my father’s truck in our driveway.

Except he was in Canada.

He called yesterday. “It’s raining in Vancouver,” he’d said.

Steadying the key in the back-door lock took three tries. After barreling into the kitchen, I found Uncle Warren and Dad at the kitchen table, Dad shoving eight-by-tens into a manila folder, Uncle Warren folding stacks of butcher paper.

“What are you doing here?” Dad asked, still shoving.

What was I doing here? I wasn’t the one who was supposed to be in Canada. “You flew home without telling me?”

Dad and Warren exchanged a collective stare and then Dad sagged into a chair and used his hands like wiper blades to cover and uncover his eyes. He wasn’t crying, but he was pulling at his temples like he wished he could. I was thinking, When is the last time you slept? He said, “This isn’t how I wanted to tell you.”

I went straight to worst-case scenario. He’s not tired. He’s sick. I walked closer, seeking an embrace, an assurance, and said, “Whatever it is, we’re going to be okay.”

Dad gripped my elbows, worked his thumb gently into the ditch of my arm. “Honey, I’m not dying.”

We took a deep, unified breath and rested our foreheads together. The relief settled in that whatever this was, death was worse. He turned me loose and slid a stack of photos in my direction. There were backhoes, piles of clay and dirt, a concrete foundation. The photos showed serious progression on a structure. Walls. Rebars. A cement mixer. Clearly a worksite, although the significance remained unclear. Dad unfolded the butcher paper. Blueprints covered the kitchen table. His index fingernail tapped a title in the uppermost corner: Delacroix Castle.

“For nearly . . . nine years, give or take . . . I’ve, um, been building a castle.”

I absorbed the photos, registering the time this must have taken. The money. The audacity of the structure itself. I asked, “When?” because my mouth lagged a split second behind my brain. “You don’t go camping, do you?”

Uncle Warren’s chin dipped and he crossed his arms over his chest. They’d clearly argued this point before.

“And you never have?” I said.

Dad’s reaction bordered on bemusement and pride. Another “I told you so” passed between the men. “Thee.” Dad’s rehearsed explanation about the impaired truth-telling practices of adults included listing Santa Claus and my mother as prime examples and concluded with, “These truth twists are normal parts of protective parenting.”

“So . . . ‘I’m going to Canada’ is the same as Santa?”

Guilt crept around his eyes, as did pride, and I thought the pride swelled well beyond the guilt. “This castle’s important. It might even save our lives.”

Uncle Warren offers a nearly undetectable headshake. Whatever his complicity in Castle Delacroix, he didn’t buy Dad’s reasoning.

“First of all, you sound insane.” And I already had one insane parent. “Second, I don’t want a castle. I want a dad who goes camping when he says he’s going camping.” I whirled on Uncle Warren next, the betrayal gathering, the anger unwilling to clot. “And I want an uncle, an officer of the law, whom I can trust to be truthful. You two should be fired from adulthood.”

Dad’s neck and cheeks were the color of beets. “This thing, honey—it’s bigger than me, and at this point”—he tapped the photos, the records of progress—“it’s happening whether you like it or not. I’ve gambled everything, and now that you know, I’d love for you to be part of this. Give it time. You’ll see I’m right.”

All I managed was a quiet jab. “What does that even mean?”

There was no trace of offense on Dad’s features. Using finger and thumb, he orbited his mustache and goatee and gestured to Uncle Warren, who stepped close enough to hug me, but didn’t dare try. Uncle Warren said, “What you’re seeing is passion, and sure, passion is scary, but passion isn’t criminal. And when you see the construction site, you’re gonna be impressed, kid.”

“Dad, people will think we’re off the rails.” I already felt strange that Mom left us. Every kid I knew whose parents were divorced lived with their mom and saw their dad on the weekend.

He looked genuinely sad that I was judging his choices. Like he wasn’t the one to blame here. Like I was being shallow for caring that Wildwood was going to implode over this. “Wait,” he said. “You have your Bigfoot thingie and your . . . canoe quest and what was that game you all used to play all the time? Catan? Yeah, Catan. I don’t think a castle is much different.”

The Bigfoot thing was meant to be funny. I didn’t even remember the canoe quest and I hadn’t played Catan in months. He was behind on my hopscotch obsessions. Probably because he’d been building a castle. Which was admittedly cool, but the coolness existed on a non-intersecting line with how I felt. What does someone do with a nine-year lie?

I shoved my chair at the table and the brief wind ruffled the top photo, revealing another beneath. The subject captured my attention more than the construction. Standing next to my father, crossing two trowels over his chest like a mortar warrior, was Aulus.

There was a shy smirk before Dad explained. “Uhhh, that’s the day we finished brickwork on the keep’s roof.”

My mouth fell open. “What about Gladys and Tank? You recruit them too?”

“No. You know Aul. Volunteered. Couldn’t help himself.” Dad pulled a chair out for me and patted the air.

I turned to Uncle Warren. “So he wasn’t helping you build out the basement?” For weeks Aulus had disappeared for hours at a time, and when I asked where he’d been, he claimed he’d been finishing out Warren’s basement.

Uncle Warren pinks.

Every man in my life sat on a throne of lies. I folded the photo of my cousin into a tiny square, shoved the cardstock into the pocket of my shorts, and nodded curtly before walking into the garage. Dad called after me, “You’re missing the point. We own a castle.” And then another time with joyful oomph. “We own a castle.”

I upended papers on the garage workbench and they fluttered into Aulus’s free weights. Dad bought the set for Aul’s twelfth birthday. The two spent hours out here fighting the good war against eighth-grade scrawniness. He’d been here last night, clanking and heaving.

Aulus’s dad and mine are the brother kind of cousins. The stand-up-at-weddings-and-carry-caskets kind of cousins. So when Scottie tapped out on fatherhood, Dad punched him in the nose and tapped in. They talk every Sunday morning even though Scottie never calls his son. Aul became a fixture, regular as the coffeepot or couch, another brother kind of cousin. Until I saw that picture of him at the castle, I’d mistakenly believed he was more mine than Dad’s. And that I was more Dad’s than Aulus.

They’d hidden a castle from me. A bona fide castle.

My Rollerblades were in a box next to the Christmas tree and I slung them over my shoulder as if I were off to war. Dad and Uncle Warren, unmoved by my return from the garage, examined the blueprint and argued support structures.

I leaned against the fridge. “Is he working with you today?”

Dad knew I meant Aulus. “Nope.” He pitched something through the air. I stepped aside and whatever it was slid along the countertop and stopped at the sugar bowl. “I had a key made for you too,” he said. “So you can come and go as you want, maybe help bring her to life.” There was a twinkle of hope in his eyes.

The camo key was attached to a dangling silver castle. I ignored my welcome favor to grab the portable phone. I dialed. Leo, Aulus’s uncle on his mom’s side, barked hello.

“It’s Thea,” I said. Leo’s box fan purred. The lever on his recliner clunked. He did his heavy mouth-breathing thing as he leaned around the front porch to see if the quattro was parked beneath the carport. “Kid’s out. Want me to give him a message?”

Oh, did I ever.

“When he’s back home, tell him . . . tell him . . . tell him . . . I’m gonna kill him.”

That was June 2nd. Aulus never came home.
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“You didn’t say that to Leo.”

We’re at the Wildwood exit. Baxter, blue lights, the body of Chris Jenkins lay behind. The castle story—the case against my father—rolls around the Civic floor mats and drifts in and out the vents like the smell of dead skunk.

“I did.” I remember the precise way I’m gonna kill him tasted on my tongue.

“You never told me that before.”

I’d tucked the detail away, ashamed. Guess Dad’s not the only one who skims when handing out keys to the basement. To be fair, when the story was the freshest, I didn’t know Nick well enough to confess.

[image: image]

Nick Jones appeared at my door last June 3rd wearing baggie athletic shorts, a Harvard Law T-shirt with the sleeves hacked off, and those blue, not blue, earnest eyes wanting to know if I knew where Aulus was. My cousin had promised to quiz him for some big criminal justice test and hadn’t shown.

I knew of Nick. I’d never met him until he rang the bell.

I clung to the doorframe, peering through the mesh screen. The air conditioning whooshed by us into the street. When he asked to come in, I stepped aside, begrudging my ratty tank top as he walked through the living room straight to the kitchen bar. He pulled out a chair for me and a chair for him. “I’m sorry to barge in.” He patted the seat. “But you care like I do.”

Care overcame his face. Every pore. Every gathering of skin around his eyes and mouth. Every clenched muscle. While I know a number of guys who fall into the “caring category,” I don’t know any who express it unabashedly the way Nick does.

I took the offered seat and Nick explained that he and Aulus met a few months before in a junkyard off Old Nashville Highway; Nick looking for a spoiler, Aulus, a tire for the quattro. Paths crossed, phone numbers swapped. Aulus told a similar story. I was also aware that Aulus ditched Tank and Gladys and me, his best friends on the planet, to drive around back roads with Nick. I’d say, “What do y’all do out there that’s so great?” and Aulus would say, “Nothing.” Which never satisfied me until I too had done nothing with Nick. Nick is very good at nothing.

“Something’s wrong.” He sounded very sure as he added, “Something happened to him.”

I took this as a gross overreaction. “He’ll turn up,” I said. But then Nick told me he’d spoken to Aulus’s uncle Leo, who claimed Aulus hadn’t come home yesterday; and to Aulus’s boss, Mr. Rachelle, who was also concerned and a bit peeved Aulus had missed his morning shift at the Quik Mart; and also to Griff and Ruby at the WCC, and nope, Aulus wasn’t working a spare job for them either. When Nick went back to Leo’s, Leo sent him here.

My insides twisted. I thought he was avoiding me because he knew I knew about the castle.

“Aul wouldn’t disappear,” Nick said. “He hates that crap because of his dad.”

But he had and he did and he stayed gone.

And all the details of that final fight with Aulus slipped away. Silent. Steadfast. Like ants carting crumbs to their hills.
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“If the castle is point number one for your dad’s guilt, what’s point number two?” Nick asks.

I wasn’t intending to have a point two.

Thunder rips the air. Then lightning. Nick and I groan in unison, momentarily distracted by similar thoughts: every low area that flooded last weekend will fill again. We exchange sympathy and then irony. The weather. We’re thinking about the weather. I say, “That’s my whole case.”

“But the key chain?”

I take mine from my pocket and ignore my fluttering heart. “Only a key chain.”

“Tell that to Dana.”

“Happily.”

“Thee, we have to consider that Aul put that key chain in Chris’s mouth after he died so—”

I take over. “So an FBI agent he doesn’t know is working the case will tell her brother who will put it together that—”

“Stop.” He drums the steering wheel. “I’m just saying, you better be ready for her questions, because let me tell you, they’re coming.”




THE ELIZABETH LETTERS
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Nick and I should have gone inside the community center.

Instead, we sentence ourselves to the Civic. I find our choice mildly impressive. Hopeful even. We’ve had our day and we’re still choosing proximity.

At 2:12 p.m., I poke Nick—he’s nose-deep in a John Grisham legal thriller he reads when the world upsets him. He slides the book between the seat and gearshift and gives me a sideways Are we okay? I shrug and open the door, knowing Gladys and Tank will be here any minute. The humid air promises rain, and based on the gathering gray plumes, it’s coming fast.

Wildwood Community Center, or the WCC, is a three-story brick building featuring an adjacent playground roughly the size of Disneyland. They’ve even got an old Frozen Novelties van to complete the attraction. This block’s mostly abandoned, save Tyson’s Furniture Warehouse and my dad’s tax office around the corner.

We ding through the front and Griff Holtz, the director, waves. He hoists a tearful five-year-old atop the counter to select the very best Toy Story Band-Aid in the building, and Ruby, his wife, spackles a hole on the rear wall while yelling for a volunteer to “Bring the quilts in before they’re drenched, please.” When she sees me, she smiles. “There’s my girl.”

“Downstairs?” Nick asks me, though he doesn’t need to.

I point to the basement door for Griff’s approval. “We’re gonna burn off some steam. Send Gladys and Tank down if they don’t come through the alley, will you?”

Griff’s not just one of my many uncles, he’s my former boss. “You’re out of school awfully early, Delacroix.” He tsks my direction.

“She went with a college schedule today,” Nick says, our road trip hidden behind his broad, beaming grin.

“Yeah, yeah.” Griff rolls his eyes and addresses the scurry of children nipping his ankles. “It’s almost story time.” He holds out a picture book. “Can’t tempt you to resume your old post, can I?”

Once, I was the story-time queen. “Not today.”

“Have fun in the piles,” he says, even though he’s wearing that sad-puppy look he gets whenever my job is referenced. I used to think I’d take over this place someday and I hate disappointing him, but I don’t have room for . . . I don’t know what it is I don’t have room for. Sometimes I’m afraid it’s happiness.

Griff kept me on payroll. He’s had me/us on this “basement project” since Aulus disappeared. A leash so we don’t stray too far. Partly because he and Ruby need all the help they can get, partly because he’s smart enough to barter with a commodity we crave: privacy. Nick, Gladys, Tank, and I get keys to the building if we sort donations in the WCC’s basement. Nick came up with the idea to build the investigation cubby among the piles.

Our hangout hides behind warehouse shelving in the high-ceilinged back room.

Camp chairs, TV trays, filing cabinets. Some ancient office equipment.

Records, articles printed from the library, interviews.

Theories scratched on every surface available. Some written in dust.

Griff and Ruby haven’t ventured down since they showed us the light switch a year ago, and it’s doubtful they care if we finish the assigned sorting job Aulus started. There are three stories above the main floor they’d use before the basement. They like that we’re here. I’d go so far as to say they love having us.

Around six, Griff’ll yell down, “Closing time.” He’ll sigh from the top of the steps, not a heavy sigh of disappointment. A sigh that translates, I’d rather you be here and safe than out there. He’ll add something like, “Let me know if I should stock a fridge.”

We already have one. And a ping-pong table. It’s amazing the stuff people toss.

Nick weaves through the basement’s front rooms and shelving hallways, scooting bags to the side with his foot as he goes. “A game?” he asks when we reach the table and tosses a paddle over the net before I agree. We speak in ricochets and grand slams, the ball exhausting itself between us. The only time this happens is when we’re arguing about something. As if a ping-pong ball might determine the winner.

The volley continues until whiffs of cigarette smoke tickle my nose. The alley door smacks the inner wall, and a gust of warm wind and rain come pounding inside. Tank and Gladys are packed together like penguins under the small, torn awning. Gladys is drenched. Tank taps the yellow-and-white Camel against the dark skin of his ear and leans inside. “Say it’s not him.”

“Not him,” Nick and I say together.

Gladys and Tank sag together and the wood of the old doorframe howls. She steps inside, wrings water from her shirt, says, “Case is all over the news,” as Tank pokes her in the ribs. “Told you they’d have called if it was Aul.” He’s neither happy nor hopeful, but he’s certainly glad to be right.

We should have called.

Nick pins the ping-pong ball under his paddle. “Smoke fast,” he tells Tank.

His tone tells me the way this will go. He’s not holding back and this is my warning to walk out now or stay and provide defense. As I am the only one who has ever been able to somewhat rationalize my father’s crazy decisions, I stay.

When Tank finishes his cigarette, Nick and he claim identical plastic chairs in the corner, then in unison scoot them apart an extra foot and throw their legs sideways over the armrests. Gladys doesn’t settle; she approaches the photo wall. Four horizontal lines of Gemini victims, each labeled with the year of their theft: 01–02, 03–04, 06–07, 09–10. She runs her fingers over 09–10 and traces the three images below.

Chris Jenkins.

Rufus Cohen.

Zared Parker.

Her fingertips linger on Zared’s chubby cheeks. “Who’d they find?”

“Chris.” The name limps from my mouth.

Nick draws his knees to his chin and chews a rogue threadbare string on his jeans. Tank bows his head and twirls a cigarette between his fingers. Gladys strokes Chris’s photo, pets him the way she would a kid she knew and loved, and pulls the hem of her neckline over her nose. I watch them all from where I am tucked into a shelf.

I’m so tired of feeling. I’m just so tired.

“Murdered?” That’s Tank asking—cutting straight to the core.

“Don’t know yet.” Nick abandons his seat for the wall opposite the photos where a makeshift panel, made of old windows hammered together, runs nearly floor to ceiling. Among our many notes, we’ve listed facts with each victim. Nick adds a death date. “Thea’s the one who saw.”

Gladys and Tank straighten.

Saw? their eyes ask.

Saw.

They give me the latitude of silence. I give them restlessness and pacing. I check with Nick. He’s watching me. How long before he throws Dad in the mix? Five minutes? Ten? I turn my back to him, hoping to stretch the time.

On the table against the shelves, we have four bulging folders of research that’ll make your eyes cross. In the early 2000s, the story of three kidnapped boys taken on the same day echoes through the news. National coverage grows as the years pass, and ebbs too; the story shrinks from first-page news to seventh-page mentions. Local papers often do the victims better justice. From Gazettes and Lamplighters and Beacons, we’ve traced interviews with mothers and fathers and friends, school photos, and quotes from local police about the ongoing search. The media spreads also cover the jubilation of a community and family when the June Boys are returned a year later. There are theories and profiles on the Thief, but nothing concrete.

From 2001–2002, the articles surround West Tennessee: Union City, Humboldt, and Waynesboro. In 2003–2004, the Gemini Thief stayed west, hitting Jackson, Dickson, and Paris. The media nickname then was the 40-West Kidnapper. After the 2006 thefts moved east of Nashville into Carthage, Defeated, and Lebanon, the media retitled the perpetrator the Gemini Thief. No longer sure of the territory, the timing, June 1st, remained steadfast.

“We’ve never been able to prove Aulus was kidnapped,” I say. Nick’s sister and Uncle Warren are two of the few advocates in the system who recognize there is a chance we’re right. Wildwood, on the whole, agrees, though it’s more like a wild hair of hope. I repeat what we already know. “Aul is in Kentucky, not Tennessee. June 2nd instead of June 1st. Four boys instead of the Thief’s usual three. I can’t rationalize the pattern break any more than I can explain why there were sometimes two-year, sometimes one-year gaps in the timeline.”

No one asks why I stop talking and dig through my satchel until I find my key chain. I trace two turrets, three arches, one castle, leaving prints on the silver. I dangle the trinket so it jingles and Nick gives me the go-ahead nod.

“Dad only made two of these. One for me. One for Aulus. That second one was in Chris’s mouth when they found him today.”

As the knowledge and certainty of this information sinks in, I tape a photo of Aulus alongside Chris, Rufus, and Zared.

Tank’s still sitting crooked, working that cigarette over and back across his knuckles. The grief’s so thick, I smell it. He says, “What did Dana say when you told her?”

“I didn’t yet.”

“Why would you wait?”

I meet Nick’s I told you so with bitterness and return my attention to the photos. Maybe I’m weak, maybe I don’t love Aulus as much as I say I do. Maybe I don’t trust my best friends or my boyfriend if I’m not willing to consider everyone, including my own father, as a suspect.

Whatever I am, I am fast, and I am truthful as I lie to myself. The crime scene was chaotic. I was overwhelmed. Dana didn’t want me to bring it up at the scene. Then I wonder, Like father, like daughter?
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I wouldn’t have gotten away with it—it being deception, stretching the truth to buy myself time. They’d have pressed for details, been discontent with half-told stories. Ruby turns up on the basement steps and saves me.

“If you’re interested”—her voice twists around the corners and through the shelves, making us jump—“the news is on in the upstairs office. Updates in the Gemini case.”

Retreating footsteps.

If we’re interested.

Nick unseats himself without waiting for me and follows the pack from the cave. His disappointment is thick and sticky and clings like honey to my conscience. The only saving grace—his empathy. What if this were my father? he’s asking himself.

At the top of the stairs, Ruby lets Gladys, Tank, and Nick pass. Not me. I am clamped to her chest—a baby kangaroo she intends to stuff in her pouch. Ruby hasn’t marshmallowed with age so the hug is strong. Firm.

“Oh, I needed that, kiddo. The news is bad.”

“All news is bad until he comes home,” I say.

Ruby coils a chunk of my loose hair around her finger. “All we can do is hope.” I can feel her lip gloss grease-stain my forehead. She holds me at arm’s length. “You’re not sleeping.”

“Like you are,” I huff. Her eyes look practically dead inside she’s so tired.

“News will be news tomorrow. You could skip it.”

“I will if you will.”

She laughs. Yawns. Laughs again. We follow the voices to the office.

Our foursome crowds Griff’s screen. Ruby drifts to the hallway. She hunches just outside the door, face in her hands. The local news stations add their own bits of drama to the body dump story. No name is revealed, but the age gives away Chris’s identity to anyone following the case. Special Agent Raymond Leehouse—stoic and forgettable and exactly what you picture when you think FBI—gives an interview that reminds the nation we are days away from June 1st and families with boys ages five to seventeen should be vigilant.

“This tragedy substantiates a new and unpredictable pattern in the Gemini Thief’s behavior. We must be prepared for the Thief to take again instead of giving us back Zared and Rufus.”

Dana once told us they use first names in case the Thief watches the coverage. They want the boys to sound like boys. Leehouse wraps up. Thoughts and prayers. Dana stands in his shadow, arms crossed, head slightly bowed. When she looks up before the camera cuts away, it feels like she’s looking directly at me.

The coverage tapers and we mute the speakers.

“Sucks,” Tank says.

“Understatement of the decade,” I say.

Gladys fiddles with the stapler, checks her watch. She’s due home and Tank’s her ride. “Go,” I say. “We’ll talk more tomorrow.”

Tank fist bumps Nick and side hugs me. “Best friend’s not dead.” He adds a sad, celebratory, “Woot. Woot.”

After they leave, Nick and I return to the basement for my bag. He closes the door and holds out his phone. Dana’s name and number are on the screen. “I’ll do it for you. If it’s too much,” he offers softly.

“No.”

“Thee, she already knows you have that key chain. It’s better if you go to her.”

“No,” I say again. I’m uncertain what I’m saying no to. Coming questions or Nick handling this like some big brother fixer. I’ve had time to think and I’m almost certain Dana showed me the key chain as a warning. As her way of saying, I remember Christmas dinner.

Christmas dinner. Whew. Nick and I accidentally delayed the festivities. The line at Honey Baked Ham was ridiculous and then Scottsville Road Christmas traffic murdered us slowly. At his house, I grabbed the ham and neither of us grabbed the keys.

Following the annual Jones viewing of It’s a Wonderful Life, Dana showed off her lock-picking skills. Mr. Jones was delighted to lean against his walker at the door and call out, “Glad that hundred-thousand-dollar criminal justice degree is finally doing something other than putting your life in danger.” Dana rolled her eyes and the lock clicked. Seconds later, she tossed both sets of keys to Nick.

There’s no way she forgot. Same way there’s zero chance that, as a senior officer, she showed me that key chain by mistake.
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Every pile transforms in the basement’s darkness. Bagged shirts are shadowy mountains. Walkways are dusty horizons littered with plastic toys. There’s a city down here. A solar system. The smells never change. Must and mothballs all day long. You can smell your way to the street, because fresh air seeps through the rotten door seal. Outside, we let our eyes adjust to the pale gray day. Nick rolls his shoulders backward, forward; he slides his hand along the black railing, and a handful of water droplets drip onto his sneakers.

He speaks first. “I know that look.” He tucks a wet rope of hair around my ear. “You’ve got Joan of Arc in your eyes. You need to be careful.”

“I only have—”

“One speed,” he finishes.

We stand there. The Methodist church down the street plays a tune from the bell tower. A hymn. “Great Is Thy Faithfulness.” Neither of us moves until the hour tolls.

I bite my lip. “I live with him, Nick. If Dad’s tied to this, if he’s even slightly capable of what you’re suggesting, it’s been dangerous for a very long time. I’m in this up to my nose, so I’m not worried about getting my hair wet.”

Nick leans back against the rail. He’s thinking about Chris Jenkins. I can see that folded little body in his eyes. “Call Dana and let her clear him,” he says.

“You and me, we’re playing detective. She’s not. There are real consequences here. Things Dad can’t come back from. If I step up and tell an investigator on the case that I, you, even halfway suspect my dad could be involved, everything I know is over. I’m not doing it unless there’s more to go on.”

He tilts his head to the sky. Rain curves around his nose and falls into his mouth. He sticks out his hand, and without thinking, I hold it. We have a business embrace. “Promise me that if there’s anything else suspicious, you’ll tell Dana immediately. Because if you don’t, I will.”

The deal is made.

[image: image]

We plunk next to each other in his car, breathing hard and drenched. The car is deliciously warm. He has slipped behind the wheel, the way he has a thousand times, and for that first breath, the key chain and Chris’s death aren’t between us. There’s only the console, the rearview, the ponytail holder I leave on his gearshift. The everydayness of us. I want to kiss him. I want him to want to kiss me. I want us to forget the day we’ve had, the year.

Want is a powerful thing. I feel very small beside it. Especially in a Civic hatchback.

My hand crosses toward his thigh and almost touches the denim of his jeans before I reverse and lodge myself against the passenger door. It’s always this way for me: class five emotions followed by deep cravings for intimacy followed by fear. I don’t know if it’s that way for everyone else or if I just have a talent for whiplash.

Nick watches my hand—the attempt, the withdrawal—then starts the car. “Castle or home?” he asks. The two roads ahead divide and sprint in opposite directions. It’s 6:30 on a school night/workday; Dad’s working on Castle Delacroix.

Answers or ignorance?

Innocence or guilt?

“Castle,” I say.
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All eleven Wildwood stoplights are clogged with William Kenton College’s graduation traffic. Nick, who is not from Wildwood, follows my advice to cut through the speed-bumped neighborhood toward Old Ragland Road. The storm’s angrier than when we left the WCC. Water stands in potholes and yards and rainbows into the ditches when Nick drives through puddles on the asphalt.

“You’re going to miss the turn,” I say. He frequently has to U-ey in the middle of the road. “Use the cattle grate after the WKU mailbox after the Moose Lodge as a marker.”

We own ninety-seven lopsided acres of Simpson County, Kentucky. The southern perimeter lies spitting distance to Tennessee. The northern fronts half a mile on Old Ragland Road. From the Moose Lodge parking lot our mustard fields glow golden in the waning sunlight. Otherwise, the land hides among craggy hills and a densely wooded forest.

Nick takes the turnoff so hard our heads hit the roof of the car.

Evergreens on either side of the service drive have been shaved with a chainsaw, creating a tunnel through the pines. Bluebells are scattered through the undergrowth, the only vibrant color among the muted browns and greens. We slip and slide along, adding fresh tracks atop the ones from Dad’s Ram.

He’s out here somewhere.

What will he say? What will I? So that basement of yours where you keep important things? Literal? Figurative?

Dad’ll be soft at the beginning. He’ll wink. Maybe squeeze my shoulder. He’ll try to make this about me. “Sweetie, I’m worried about you,” he’ll say. “I wish you’d drop this obsession of connecting Aul to the Gemini Thief. Go back to one of your other projects.”

Since he is a person with equal compulsions, I asked once why mine worried him so.

“The other boys will come home. Aulus might not.”

The other boys. That’s how he refers to Chris, Rufus, and Zared—never their names.

Nick asks, “What’s the plan?”

I’ve been wondering the same thing. Do I ask Dad about the weekends he doesn’t sleep at home? Or the enormous amount of unchecked time at his disposal? If I do, he’ll likely say, “I’m adding on to the castle,” and slather on the details. “Bell tower. Might have to be a campanile. Securing the shipping container to the keep is tricky.” Once he’s in castle mode, the nine years he spent hiding his project evaporate, and the details bubble out in long run-on sentences of delight.

My dad has two children: me and this castle.

And maybe three more in a basement and another nine he cast aside in Tennessee?

“I’m going to ask him where he was last night. That’ll clear this up.”
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Dad’s great love affair rises among the limestone ridges of Simpson County, a fortress of concrete and simple lines. She’s beautiful the way the Eiffel Tower is beautiful. Not so much for what she is, but that she is at all. Say what you want about my dad, he’s got vision and tenacity. I’ve loved those qualities, coveted them, but now . . . they feel like shadows on a moonlit walk. Maybe nothing. Maybe wolves.

Since my last visit, Dad has successfully secured two upturned forty-foot shipping containers to the keep, bricked them, and attached an American flag atop both towers. Streaks of red, white, and blue dapple the gray clouds with color.

“That’s nicely done,” Nick says.

The Ram sits among the scattered construction equipment. To the right of a makeshift parking lot, a blue tarp, weighted with tires and rain puddles, strains to keep bricks and wood dry. There’s inconsistent cell signal, so I crack the window and listen for the grind of machinery. Apart from the pitter-patter of rain striking the tarp, there’s nothing. “Dad!” I yell.

No return.

“Don Delacroix!”

Nothing.

We’ll have to hunt him down. I usher Nick out of the car and through the closest window cutout instead of tromping through the front yard to the door.

“Dad!”

Nothing.

I’ve been through the lower garage and up the steps into this catchall room many times. Right now it’s filled with rebars, stacks of Quikrete, pallets, a very large church bell that wasn’t here previously, and work boot tracks caked with mud. The interior door is open. Scant light falls in yellow-white rectangles across the hardwood floor. The mudroom has been drywalled, a utility sink installed.

Picking my way through the downstairs maze, I see that some rooms show progression, some don’t. Per always, the great room steals my breath. Dad’s best work by far. Wooden arches. Highly polished concrete floors. Twin staircases circling toward open second and third stories. There’s a three-tiered candle chandelier hanging from the thirty-foot ceiling and a stack of oriental carpets, not yet laid, that’ll warm the room.

He built this for me. To win me over after the lies came out. He drove us out here one night and marched me around with a lantern. We got to the great room and he said, “Tell me what you want and I’ll build it.”

I want him to be the good kind of crazy. I want people to marvel at him in secret, the way I often do.

“You okay?” Nick asks.

“I love this room.” I whisper like I’m betraying someone.

On the second floor, Nick and I find two work lamps pumping serious wattage and a couple of sawhorses balancing treated lumber. Atop the lumber: Dad’s Dr Pepper. There’s a receipt pinned under the aluminum can. It won’t tell me where Dad is now, but it might tell me how long since he’s been here.

May 10th. Today.

Dad bought this twenty-four ounce at 1:39 this morning.

Nick points to the bottom of the receipt. The address of the convenience store is faded but readable: Baxter, Tennessee.

“Thea! Honey? You here?” Dad’s voice calls from somewhere below.
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Work boots on the stairs. He’s close. Closer. “Thea!”

“He was in Baxter,” I whisper. Nick folds the receipt, opens his wallet, and tucks the thin paper behind his license. Occam’s razor’s sharp edge cuts my brain in half. The logical answer is often the answer.

“Thea. Honey! You and Nick around?”

I don’t know if I fall into Nick or he hugs me; either way, our hearts gallop like they’re one thoroughbred rounding the last turn at the derby. Nick palms my skull and guides my cheek to his shoulder. I take fists of his T-shirt and as I do the collar strangles his neck; the cotton pulls halfway down his back. I bury myself in the details of him. He is sport deodorant. He is CK1 cologne. Rain and mud. “Do nothing for now,” he tells me.

And then Dad is here, and Nick offers an awkward “Hey, Mr. Delacroix,” and I’m all “Hey, we were checking out the towers,” even though we’re nowhere near the towers.

Dad’s hair is stringy and wet like he came from outside. We’re different complexions, me and him. He’s dark and tan where I’m fair and pale, but there’s no doubt I’m his when you put our eyes side by side. Between our noses and foreheads, we’re carbon copies. I’ve always been glad for that. Glad for his handsome face, kind eyes, and narrow frame. He’s rock hard. I once saw him lift a wheel-barrow of forty concrete bags. That’s four hundred pounds. On a wheel, sure, but four hundred pounds.

Chris Jenkins would weigh nothing in his arms.

“What do you think?” Dad stretches up on his tiptoes with a yawn.

“About what?”

He gives me a weird look because I’ve responded so defensively and says, “About the towers, you knucklehead.”

“They’re great. Awesome.”

“They’re gonna be even better after last night.”

“Dad?” I ask and Nick puts a fair amount of pressure on my shoulder, a warning. “I wanted to ask—”

The first set of lights clicks off, throwing us into partial grays. Dad moves to the second. Back to us, lamp still on, he asks, “You hear about the Gemini boy?”

When we don’t answer, Dad’s eyes widen. He abandons the light and hunches to face me. We also share the same worry wrinkles on our foreheads. “You okay, Thee?”

I shake my head.

Dad sighs. “Honey.” He sighs again. “I know you think that kid’s tied to Aulus, but he’s not, sweetheart. He’s really not. Nick, tell her I’m right.”

“Mr. Delacroix—” For a millisecond, Dad’s expression is an unfamiliar thorn. Animalistic. His eyes pierce Nick’s. We are each aware that Nick is supposed to tell me Chris Jenkins and Aulus have nothing to do with each other—and Nick is obedient. Well, mostly. “Are they sure it’s Chris Jenkins?” he asks casually.

“According to Warren,” Dad answers, and then laughs away the tension. “Don’t watch the news. Please. I want you to sleep tonight. Graduation is around the corner. Hang on to that.” He bends and coils the electric wire around the saw. Slowly, he figure-eights the extension cord. We watch, transfixed, as he sweeps dust into a pan and leaves the pan on the ground. He takes a drink of his hot Dr Pepper, grimaces, crushes the can with his boot. “Speaking of sleep, I’m gonna nap in the truck. I was up all night.”

Then he’s gone. Tromping down the steps like a horse.

I’m still working out whether I’m allowed to breathe when a phone rings. “Dana,” Nick whispers into my hair. He takes the call with me close enough to listen. From the first beat of her voice, she’s excited. “We got preliminary COD. Medical examiner says drowning. And . . . there’s evidence someone tried to resuscitate him. Hey, Nick, you there?”

“I’m here.” Pause. “Thea’s here too.” I don’t know if that cue was for her or me. “Are you thinking the flood’s involved?”

On the other side of the line, Dana’s windshield wipers work overtime. She raises her voice to a yell, which means I hear her perfectly. “Off the record, absolutely. On the record, they’ll test the water in his lungs.”

“You meet with the family yet?”

“Just left.”

“How are they?”

“How do you think?”

They sigh precisely the same way and I miss Aul all over again. You need people in your life who breathe the same way you do.

Dana says, “This could be a slipup. The break we need and didn’t want. I shouldn’t tell you any of this, but we think there’s blood on the collar. No way to know whose yet. But for the first time in ten years, we could have DN—”

“Hey, can I call you on my way to the dorm?”

“Thea tell you about the key chain? You said she’s there with you.”

Nick raises his neck away, creating slight distance between us. I lean, wanting to watch his answer. “Yeah,” he admits.

“Theory?” When Nick doesn’t answer, she comes at him harder. “Nick? Theory?”

All Nick says is “I’m gonna call you back on my way to the dorm” and hangs up.

Like a habit, we follow the staircase to the third floor. Nick wants to process this a long way from my dad and I want to be in my favorite place. We reach a room, a someday bedroom, and without speaking claim the covered semicircle balcony that offers a view of the rain-soaked valley. Nick leans over the parapet, his head stretched beyond the awning into the deluge. Goose pimples line the bare skin of his arms.

“Hey, remember when Dad lying to me for nearly ten years was the problem?” I try to laugh.

Nick slides along the parapet wall until he’s seated on the stone floor. His T-shirt sticks on the rough concrete, exposing his skin. He doesn’t right the fabric. In a hushed voice he asks, “Where do you think he is right now?”

I sit. The soles of our shoes don’t touch; the mud caked around them does. “Sleeping off his long night.”

“Not your dad. Aul.”

I rest my head against Nick’s shoulder and use my finger to deter a single stream of rain away from our clothes. Wherever Aul is, if he’s alive, he’s grieving the loss of Chris Jenkins.

Dad’s voice echoes in my head. He feels like one of those lift-the-flap books. You turn a page, see a story, and then realize it’s not the whole story. There’s more hidden beneath. “I don’t want you to be right,” I say. Nick works his hands, massaging each joint until it pops. “But that receipt . . .”

Nick reaches over and cups my ear and then my face. This is him sorry.

“Is your sister going to tell you that Dad’s already being investigated?”

Nick gives a grim acknowledgment. “She’s going to ask me to confirm those key chains are identical and that your dad is the purchaser. They’ll officially reinvestigate Aulus’s disappearance and reexamine the Thief’s actions. Your dad will be questioned. So will everyone else they questioned last time.”

“Are you going to tell her about the receipt?”

“I don’t know yet,” he says. “Do you want me to?”

He turns his head a quarter. Our temples touch, the sides of our noses; the hollow of his cheek and the line of his jaw nuzzle my face. I feel his mouth close around the corner of my bottom lip. We stay that way for a long time. Kissing, not kissing.

I work the case, this way, that way, flipped sideways, upside down, and run headlong into that foreign moment where my dad said, I know you think that kid’s tied to Aulus, but he’s not, sweetheart. He’s really not.

I say what I’m thinking to Nick. “Dad was in Baxter, the location of the body dump, early this morning. The key chain Dad gave Aulus ended up in Chris’s mouth. Dad was with Aulus the day he disappeared. My father hid building a castle from me for almost ten years.” How much harder would it be to hide thirteen boys? With all this land and the freedom in his schedule? Not that hard. I keep this last part to myself.

We are still. Completely still. Locked in our huddled position of touching hipbones and shoulders and muddy soles. Our breathing is the only noise other than the rain. Guilt chases me hound to fox.

“Tell Dana about the receipt.”




THE ELIZABETH LETTERS
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Grease blotches the kitchen table, courtesy of yesterday’s gas station dinner. Two TV trays hang on Dad’s bicep. A fried chicken leg is trapped between his teeth, barbarian style. “Breaking Bad before I head out?”

“Sure.”

The last three days of perfect weather had Dad castle-ing non-stop. I told Nick last night, “There’s mud on the bathroom floor and a filthy rogue sock between the toilet and wall, but the coverlet on his bed’s in the same exact position as Monday. We’re communicating in notes and money left at the end of the counter.”

Don’t wait up. Pizza in the freezer. —D

K. Need money for cap and gown. $45.

I can’t exactly leave a note below that one:

And btw, did you murder Chris Jenkins? —T

Or: Careful, FBI might be watching you.

Dana has been stonewalling us since Nick told her about the receipt. Which, good for her, professionalism and all, but I wish I knew what’s coming—if anything’s coming. They could have already ruled Dad out and I’m anxious for no reason. Whatever is happening in that ether, the media is clueless.

They’ve covered the Jenkins family extensively, but there have been no leaks, no leads, no ties to Wildwood or Aulus McClaghen. A new spread in People shows the Gemini Thief timeline. They’re milking what they have, but they don’t have much. That issue of People is on the coffee table. Dad shoves the magazine sideways to grab the remote, the wrong remote, plops down in his recliner, and then asks, “Can you turn that up? Air compressor’s messing with my hearing.”

Finger hovering over the volume button, I ask, “Uh, Dad?”

He stops midchew. Hair clings to the corner of his lip and I stare at the dead ends splitting in different directions. “Whatcha thinking about?”

“You haven’t been around much, and I was just—”

“—feeling abandoned? Thinking I’m the worst dad in the world?” he jokes. The execution isn’t smooth. “Don’t worry. You know it’ll rain again and you’ll be stuck with me.”

I try to relax my face. “When you’re not here, are you always at the castle?”

He rests his napkin on the plate and dusts his hands. “I’m not dating anyone if that’s what you’re worried about.”

I wish. “I didn’t think you were dating someone.” Are you holding someone against his will? “Where are you all the time? Like, what do I do if Mom calls some night and wants to talk to you?”

Dad sits up straighter, dumping fried chicken crumbs on the floor. “Your mom called?”

“No. But she could.”

“Tell her I’m working.”

“At the castle?”

“Honey, your mom doesn’t have a key to my basement anymore. I’d rather her not know about the castle. She might assume things, show back up and want something.” He huffs and mumbles something about her being the last thing he needs right now. “What’s this about? You fighting with Nick?” He toes the corner of People with his boot. “You still caught up on this Chris Jenkins thing?”

“Maybe a little.” I look away and dig my hands between the cushions of the couch.

“Honey, I like Nick, but I love you. Whatever it is, tell me.”

“Sunday night . . . ,” I begin. He’s invested now. Turned completely in my direction. Walter White is in his underwear, frozen on the television screen. “We had a disagreement about Aulus and I wished you were here. I waited up.” This is a lie. On Sunday night I didn’t know I needed to account for his whereabouts.

“I’m sorry, knucklehead. I was . . .” His eyes dart up and to the left. “Working on the bell tower. Time got away from me.” He watches the ceiling fan take a couple laps. “Yeah, that was definitely Sunday night–Monday morning. I fell asleep in my truck Monday afternoon, after I saw you and Nick.”

He’s lying. I turn up the volume on Walter White. “You should sleep here more.”

“I’ll sleep when I’m dead.” He grins, plate tabled on his chest for easy access to the chicken. “And don’t take any crap from Nick, okay?”

I give him two weak thumbs-up.
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My cousin visits me again that night.

Dream Aulus is not who vogued into the Wildwood lunch-room hoisting a letter from Madonna, or the Aulus who helped me limp through pre-cal. And he’s not June Boy Aulus either. Can’t be. Dream Aulus comes like a Target-shopping Jiminy Cricket. Small. Charming. More smartly dressed than he ever was in real life.

He sits atop my pillow, head bowed in concentration, assembling and disassembling small-motored appliances. Last night, a Magic Bullet. Time before last, a toaster oven. Sometimes we talk. Sometimes we don’t. Inevitably, he cranks the tool a final turn and examines his handiwork.

“Finished,” he announces, followed by, “Thee, do you need a . . . a rice cooker?” I tell him I need him to come home and he says, “Can’t.” I ask, “When?” And he says, “Tell me about the Sasquatch trip again.” We are a well-polished routine that ends with him saying, “You’ll see me when you see me.”

Except last night he hopped onto my shoulder, placed that green Jiminy mouth directly in my ear, and yelled, “Where does the money come from?” Tip of the flat cap. Wink-wink. He and the Magic Bullet are gone.

Sunlight pings off the tabletop. The clock isn’t visible, though it must be at least five a.m. I fell asleep on the couch after Dad left for the castle last night. His boots aren’t by either door. I’m alone. There’s a rogue roll of duct tape beneath the recliner. Some houses have knickknacks; we have construction remnants. I sniff the sticky sweet smell of tack and gum. Dust bunnies cling to the edge and I tug them away.

Interviews with the older June Boys include copious accounts of duct tape. Over their mouths. Around their wrists. Circling their ankles. I tear a section the width of my mouth and seal it to my skin. With my allergies, breathing through my nose is like sucking oxygen through a clogged straw. At fifty-three Mississippis, red spots hover around my eyes. At sixty, I rip the tape away, fraught by my own freedom to do so. I race my tongue along the edge of my lips and then grow desperate for my toothbrush.

No amount of empathy transports me into Aulus’s world and no amount of investigation returns him to mine.

My cousin’s not just in a hole; he’s missing his life. Reminders are everywhere. Graduation, which tiptoed around the periphery last semester, stomped into the present this week. New cars with Class of 2010 banners turn up daily. People are writing It’s been fun knowing you in yearbooks. No matter which hallway you’re in, someone’s crying about leaving and someone’s crying about staying. It’s downright existential. Aul would have loved this part of high school. The finishing.

I deal with the Fridayness of Friday until lunch.

Rather than meet Gladys in the gym for our daily Doritos deluge, I slip off campus in Tank’s truck. The tax office occupies the street-level shop near the WCC. I make a loop to confirm Dad’s Ram isn’t here, knowing it won’t be. He lunches at the castle. That gives me forty minutes to poke around. Aulus wants to know where the money comes from and so do I.

Dad’s vague on the topic. Secret stash or The office had a good year, he says when I ask. I laugh. Are you a member of a cartel? He never offers up anything.

In elementary school, the bus dropped me at Delacroix Tax. I played with Matchbox cars on this old carpet and got my favorite red Ferrari stuck behind the row of filing cabinets. Those are the cabinets I’m targeting today.

The automatic lights brighten the room when I open the door. They’re LED and uncomfortably white. The storefront is glass; my only hiding place, the desk.

There’s no peace in destroying privacy. No peace at all. The desk’s middle drawer swims with rubber band odds and paper clip ends. I open three drawers on the right. Nothing but copy paper, empty files, and blank forms. That leaves the wall of cabinets.

They’re oiled; each metal sleeve slides out revealing meticulous, hand-labeled files. Dad shows the same thoroughness here as he does at the castle. Except when I check the Ds, where I assume his own tax return will be, there’s no file for Delacroix Taxes or Donald Delacroix. Thirty minutes in, I’m drowning in irrelevant government forms and positive I’ll never be an accountant.

He’ll be back any minute.

Before I leave, I want to investigate potential connections to Aulus. I change skimming tactics and search files that might be related to my cousin.

Scottie McClaghen. Nothing. He probably evades taxes.

Pattie Wittersham McClaghen earned seventeen thousand dollars from Dunkin’ Donuts in 2009, twenty-two thousand in 2008, and twenty-one in 2007. Similar records go back another six years. None show reception of child support.

Griff and Ruby must do their own taxes. No files for Holtz.

Leo Wittersham, on the other hand, claims two dependents: Pattie and Aulus. According to W-2s, he made fifty-one thousand trucking for SCC Transport last year and another six thousand from Delacroix Taxes. According to this, Dad employs Leo. Six thousand dollars’ worth. 2010. 2009. Thirteen thousand in 2008. My dad’s been paying Aulus’s uncle at least five hundred a month for three years. Not only that, he comps his taxes. The two men aren’t friends. In fact, they speak terribly of each other when the occasion presents itself.

I jump at a passing shadow. The shadow jumps back. Ruby. She pops her head through the door and says, “Hey, skipper. Whatcha doing?”

I offer a defense in case she checks with Dad. “I left without money.”

Ruby pats her pockets, produces a twenty-dollar bill for me, and blows palm kisses as she runs off toward the WCC.

Twenty in hand, I’m out the door too. I slip into senior English thinking I’ve gotten away with my sneaking. On a break, I text Nick, Gladys, and Tank and ask them to come over tonight.

Nick: I’ll bring the pizza rolls.

Gladys: Be there. Where were you at lunch???

Tank: In my truck, you thief. Be ready to share. See you tonight.

They show up at 6:30 and I give them the story as I lived it.

Gladys’s response is typical Gladys. “You broke into your dad’s tax office? Right on” with a big high five.

“I have a key.”

Tank pops the bill of my ball cap. “Takes cojones. I’m proud of you for being willing to investigate Big Poppa.”

Nick’s stuck on Leo’s money. “How much a month?”

“Five hundred. At least.”

Gladys shields her face with her hands. Through her fingers she says, “Thea, you’re thinking that’s what? Hush money? That Mr. Wittersham and your dad did this together?”

Tank spat a half-chewed pizza roll onto his plate. “Leo and Aul were super close. No way Mr. Wittersham’s involved.”

“Aul and my dad were close too.”

Nick flings a napkin at Tank. “Everyone’s a suspect until they aren’t.” And then he sits a little straighter.

“What?” Tank asks.

“We’ve been under the impression that the Thief keeps the boys in one location, but what if that location moves? What if it’s a storage container? And that’s how he gets away with it? Leo could be moving the containers around with his truck.”

“That would be in the testimonies,” I say.

“Not if they drug the boys.”

We argue the logistics—they seem downright impossible to me. That’s multiple hiding places, increased risk of exposure—and rather than fall headlong into rabbit holes we return to the topic of Chris Jenkins. Nick re-explains everything Dana told him, which, granted, isn’t much. By the time we stop debating and rereading old articles, it’s three a.m.

Sending Nick and Tank home at this hour is like taking a cheese grater to my intestines. They’re guys; it’s nearly June. I make them stay.
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Nick’s breathing deeply.

Slipping silently from the couch, I walk to the shower dressed in yesterday’s clothes and a thin quilt. The door to my bedroom is ajar. Gladys and Tank are crashed out on my day bed and trundle. She’s a tiny thing, pressed against the gold metal railing and wall; he’s hugging the opposite edge, hand falling off the mattress.

Standing in front of the bathroom, I watch Nick. The loveseat isn’t made for comfort. His handsome face, relaxed; his body, coiled. He looks scared. Of what? Of justice failing? Of not finding Aulus? That we’re in danger?

“Stay alive,” I whisper, and only as I speak do I realize I am terrified someone will take him from me.

Shower steam covers the mirror. Our pressure is terrible, the drain is clogged, and the water will boil your skin off. I’ve asked Dad to call someone. Every broken thing in this house stays that way for weeks. “But, Thea, you have a castle,” I say to myself with false cheer.

I am rinsing shampoo from my hair when I hear voices coming from the kitchen. “Tank!” I yell, figuring he’s the most likely candidate to be up this early. “There should be cereal in the pantry.” As an afterthought I add, “Check the milk before you use it.” When is the last time we went to the store? Last week? It might be a pizza-rolls-for-breakfast morning.

A hard rap at the door follows an indistinguishable shout. Then Nick’s voice. “Thea.” Man, he’s wound up. The water is cloudy suds of shaving cream and a slight tinge of pink where I nicked myself. “Coming. Almost done.”

“Now, Thee!”

I’m still dripping when I twist my hair and body into towels, then step into the hallway. A line of blood rolls along my shinbone. Strangers are in our house. Strangers wearing khaki pants and navy FBI shirts. This is it. It’s happening.

“Ms. Delacroix,” one agent says, eyeing my towel with interest.

“Nick?” I hiss. To the agent who ogles me, I say, “Excuse you.” And then, “I want to see a warrant,” because demanding something seems like a good way to offset the towel.

Nick’s sister appears from around the corner. “Benson, search the garage,” and the young agent walks the wrong way. Dana faces me, eyebrows raised, lips in a downward turn. “Honey, you better dress.” She’s shorter than me, but something in her stance is reminiscent of every firework stand in the South.

“Am I under arrest?” My voice cracks.

Dana’s attention bounces toward the kitchen and back again. “Of course not. You’re safe.” She reaches to comfort me and I twist away, making a noise that comes out like “Nuh-uh.” My tone is knife-sharp. “Why are you here?” Why didn’t you warn us you were coming?

Nick provides the answer I expect. “They’re here for your dad.”

“He’s not home.” I indicate the presence of Tank and Nick. Like, Hello, I don’t parade boys in front of my father at six a.m.

“Actually . . .” Nick nods toward the kitchen.

Tank and Gladys appear in the doorframe. Their hair’s a mess and Tank’s digging sleep from the corners of his eyes; they look like feral animals. What do we do? he mouths in Nick’s direction, but Nick’s staring at his sister, like he can’t quite believe she’s here. Gladys squeezes Tank’s hand, her way of reminding him that he’s black in a house full of very white cops and maybe now isn’t the time for anger. Tank’s glare says he’s aware and he never needs reminding.

I nod at Tank, who nods back, then I leave them to find my father slumped over a kitchen barstool. No one cleaned away the research or last night’s dinner. An agent stands beside Dad, arms crossed over his skinny chest. He’s explaining that they have my father on a surveillance video at a Baxter gas station on the night Chris Jenkins died. They have the right to search our house. To collect evidence. There will be a formal questioning soon. That doesn’t stop the informal questioning now. “We’re looking for kids. Kids, Mr. Delacroix.” The agent leans on the word, as if he’s stirring the conscience of a psychopath. “Younger than your daughter.”

Dad cleans beneath his fingernails with the corner of a cardboard file. “I don’t know anything about those kids. I’d help if I did. My nephew’s been missing almost a year.”

The agents spots me and doesn’t seem prepared to have a conversation about kidnapping in front of a girl wearing only a towel.

“Dad.”

“There’s been a misunderstanding, knucklehead.” He lifts his head, takes in my appearance, and adds, “Go put on clothes,” like I’m the one out of place.

A misunderstanding? That’s what we call the FBI invading our kitchen at six a.m.? I don’t move.

Minus the FBI logo, Dad’s dressed similarly to the agents. Khaki cargo pants, navy round-necked T-shirt, work boots. And like Dana, he doesn’t appear to have slept last night. Purple slashes the skin beneath his eyes. His ponytail is oily and he’s only making it worse weaving his hands obsessively through the strands.

The male agent addresses me as “miss” and explains they’ll be continuing this chat elsewhere and they’ll probably need to talk to me so is there another parent who can be present? That snaps Dad from his stupor. He bites the agent’s head off, which is not appreciated by anyone in the room. “Do not speak to them without me.”

“I won’t,” I say, more reflex than response.

“Did you just threaten her?” Dana asks in her fierce mama-bear voice.

“Of course not,” Dad says.

The other agent doesn’t let it drop. “Miss?” He wants my answer.

“Thea?” Dana asks.

All eyes fall on me.

I march to Dad’s side. Nick follows. “Is he under arrest for something?” I ask.

Dana answers. “Suspicion of kidnapping and murder.”

Murder. The word’s out of place among the coffee mugs, the piles of dishes drying on the rack, the photos of Aulus and me taped to the fridge. Murder’s not a kitchen word.

Behind me, Tank says, “Come on, Nicky, do your law thing.”

“Yeah,” Gladys echoes.

Nick’s the same shade of green I feel. His first action isn’t a defense of Dad. Instead, he takes my hand, looks directly in my eyes, and says, “I swear I didn’t know she was coming.”

My brain swims with reddish-brown spots. I bend at the waist and attempt a deep breath. Tank, Gladys, and Dana surround me immediately. Nick covers my thigh when the towel flips sideways on my leg. “Don’t let this happen,” I plead to Dana.

“It’ll be okay,” Dad says.

Nick’s pulse hammers against my palm. In this light, his eyes are topaz. His commitment steadies me enough to face my father. “What do I do?”

“Call Warren, Griff, and Ruby. When they release me on bail, we’ll need to discuss my project.” Only my dad could talk about the castle at a time like this. He’s still going. “For now, turn off the generator so we don’t waste gas, and I guess everything else can wait.” As an afterthought, he adds, “We’ll get this sorted.”

Sorted is what you do to laundry, not murder and kidnapping.

Dana says, “Thea, you have my word we’ll take care of him,” and then she shoves Nick in the shoulder, a move that’s playful but direct.

A fierce exchange follows.

“You should have told me,” he says.

Dana dons her FBI voice. “I don’t owe you a warning that I’m doing my job,” and then barks an order to Benson, her co-agent. “Pack up the stuff on the table. Process the house and garage. Thea, you should get dressed and pack a bag. You have somewhere else to go?” There’s the sympathy again and I wonder how much of this tough-Dana routine is for show.

I point at the Gemini research on the table, aware that its presence looks bad for Dad. It looks like an ego stroke. “That’s not his.”

Benson gives me a Please, whatever look.

“It’s not.” Three voices speak in unison.

Nick addresses his sister. “You know we’ve been doing our own investigation into Aulus’s disappearance.”

I watch the struggle in Dana. Wanting to help. The law. Wanting to help. The law. The law wins. “Bag them,” she says to Benson.

“I need your key chain, Thea.”

Resisting is pointless. Nick already gave her the receipt and there’s the video footage as well. I walk to my backpack, remove the castle, and hand it over. Dana slips the chain and single camo key into an evidence bag.

“The generator,” Dad interrupts as two agents flank him at his barstool. He’s handcuffed and led out the front door and down the steps. The grass is damp, the greenest color of spring, and clinging to shoes as they cross our lawn. The event is civil—and the civility makes the arrest unreal. Dana eases Dad onto the back seat of the rear sedan, her mouth moving fast. I assume she’s reciting Miranda rights, telling him he can have a lawyer present when they question him.

A less civil thing occurs across the street.

The WKNF news anchor and camera crew frame our house and the seven black sedans parked in our drive and along the curb. I imagine today’s story hitting the noon news, tomorrow’s headlines: “Eccentric Local Castle Builder Arrested on Suspicion of Kidnapping and Murder.” Or maybe, “Is Don Delacroix the Elusive Gemini Thief? Kidnapped Boys Still Missing; Wildwood Suspect Arrested.”
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Tank stares out the living room window in total bewilderment. “I can’t believe that just happened.”

I beeline to my room, pack a bag that is 90 percent underwear, 10 percent pajamas. Gladys adds jeans and T-shirts. A toothbrush. “You’ll stay with us,” she says, stuffing my favorite pillow into a second bag. A knot of gratitude lodges in the back of my throat. I can’t find words for how much I appreciate her being here, much less thinking ahead to a time when I’ll put my head on a pillow.

Tank’s perched on the edge of the trundle bed staring at the government sedans blocking our street. I’m still standing there, motionless and numb. Moments like this, Aulus’s absence drops like an anchor. He’d know what to do. He’d make a plan. In the end, it’s Gladys who nudges me and says, “Honey, you’re still in a towel.”

On the way to my closet I pat Tank’s knee. He was frowning before I offered him comfort and continues frowning when I close myself inside the closet to wiggle into shorts and a T-shirt. When I emerge, there’s an agent holding up the doorpost of my room. He’s midthirties, a dark mullet sticking out his stiff ball cap. Next door, someone rummages through drawers in Dad’s bedroom, and not gently.

Nick slides in next to me and whispers, “The generator?”

I don’t know.

“Have everything?” Gladys asks casually. To Agent Mullet she asks, “She can come back here, right?”

“Eventually,” he answers.

Nick relieves Gladys of my bags and we leave the room. At the last minute, I jab my finger at the agent’s face. “Don’t touch my stuff.”

Agent Mullet’s expression gives away less than a Buckingham Palace guard. “Your dad was the last person to see his nephew alive. I’ll touch what I deem necessary.”

Under other circumstances I’d consider this a victory: the authorities finally believe the Gemini Thief took Aulus. Under these, I shrivel.

Tank’s the color of burnt sienna; he is a teapot, rattling, singing its song. I loop my arm through his and lean into his barrel chest. If I can be calm, you can be calm, I tell him with a pat of my hand. We walk away, Nick and Gladys trailing behind.

Nick catches up in the hallway. “He was baiting you hard.”

Yep.

Our exit from the house is videoed. Questions are pelted like snowballs. Across the street, Mrs. Riggs watches from behind the partial curtain of her bay window. Thunder barks when he spots me. I haven’t walked him in ages. If they interview her, she’ll say my father is never home. She’ll clutch Thunder to her breast, stroke his wiry terrier hair, and say in a nasal voice, “That girl raises herself,” even though my dad does her taxes for free. Just about anything can change the opinion of an opportunist.

Tank’s truck and Nick’s Civic are trapped in the drive so we pile mismatched into Gladys’s Challenger. Gladys and Nick claim the front, Nick behind the wheel. He weaves around the neighborhood, taking turns at random. His eyes dart between the road and the mirrors, checking for agents or media. When he heads toward town, Gladys breaks the silence. “What exactly are we doing?”

Nick checks the rearview mirror. “I don’t know. Driving. Confirming no one’s following us. Going to the castle before they do.”

Next to me, Tank still hasn’t calmed down. Gladys reaches back and strokes his knee. “Easy,” she coos, as though he’s a child. “You don’t believe Mr. Delacroix took Aulus, so calm down.”

“Does it matter what I think? The FBI hauled him away. The FBI, Glads. Please don’t go acting like we can trust the system.”

I am touched by his protective streak. Paralyzed too.

Nick cuts in. “Everything we’ve thought or found could be a coincidence. Not only is Don innocent until proven guilty, he’s never hurt Thea. That’s the strongest evidence of character he has.”

“He lied about a castle. How exactly are we measuring hurts?” Tank has always admired my dad for this undertaking. Seeing him make a fist on my behalf is strange and oddly justifying.

“Physically for now,” Nick says. “Don’s never put a single hand on her.”

Tank swivels sideways. His grip on my biceps is like two blood pressure cuffs. “Swear,” he says. “Swear to me right now that your dad never hurt you. That you’re telling us the whole truth. Swear you won’t protect him over yourself.”

I am careful not to blink. “Never, Tank. Never.”

Releasing me, he throws himself against the seat and punches the ceiling, leaving four grooved indentions in the fabric.

“I know,” Gladys says, even though he didn’t say anything.

“Try being me,” I say.

Nick, ever positive, says, “Don could definitely be innocent. They’re following protocol.”

No one responds.

We arrive at the cattle grate without me noticing we passed the Moose Lodge or the WKU mailbox. Tank’s fists are no longer clenched, but his jeans are wrinkled from grabbing the fabric. “Now what?” he asks.

I have no idea. We check the generator? We search for evidence?

Gladys hands me more grace than I deserve. “It’s okay, honey. It’ll all be okay.” Staring into the bright blue sky, she adds, “I think.” And then a much quieter, “I hope.”

The castle towers rise into a Kentucky blue sky, the American flags popping, metal rivets slapping the aluminum pole. For the first time since Dad confessed to this, I want my father to be the builder of castles. But we’re not here to laud his architectural skills. We’re here . . . I think . . . to search for Aulus. Another abysmal thought occurs right on the heels of that one.

“Nick, how long can the FBI hold him?” Nick’s not pursuing criminal law, but he took a class last semester in trial law. We both suffered through study seasons and flash cards.

“I don’t know if federal cases work the same, but they should have twenty-four to seventy-two hours to charge him. After that, they’ll likely bypass a grand jury and hold a preliminary hearing. If their evidence is solid, they’ll proceed to trial.”

Gladys arrives at the same conclusion as me. “But if Mr. Delacroix were to be the Gemini Thief, aren’t the boys in more danger? If your dad’s been caring for them”—she is apologetic at the suggestion—“and he’s unavailable . . . Will they starve? Can they . . . breathe?”
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No one questions Nick’s decision to park behind the Moose Lodge. We walk single file. Taciturn. As if the earth might gobble us whole if it hears us coming. Before Dad purchased the adjacent acreage, the land belonged to seeds and weeds. Probably corn one year, wheat and soybeans the next. Dormant and disheveled now, the ground, soft from rain, gives like a mattress and suctions our shoes.

The first low hum creates a panic. Squatting in an unplanted field won’t hide us any more than a child who believes he’s invisible if he closes his eyes, but Nick pats the air and we all crouch. A bright green Mustang roars by honking and waving.

“Should we be calling their names?” Gladys asks as we stand. No one answers. “Aulus.” Her voice is so tentative, so tender. She tries again. “Aulus.” Attempt two isn’t much louder.

I part my lips and discover my throat’s an air lock. I can say his name. What I can’t do is call out like movie characters do when someone goes missing in the woods. That feels like admitting my father killed him.

Tank shakes a cigarette from the pack, wedges a Camel in the crook of his mouth. He keeps spinning the flint wheel backward, and I take the cigarette and grind it deep into the mud. There are moments I forget Tank has as much claim to Aulus as I do—this isn’t one of them. I squeeze his hand. He gives me a sideways nod and tweaks his nose the way you do when you’re making sure you don’t cry. Grief isn’t a thing that requires words.

“You try,” Gladys says to me.

“I’ll do it,” Nick says before I can answer. “Aulus! Rufus! Zared!” He blasts their names as we plod across the field toward the castle drive. Two more cars pass with no sign of the Feds or police. Nick peers toward the forest access road. “I don’t know if Dana has a warrant for the castle.”

“Why wouldn’t she?” Gladys asks.

“Warrants are specific. They might not have been able to include the castle initially,” I say and lead them toward the front entrance. “The internal construction is brick, metal, and wood. If they’re here, they’re in a hidden subbasement.” It takes effort to level my voice. “That means we’re looking for trapdoors and secret staircases.”

We fan out through the keep. Other than the kitchen and baths, labeling rooms without identifying furniture or decorations proves difficult. Most of the larger spaces can be utilized for anything from a library to a formal dining room. We cover the square footage slowly. Everywhere we search, the mortar meets the bricks.

“How do we get to the basement level?” Tank asks.

“Through the lower garage,” I say.

Tank wants to go immediately, but Nick argues that a cursory glance is subpar. “The Gemini Thief, whoever he is, is incredibly intelligent.”

“He or she,” I say as Tank huffs, “Incredibly demented, you mean.”

“You’re only saying that because it widens the suspect pool,” Nick says. “These abductions require a brute strength that most women don’t possess.”

He saw right through me, but I plunge on. “Either way, he or she has managed to stay hidden for a decade. A person who evades detection for that length of time doesn’t put the entrance to a secret cave or bunker or whatever in the great room.”

“Or maybe that’s the perfect place. Hidden in plain sight,” Tank argues.

“Guys.”

They ignore Gladys.

“It doesn’t make sense, Tank.”

“None of this makes sense, Nick.”

“Guys!” Gladys snaps. Maybe there’s supposed to be a speech, but she isn’t one for speeches. She leans against a waist-high copper-colored bell in the corner and awakes the clapper. The resulting bongs overtake the room. Beautiful. Pure. We stand spellbound until the hammer stops striking the metal interior.

“Wow,” Tank says.

“You’ll be able to hear that in town,” Gladys says.

“You can probably hear that in Tennessee,” Nick says.

Dad doesn’t cut corners, I think.

The east bell tower is in place structurally. The west is a different story. We stand at the base of an upturned forty-foot storage container; it and its adjoining room are under construction. A concrete mixing drum and five-gallon buckets of water are tucked under the stairwell. Four bags of concrete make a tidy stack in one corner. Pallets of wood and flats of bricks line the connecting hallways.

“How far up has he finished?” Tank’s words are hollow in the narrow space.

Gladys’s flashlight beam stops ten feet up. Nick moves gingerly toward the construction but he’s up and down in a flash. “Three and a half stories, and”—he points at the stack of concrete bags—“that’s a seam.”

The Quikrete paper corner rips when I grab the edge, and concrete clouds the air gray. Gladys drags the ten-pound bag away without spilling more. Tank and Nick wrestle the remaining three into a ramshackle stack. Four metal panels, painted like bricks, stare up at us.

Gladys’s hip presses against mine. We turn, faces quelled and flat, until fear carves itself onto her lips and cheeks. Four fingers dig into my ribs. Who is your father? her eyes ask.

I’m not sure I ever knew.

Nick lifts the false floor. Ladder rungs lead into darkness. “I’m guessing this isn’t on the official tour,” he says and leans his upper body through the hole. “Hello?” Hello, hello, hello echoes back. “I’ll go first,” he says.

I note the quiver. In Baxter, he stopped and went back to the car. That could happen again. If it does, he’ll call his sister. Once Dana is involved there’ll be no choice about whether we protect my father or not. Am I terrible for hoping that happens? For wishing this belonged to someone else? Right now it’s all mine. I’m the one who confirmed the key chain. I’m the one who told him to give her the receipt. When they hauled Dad into that squad car and put his face on the news as a kidnapper . . . That’s on me.

Nick’s descent is tedious, but he deems the ladder safe for us to follow. There are fourteen rungs before my foot connects with some manner of flooring. I blame a shiver on the cool air and my tissue paper–thin tank top, but there’s no doubt I’m scared. My heart is in overdrive.

The trapdoor provides a column of half light, which is adequate to assess our surroundings. This room is roughly the size of a basketball court and has a poured concrete floor and brick walls. They’re yellow. Maybe beige or tan.

Tank rips off a set of curse words that adequately expresses my own amazement.

“How did he dig this out?” Gladys asks.

“Patience and a backhoe,” I say. He’s focused and meticulous when he wants something done. Same as me.

Tank leaves the group huddle and returns with a piece of copy paper. In large block letters, Dad’s written, Weapons. There’s a footnote in pencil. Purchase: wall mount racks, shelving, additional ammunition. Move from safe: guns.

“We don’t have a safe.” When Dad hunts, he borrows guns from Uncle Warren.

“You sure?” Tanks asks.

“If we do, I don’t know where it is.” In all the time I’ve processed Dad’s lies about the castle, I’ve never considered there could be other castles or other homes. Other families? He is gone an awful lot. I take the paper from Tank and fold and fold and fold. I can’t make it insignificant, but I will make it small.

“Could his safe be at Warren’s?” Gladys asks.

Countless games of hide-and-seek taught me the nooks and crannies of Uncle Warren’s house. Other than the basement door in the kitchen—which is just unfinished space according to him—I’ve always had full run of his place. “Not anywhere in the house,” I answer.

Weapons isn’t the only sign.

We circle the room, removing each paper as we come to it. Water, Canned Foods, Oxygen, Medical Supplies, Vent, Water Closet.

“Guys . . . ,” I say.

“I know,” Nick says.

Gladys is compassionate. “Thee.”

“There’s nothing here,” Tank says, as though the emptiness of this room might provide a margin of comfort.

Tank’s right. But the hard conclusion has to be admitted. “There could be more of these bunkers. And if Dad dug one ten years ago, the land would hide the lie.”

“Let’s leave that to the FBI,” Nick says.

I take the folded Weapons paper from my shorts pocket. “No. Let’s take this to the digger.”
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Tank slams a pack of Camels against the steering wheel. We’re in front of my house; Nick’s and Tank’s vehicles are no longer caged. Two unmarked sedans hug the curb. The FBI’s inside. “Thee,” Tank says, “Your dad’s not gonna tell you anything.”

We’ve been debating since we left the castle. He gropes in his pocket for the lighter. He’s about to spin that stupid wheel backward.

Gladys quietly removes the lighter and says to me, “We’re coming with you.”

“No.” I am firm. “Go back to the castle and keep searching before we’re not allowed to be there.”

Neither twosome is sure who got the worse end of things.

When Nick and I leave the Challenger for the Civic, Tank crushes my ribs and chest with a silent and extraordinarily long hug before climbing back in the car with Gladys.

“You and Tank always been close?” Nick asks.

It’s a strange question since Nick has known us for nearly a year. But I guess we haven’t talked much about who we were before Aulus disappeared.

“No way,” I say. “I hated him in elementary school.”

He laughs. “Why?”

“I don’t really remember,” I say, but I do. Tank had everything, and back then, he let us all know. I’d almost forgotten the amount of loathing I directed toward Thomas Piper and his normal life and normal parents and normal lunches. He even played normal baseball and camped with his normal Boy Scout troop.

Over the last hour the Civic has been spitting lukewarm air and not always in a constant stream. I unstick my thighs from the leather for the third time and Nick attempts to lower the windows. The glass stops halfway. “Sorry,” he says, either for the lack of air or the whole situation. “I don’t know if they’ll have booked him or not. I’m guessing yes.”

“You’re saying he’ll be in a jumpsuit.”

“Probably.”

“And they’ll have what? Taken his fingerprints and mug shots?”

“Yes. Saliva. Hair. DNA.”

I’ve seen that part on Law & Order.

“They might not let you talk to him.”

“Uncle Warren will get me in,” I say with certainty.

“Warren’s with the Wildwood Sheriff’s Department, not Simpson County. He won’t have a say.”

I ignore Nick—Uncle Warren can worm his way anywhere—and ask, “Will my conversation with Dad be recorded?”

“They record phone calls. I’d think they’d have a camera on holding or interview rooms, but I’m not sure. My professor said only clergy or legal conversations are private.”

I press my head against the window until my skull and the glass are practically enmeshed.

“I wouldn’t carry that basement sign in.”

I toss the Weapons square onto his floorboard, where it lands between a petrified Arby’s curly fry and a Critical Criminology textbook. “How am I supposed to talk if people are listening?”

We aren’t closer to a strategy when Nick parks under the non-shade of a miniature maple. My godparents stand in the shadow of the jail, talking. Griff’s wearing a hat, and he never wears a hat. Ruby’s in her rumpled WCC polo and work boots. They still look like superheroes and I launch myself at him first, pressing my face into the fabric of his chest, inhaling the sweat, the Mountain Spring Tide, the familiarity. Ruby reaches us and holds on for dear life.

Griff says the Griff-est words ever, “We’ll fix this.”

“I don’t know how.” I leave a wet splotch on his T-shirt.

“I called an attorney,” he says into my hair. “We’ll get him out on bail.”

“Whatever you need,” Ruby tells me.

I shove feelings to my toes. “I need to see him.”

The tightness of Ruby’s lips says that’s a terrible idea. Over the top of my head, she whispers, “Is that safe?” to her husband. I feel more than hear him give her an Are you kidding me? shake before he shifts me under his wing and guides us inside.

Uncle Warren’s here, waiting for us to pass the metal detector. There’s justice in his straight-backed spine, confidence in that wiry jaw. His cop-ness has always provided a measure of comfort, but now, I’m unsure of his side. He hugs me the way he has a million times and he’s ours again, not theirs. “Don’s in holding,” he says.

“Can I see him?”

Warren addresses Griff. “The attorney’s in with him now. I’m sure they’re discussing Monday’s arraignment. You go in afterward,” he says to me. “But not for long. This is federal.” He flicks Nick on the chest. “I’m on your sister’s short rope.”

Beside me, Ruby’s repeating one of her comfort scriptures, massaging the triangle of skin between her thumb and index finger. I wish I had any one of her little calming routines. Warren escorts us to a break room with a Coke machine that only has water, red Gatorade, and Sun Drop. We collapse on hard plastic chairs. Warren crosses his legs and clamps the crossed leg with both hands, all business. He has an answer ready when Griff asks, “Did you know this was coming?”

These men have lived on the sidelines of my childhood. Dad’s head coach; Warren’s in charge of defense; Griff is special teams. They don’t always agree with each other’s methods, but they’re always on the same team.

Warren answers, “I’m as surprised as you,” which is a relief.

“Thea?” Griff asks.

I try not to catch Nick’s eye. “Of course not.”

Warren asks if Dad has been acting unusual.

I hesitate.

Griff offers a harsh reprimand. “Go easy, yeah? He’s her dad.”

Ruby scoots closer. “Honey, you can tell us anything. Any suspicions you might have, you can trust us.” I love Ruby, but I don’t like being told to trust.

Griff notices and he and Ruby share an uncomfortable wordless exchange that ends with her lifting her arms in a helpless shrug. I try to remember: This is Cop Warren. We are in a police station. This is when I step lightly. I answer, “Ten years ago Dad bought ninety-six acres of land and started building a castle for reasons unknown. You’re going to need to define unusual.”

There’s a cough-laugh of understanding from the adults.

“Well, would you have any reason to suspect he’s on drugs or mentally compro—”

“Warren!” This time Griff comes back hard. “Come on, man. You know Don. He’s not mentally compromised.”

“If there’s one thing I’ve learned being a cop, it’s that people aren’t always who we think they are.”

Griff says, “By your reasoning I should ask if you’re the Gemini Thief.”

“You should.”

Griff is caught off guard by Warren’s bluntness. There’s apparent shock, then a form of skeptical acceptance. “Well, then, are you the Gemini Thief?”

Warren does not crack. He bears down on Griff. “No. Are you?”

“No. And you’re the one on drugs if you think Don is capable. This is Don we’re talking about.”

The tension’s electric.

“Please stop,” I say, and immediately Nick jumps his chair closer to mine until our shoulders are inches apart; his only protection against my father’s two best friends.

A middle-aged man wearing glasses pokes his head into the room. “Ready for you, kiddo,” he says to me, and I’m almost relieved until I remember what I have to do next. Nick touches the small of my back as we follow our escort to a hallway door. “Make it quick,” he says and sinks his hand through a ballooning hole in his button-up.

My dad isn’t in a jumpsuit. Even if he were, I don’t know enough about the process to understand what has already been done or decided. Somewhere along the way he’s lost his ponytail holder and his hair hangs limply around his shoulders. Dad raises his voice to a pseudo-annoyed tone so everyone in the hallway hears. “Tell Warren he’s fired for letting you in here.”

“I had to come.”

The door shuts. In tandem, we glance toward the two-way mirror, a little signal to each other that we’re not truly alone. Dad fidgets with the metal anchors the cops use to handcuff inmates to the table. I slip a rubber band off my wrist and place it in his palm. He acknowledges my offering by fiddling with the elastic.

I state the obvious, “Griff hired a lawyer.”

“Spending money on all this is a waste. I need it for the castle.”

“Dad, there won’t be a castle if you don’t get out of here.”

“There will.” He sounds delusional. “Listen.” Dad raises his chin enough to note the tears on my cheeks. I am furious with him and scared for him and us and me and what this means and I am so so so . . . I cannot name what I am. Dad rests the tips of his fingers over mine. “Honey, you do not have to worry about this. None of this is real.”

“I don’t need to worry,” I parrot.

“You do not.”

“You’re not worried that we’re trapped in some Shawshank nightmare?”

“No.” He doesn’t sound sure. He sounds like he wants to sound sure, and there’s a big difference.

“Do you remember what you told me when I was scared my first day at Wildwood Elementary? About the keys?” I will him to remember the basement conversation.

A coy smile hides behind his intense brown gaze.

“I need you to give me a key, Dad. I need you to tell me why this castle is more important than being arrested for kidnapping and murder.”

He lowers his head for a minute.

“My 401(k). The house. The tax office. Our savings.” I suppose he decides one cat out of the bag might as well be a litter. He adds, “Your college fund. Everything we have is in this castle.”

I can barely speak. “You spent my college money on your castle?”

He corrects me. “Our castle.” Placing both hands flat on the table, Dad extends his neck and face like a snapping turtle ready to strike. “I spend what I have to and I’d do it again.” His eyes lift toward the ceiling, like someone might be up there. “And you’ll be fine, honey. You always land on your feet.” I want to scream at him, I haven’t been on my feet in a year, Dad. “I wasn’t even sure you wanted to go to college anymore,” he adds. “I kind of thought you might stay home and help me build.”

He’s crazier than I thought. Horrified as I am, I can’t process what all that means financially, not when there are still more secrets. Piles of them and I don’t have much longer in this room.

“The bell tower?” I tap the desk in a downward motion.

He pushes his chair back from the table. “You can’t think—”

“What am I supposed to—”

“You’re supposed to trust me.”

“Am I? You lied about the castle for a decade. You’re gambling with my future and yours . . . and for what? A stupid half-built fantasyland?”

He grips his collar with both hands. Sweat beads along the veins and hollows of his neck. “Thea, you asked me a second ago if I was worried and I wasn’t. But, honey, if you think I’m guilty, I’ve lost a game I didn’t know I was playing.”

I am so quiet I can barely hear my own voice. “Show me you didn’t do this.” Did the FBI hear me? Will they hold my doubt against him?

“I. Did. Not. Hurt. Aulus. Ever. Or any of those Gemini boys. Period. Warren!” Dad stands as he yells at the doorway. His agitation grows. “Warren!” The door cracks open and Warren leans inside. The crowd huddles just behind. “Take Thea home,” Dad says to his best friend.

“Dad.” My voice cracks.

“Out.”

Warren puts himself between Dad and me. “Hey, buddy. Calm and cool, okay?”

“Out.” Dad’s absolute.

I’m no farther than the doorway when Ruby brushes my tears with the back of her hand. She leans into the holding room. “Don, do not take her for granted.” Warren tugs her toward the hallway. Ruby’s always been Mama Bear, but I’ve rarely heard her roar.

Dana, having left the adjacent room, where she surely watched this unfold, yells at the lot of us. “All of you out. Now. Yes, you too,” she says to Warren specifically. It’s unclear if Dad’s harshness extinguished her goodwill or she’s put out by the whole scene. I suspect the former, but she tightens her lip and gives Warren a dose of wrath like he should know better.

Back inside the holding room, Dad walks to the corner seam and buries his face like he is in elementary school. Dana is about to shut him in when he calls, “Honey, don’t forget what you already know. That’s what’s true. Not all this.” His voice drops. “I love you. More than anything else in the world. But please, please don’t come back until you believe me. I can handle false accusations from everyone else, but I can’t . . . I can’t handle one from you.” He sinks to the floor, head in his hands. Dana closes the door.
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When we leave the jail, a narrow band of sky is the shade of orange sherbet. A train horn blares. The heavy clatter of freight makes talking or thinking impossible. Ever intuitive, Griff nods at Nick’s car and says, “Take your time. Ruby’s making a Sam’s Club run for the WCC before she heads back to Wildwood. I’ll drop you at Gladys’s and save Nick a trip.”

Nick has bitten the skin around his nail beds and they’re bleeding, but he offers me a weary smile. I step closer, not too close. Near enough to telegraph that his presence is welcome. He has this ability to let me oscillate between hot and cold without holding either temperature against me, and I don’t think I’ve ever been more grateful than I am right now.

“That was brutal,” he says, slumping against the hood.

“I don’t understand him.”

“Who does?”

“He’s hurting.”

Nick doesn’t make some big show, just says, “So are you,” and unlocks the passenger side of his car. I fall into the seat sideways and he crouches by my knees. Thankfully, he stares at the toes of his shoes, first picking at the place the rubber sole meets the fabric, then threading his hand through his hair. Yesterday’s hair spray is a gummy mess and none of his attempts tames the Howard Stern ’fro. “I don’t know how to help,” he admits.

“Can I borrow your phone?” Mine must be in Gladys’s car.

I stare at the number pad. I’d grown up doing phone number drills the way Tank grew up reciting scripture for nuns. “Your dad’s?” Warren would demand. I’d reel off the numbers. “Mine?” More rip-fire numbers. “Griff’s?” Same. “Ruby’s?” Same. Despite my training, I reach deep to remember the area code.

4:32 her time.

Alaska’s three hours behind most of Kentucky. If she’s even living there still. Last Dad and I checked—thank you, Facebook—my mother managed a Game Stop in Juneau and was in a relationship with some man-child named Xane. They have two German shepherds, Punch and Judy, whom they photograph obsessively.

She won’t know it’s me. This number will read like a random solicitor and I doubt she’ll pick up, but I’d like to hear her voice. That annoying high-pitch buzz erupts in my ear, followed by “We’re sorry. You have reached a number that has been disconnected or is no longer in service. If you feel you have reached this recording in error, please check the number and dial again.”

I dial again.

Same message.

Nick hands me a bottle of water he fished from behind the seat, probably to keep me from throwing his phone. He doesn’t do what most people do when they find themselves uncomfortable. There’s no strange comparison of how his life is similar to mine in x way. No platitudes about how much this sucks.

“What now?” he asks.

“You finish your homework, and Griff takes me to Gladys’s.”

He laments, “I shouldn’t have signed up for this summer class, but I need it to graduate on time.”

I set my water bottle on the floorboard, offer him my hands, and we pull each other up. When we’re in a quasi-hugging standing position, my thumbs tucked through the back belt loop on his jeans, I angle us into a kissing position. Nick never even glances at my lips.

“I’m being unfair to you,” I say.

“Unfair?”

Because of Aulus, Nick could never be reduced to some boyfriend I had one year in high school. But I wonder if he’s trapped here, stitched to me by ongoing tragedy. Days like today—you can hear the hum of the sewing machine making another pass over our hands. The needle feels great to me, safe and sound, a tidy suture, but it’s probably stinging his palms. How long before Nick thinks, What’s in this for me? Or maybe we end when his parents or sister bring up the obvious point, Do you want to tie yourself to a girl with an incarcerated father or do you want to make law partner someday?

Nick says, “The only unfair thing that exists today is what happened with your dad.”

Does he mean that? Or is some part of him asking what I’d be asking if this situation were reversed: Does mental illness run in the family? Am I one step away from stealing a baby stroller or obsessing over some ridiculous Arthurian project? I think I have the obsession in me, though not the deviousness.

“If you can’t sleep, call me,” Nick says and kisses my nose.

How long has it been since we kiss kissed? Before Chris Jenkins.

“Thank you,” I say, but I’m fast-forwarding to the moment my dad’s in prison and Nick’s walking a perky, leather bag–toting, tortoiseshell cat-eye glasses–wearing girl from trial law class back to her dorm; they kiss passionately; he sighs with relief and thinks, That was so much better than anything I ever did with my crazy ex-girlfriend.
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I fall into Griff’s Accord, determined not to think about the men in my life. The leather seat is cool from the air conditioning. I consider putting my head directly in front of the vent.

“Do you know where my mother is?” I ask, exasperated, wishing I hadn’t given Dad my ponytail holder.

“Seat belt.”

“My mother.”

“Debra.” He practically spits her name.

“Yes. Unless there’s some other mother I don’t know about.”

“Seat belt,” Griff repeats.

This time I oblige, and Griff says he has Debra’s number somewhere. Based on that response, he has the same number I already dialed.

“Don’t bother,” I tell him. “I’ll send her a message on Facebook.”

“You sure she should know about Don’s arrest?”

The question’s a snake on the path. We wait for it to slither away. By the time it does, we’re back in Wildwood’s city limits, the flashing courthouse clock telling us it’s after seven. Griff breaks the silence. “You don’t want to stay with us tonight?”

“I’ll be fine at Gladys’s.”

Griff exhales. I can’t tell if he’s relieved or frustrated.

“Why did you say my mother’s name like that earlier?”

Without so much as a blinker of warning, Griff whips into a spot in front of Barlow’s Flowers. The square’s mostly empty. Only spillover cars from the Mexican restaurant are parked in this corner. The bank’s dark. The antique shop beside Barlow’s has a flashing Closed sign that brightens the Accord’s dashboard with rose-colored twinkles. Griff drums his thumbs on the steering wheel in time with the sign.

“Griff?” On a day like today I can take as many scoops of pain as he can dish.

“I was thinking about Constance.”

I raise the sunshade, lower it again. Fiddle with the child lock button on the door. “Constance?” The name means nothing to me.

“Don’s first wife.” The phrase slips through gritted teeth. My dad was married before Mom. Another lie. “Every time Debra surfaces for one reason or another, I can’t help but think what could have been with Stancy. I know Debra’s your mom—”

“Womb donor,” I insert.

Griff’s temporarily dazed by my correction, but he approves of my assessment. “I wouldn’t change a hair on your head, kiddo, but if you had the pleasure of meeting Stancy, your dad chose the wrong . . . ‘womb donor.’ Anyway, you asked for her number and I was thinking we should call Const—”

He catches sight of my face and understands this is the first I’ve heard of Constance. Griff shifts the car into reverse. “You don’t need more on your plate. We’ll discuss Constance some other time.”

Some other time? I punch Griff’s glove box until it vomits his registration, rogue paperwork, tire gauge, and a set of keys onto my lap and the floorboard. I slam the flapping door three times and it still hangs open. Griff watches the traffic over his shoulder before backing out.

“Griff, stop stalling and tell me.”

The car pauses half in the spot, half in the street. A horn honks and Griff waves an apology the driver surely can’t see in the darkness. He backs out. “I don’t think that’s a good—”

“Griff!”

He takes the first exit off the square toward Gladys’s. There are seven stoplights remaining and time for him to explain. He begins, “Constance O’Brien. They met his junior year at Tech, her freshman. They started and ended quickly.”

The Crimea started and ended quickly. Side ponytails started and ended quickly. Deep Blue Something started and ended quickly. They all still happened. Length of time doesn’t negate realness.

“Why don’t I know about her?”

“Your dad took nine years to tell you about the castle.”

I’ve never asked Griff how long he and Ruby and Warren knew about the castle, but there’s no doubt they found out before me. Based on his scowl, he was Team Tell Thea.

“Where’s Constance now?”

“No idea,” Griff says. “She was always quirky. But so was your dad back then. Very devout, you know?”

“Devout? Like, religious?”

Griff nods. “He and Constance met at a campus prayer thing.”

We are holiday church attendees—primarily Easter and Christmas. This stretches my concept drawing of Dad.

“I’d already moved back to Wildwood when they split. He was living in Jackson, and Ruby—she was on a service call to Memphis—worked for Every Child Now and stopped to surprise him with brownies. He ended up surprising her. No wedding ring. No Constance. I called him and asked what in the world was going on. He said he was divorced and wasn’t fielding additional questions. You know how he is.”

Griff pulls into Gladys’s drive. The Baxters’ security light bathes the Accord in yellow.

“Yeah,” I say. “No keys to his basement.”
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Gladys and I huddle together on her bed with the computer, spend five minutes googling, and bam, pretty hippie Constance O’Brien fills the screen. Right age, attended Tech, still near and dear to her religious roots. The most unsettling part: she looks like my mom. They have the same shoulder-length brown hair and fringe. Same watery blue eyes. Neither woman could be a pound over one twenty.

Gladys has never met Mom, but she has served as sidekick for my What’s Debra doing these days? internet searches. First sight of Constance and she pushes the laptop toward her knees.

“Wow. I mean, wow.”

I resemble Mom more than Dad, so my likeness to Constance is equally uncanny. Gladys won’t stop remarking on our similar features. I click the next link.

Constance pastors a nondenominational church in Lexington, Kentucky, called Faith United. They have a service tomorrow at 10:15.

“She might know things about Dad no one else does,” I suggest.

Gladys sees what I want before I have the courage to ask. Always up for an adventure, she says, “We could go, you know. Tomorrow is Sunday.”

I try to be logical. “Warren or Griff or Ruby would know the same things.”

“Maybe, but this is a rock that needs turning over.”

That’s the smile that got her kicked out of Walmart for playing Supermarket Sweep in a wheelchair buggy. She’s always so meek, until she isn’t.

While I brush my teeth, Gladys calls Tank and Nick and tells them they are coming with. “Tank will be here early. We’re picking Nick up on the way,” she says when I crawl into bed.

Now it’s three a.m., and I’m lying next to Gladys, coiling my brain around Constance O’Brien. In a few hours, I’m meeting the woman who could have been my mother. Except if I had half of her DNA instead of Debra’s, I’d be someone else. Dad might be someone else. Maybe even, if Constance were my mom, she’d be the type who slipped under the covers with me on difficult nights and snuggled close. This imaginary woman, easily maternal, smooths my hair and says, “Oh, baby. We’ll get through this.” She doesn’t run a Game Stop in Alaska with a disconnected phone. She doesn’t use my college fund to build a castle.

I have Gladys, at least. Our heads are basically touching, and though she’s exhausted, she startles awake when I twist in the covers and asks, “You okay?”

“Go back to sleep,” I tell her and watch her eyelids fall, only to see them pop open five minutes later. She asks, “You sure?” to which I answer, “I’m fine.”

Eventually she believes me. Or she can’t hold her eyes open. I listen to her snore and try to stop tossing and turning. I dream about Constance.
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Against all odds, we run ahead of schedule the next morning. Nick and backpack fall into the back seat with a carrier of coffee that makes Gladys kiss his cheek and Tank say, “This is why you’re my favorite.”

Despite the Starbucks run, Nick’s only partially dressed. His tie hangs like a narrow green sash. His belt’s not latched. He’s toting a plastic bag with hair gel and worn black shoes that he pitches into the space between us.

“Nice dress,” he says.

“Nice undershirt,” I say. His dress shirt is still unbuttoned.

He straightens to check his hair in the rearview mirror and says, “Gotta get fancy for church. Is this an alternate universe or what?”

I didn’t pack fancy, so I’m trusting Gladys’s black knit A-line to be appropriately holy for Sunday worship.

Faith United is located in a grubby strip mall near the Lexington Horse Park. Based on shoddy sign work, the church used to be a Dollar General. There’s a Peddlers Mall to the right, a Fantastic Sams on the left. Sedans and minivans with windshield sticker families surround us. Tank coasts into a spot next to a conversion van. Kids tumble out of the vehicle like clowns at the circus, the boys dressed in matching black vests, the girls in pink-and-yellow-striped sundresses. Nick finishes the final tuck of the Windsor knot and spritzes hair gel onto his hands. The car stinks of strawberry.

Tank coughs dramatically. “Hey, yo, Justin! Tame that poodle outside?”

“Justin?” Nick asks.

“Timberlake,” Gladys says with a laugh.

“Ha-ha,” Nick says, good humored. “Please remember, from this distance to church, God can hear you being mean to me.”

Everyone laughs and before I know it we’re at the front door and Pastor Constance is greeting us.

Handshake: warm with medium pressure.

Smile: wide and lovely.

Dress: ankle length, purple and flowing, quarter-length sleeves. Tasteful.

No wedding ring, no extra-large Bible tucked under her arm, no pretense. Only softness when she says, “Welcome to Faith. We’re glad you’re here this morning.”

Becoming. That’s my word for Constance. Followed closely by: magnetic. Not only that, she’s genuinely glad we’re visiting, or she’s very good at faking joy. I manage a timid “Hi,” and Tank chooses four chairs in the back of the sanctuary.

Most of my Sunday mornings are a haze of milk and doughnuts. When I confess my nerves to Nick, who’s usually the one supplying the pastries, he says, “Right there with you.”

I’m charmed by the music. More than charmed. I’m stirred. All around me, earnest hearts are laid bare. I don’t think religion is for me, but we’re in an old Dollar General with terrible industrial lighting; exposed ductwork drops glittery dust motes into the air that land like dandruff on shoulders and hair; black smears scar the tile floor where shelves sat for decades; and there’s a homey feeling. Nothing is fancy and everything is real. Far more real than I expected. Especially when Constance starts speaking.

“She’s great,” Nick whispers in my ear at the same moment Tank finger-guns in the pastor’s direction and mouths, Dude. I love her.

I think: This is not a woman a sane man leaves.

I think: What if she were my mother?

I think: Tell me secrets about my father.

Constance offers congregants a chance to come forward, and I traverse the middle aisle, full of fear and hope. One glance over my shoulder equals three nods. Go on, they encourage, and I kneel. She’s before me now. Her warm hand touches my forehead, surprising me a little. Her eyes—they’re the color of a winter sky and almost snow—meet mine with compassion.

“My father was arrested yesterday,” I whisper.

She holds me. She is narrow shoulders, thin arms, and lavender, which I’ve never particularly enjoyed but find soothing. I’ve never seen a car crusher in action, but this must be how old Volvos feel. In an instant, it is more than an embrace; it is her soul in a body. Her cheek lands next to mine, the powder smell so similar to the makeup drawer in my bathroom. I miss home and Dad in a dizzying way. I don’t realize I’m shaking until her fingers slide up and down the knit backing of Gladys’s dress.

From inside this hug, I say, “His name is Don Delacroix.”
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Constance peels her upper body from mine, examines my face, perhaps expecting her ex-husband’s nose and mouth hidden in my feminine features. Instead, she sees . . . What? A counterfeit version of herself? Tears gather in the corners of her eyes. She has every right to hate me.

“Oh, sweetheart,” she says, embracing me again. “I knew someone would come. I didn’t know it would be like this or so soon. Don’t leave afterward.” Constance moves on to pray for the kneeling man to my right.

“What did she say?” Gladys asks when I return to our seats.

“That we should stick around.”

Gladys’s forehead crinkles. “You were up there a long time.”

I could live up there.

The service ends on a song and though we are greeted by the people around us, the church soon empties. Constance and another man scurry around blowing out candles, shutting down the sound system, repositioning mics for next week. Constance yells to the back of the sanctuary, “Hey, Jake, lock up for me? I’d like to take this crew to lunch.”

A question for Jake. A question for us.

Jake raises a set of keys into the air and jingles his yes. I give Constance a weak “Sure.” The others follow my lead. This is why we came. After we exchange names, Constance walks us to the Burger King on the corner. She tells the cashier the food’s on her. When none of us order what we would if we were paying for our own meals, she says, “Supersize everything.”

Over Whoppers and fries, I tell my story. The castle. Aulus’s disappearance. Dad’s arrest. Everything between. I withhold minimal details. Like: Don’t come back until you believe me. There’s no skirting around the FBI’s belief that Dad is the Gemini Thief or his laissez-faire attitude, so I lay it all out on the table with the ketchup and grease.

When I finish, Constance says, “You’ve all been through quite a trauma.” She lifts her purse from the floor and rifles the contents. “My sister—she was at service this morning—brought this.” The newspaper falls open. The Lexington Herald-Leader headline: “Suspect Arrested in Gemini Thief Case.” Dad’s named in the caption.

“So that’s why you said you knew.”

“I expected the police or the FBI. Not Don’s daughter. I didn’t even know he had a daughter.”

Tank and Nick lock their arms around my chair. I say, “I didn’t know he had a first wife.” My throat constricts as I ask what I came to ask. “Do you know anything . . . anything that might help make sense of this?”

Constance places her elbows on the table and steeples her hands. “I haven’t seen your dad in two decades.”

Three times I start to phrase a question but am a stuttering mess before Gladys steps in. “Can you tell us why you guys didn’t work out?”

Constance folds the corner of her Whopper wrapper and shifts the newspaper into her purse. “He left on a Tuesday.” She says on a Tuesday as if no time has elapsed between the memory and today. “When you’re eighteen, love is starlight in your pocket. For some people starlight’s a gift, and for others it’s a fire that needs putting out.” Constance watches a toddler in an adjacent booth make gooey eyes at Nick. She smiles at the flirting child and her voice—flat and factual—doesn’t match the expression. “I’m sure there are two sides to every marriage, every divorce, but Don was never happy once the rings were on.”

I don’t know Constance, not really, but she’s handling this painful situation with far more grace than Dad deserves. Nick must agree. He reaches across the table, palm up, and Constance takes his extended hand with grateful, teary eyes. “Thank you. What a silly thing that this still makes me weepy.”

Nick keeps her hand and takes advantage of the moment. “This is awkward, but would you trust me, us, enough to share something personal? I’d like to know if Don was ever violent or if he ever did anything that made you afraid or nervous?” Nick pauses, but not long enough to let her speak. “You understand why we’re asking?” There’s a glance at me. “Thea lives with him and . . .”

“I was never afraid.” A but lingers in the air. I have no sooner thought this than Constance says, “His ability to disengage was alarming. There were always two Dons.”

“Two Dons?” I ask.

She retracts her hand from Nick’s with a pat, wads the wrapper with half her burger inside, and pushes the greasy lump to the edge of her tray. “Oh yes,” she says. “The Don who loved me dearly and the Don who left me washing his clothes in the coin laundry while he filed for divorce without a word of warning.” She’s back in that laundromat, jabbing quarters through slots and slinging wet boxers from washer to dryer.

I’ve torn a scab by visiting.

“I’m sorry,” she says, and I tell her she doesn’t owe me an apology. “But, Thea, our divorce doesn’t make him what the FBI or media suggest he is. I’ll tell you what I’ll tell them too. There was nothing, and I mean nothing, in your father’s character that suggested he had the capacity to murder or injure a six-year-old boy. We even volunteered together at a daycare, and he was always great with kids. I mean, you must know that, right?”

Dad’s fine and all, but I wouldn’t say great. More evidence she knew a different Don than I do.

Constance says, “A man can be capable of the lies and deception you’ve described—the castle, the money, Aulus’s help—and be incapable of murder. I’m not sure what you want to hear, but if he says he didn’t do this, I’d believe him.”

Tank exhales, says, “That’s generous of you under the circumstances.”

“Well, he’d have had to change everything about himself, and I don’t see that in the cards.”

This would be more reassuring if she’d seen Dad once in the last twenty years.

“Can you make any sense of the castle?” I ask.

Her eyes drift in the direction of her Dollar General church building. “Don was always compulsive about something. Once it was God, then it was me, then it was not me. I guess now it’s a castle.”

“Crazy compulsive?” Nick asks.

Tank’s shaking his head and starts to protest the question when Constance cuts him off. “Depends on your definition of crazy. Is crazy inherently bad? Does life require a little crazy?” She pauses. “I mean, what do you call a man who hikes Everest? Insane or daring?”

We give honest nods, but what do we know? I came here for a straight answer: Do you think my dad is a murderer? She doesn’t. Even though I like her very much, I don’t want a lecture on the nuances of crazy.

Constance reads my body language perfectly. “I won’t go on and on,” she says. “But if you asked everyone I left behind to follow my dream . . . they might call me crazy. You meet Noah after the flood, you think, That brave, faith-filled, visionary man. You meet him before and you’re like, What a nut job. Perspective and timing matter. Sometimes you have to accept that you might not be able to see the truth from here.”

“I’m scared of the truth,” I say.

Constance doesn’t have sleek answers for my frustration. “You have more what-ifs than you deserve. No one can tell you what to do or believe, least of all me.” She collects our trays, stacks them, and organizes the trash. I can almost see her thinking that she needs to right something for us, and this is all she has.

After she returns from the garbage bin, she says, “I have a box of photos from those days. Not much of an offering, but they’re yours if you want.”
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Constance drops the dusty cardboard box in the trunk, lifts the lid, and gives us a peek. The box is chockablock full, photos and papers crammed and bent, spilling out like puppies released from a kennel. All the way home, they bark to our curiosity.

Tank surprises us when he says, “Nick’s hauling all boxed materials to his dorm and none of us are perusing them tonight.” He holds Nick in place, a verbal knife pressed to the neck. “Not even you. Go do whatever you do when you’re not doing this.”

I argue we’re wasting time and Nick agrees with Tank. “Nothing in that box is getting Don out tonight.”

Tank adds, “Nothing in that box is getting him out period. Those are context clues, and this has been a long day. Everybody go watch a movie, read a book, do something happy, whatever you want. But not this.”

I don’t have the energy to argue. I don’t have the energy to find another version of my father, another layer of silt that muddies the waters.

In Bowling Green, Nick squeezes my wrist before gathering his study cards from the floorboard and climbing out of the car. We smile at each other, not brightly, a simple upward turn of lips. I hope my goodbye nod means Thank you the way his means I’m here if you need me. Nodding can be the whole dictionary if you know the person.

Tank pops the trunk and helps Nick baby the banker’s box into his arms. Gladys doesn’t pull away from the curb until Nick’s inside his building. “Fifty bucks says he goes through that stuff tonight. I sure would.” No one takes her bet.

We drop off Tank next, again waiting until he is safely inside his car to pull away. We live in a strange world where women walk men to their vehicles, where we are worried their safety might be compromised before our own. I recline the seat to a horizontal position and close my eyes.

“You don’t think my dad did this, do you?”

“Nope.”

“What makes you so sure?”

Gladys answers by driving straight to the Walmart parking lot. “Cookie dough,” she says conclusively.

I’m not one to argue with sugar or calories, so we leave the store with cookie dough, cookie dough ice cream, and a tub of mini-brownies stuffed with cookie dough bites. Back at her house, I take a shower and fall into bed, too tired to gorge on our splendors. She lies next to me, licking the end of the sweet doughy sleeve and rubbing my back until I fall asleep. I dream of Noah building a castle to save the world; he takes two boys of every age over the drawbridge. “For my collection,” he tells the dove on his shoulder.

Gladys shakes me awake. “Thea. School.”

My ability to forget something I’ve done nearly every day for twelve years is remarkable. Funny thing is, I loved high school before Aulus disappeared. I made outfit charts, study guides, and snazzy planners. Long, luscious hours were dedicated to test anxiety and interpersonal issues. “If Connie Waymack doesn’t understand she can’t be in charge of prom after that homecoming fiasco, then Richard needs to check in with Sam, who will have to tell Corey, who tells everything to Rachel, Connie’s best friend, that no one can handle fishhooks as prom favors.”

Those things might not matter in twenty years, but they aren’t inconsequential either. I should be as up-in-arms as the next girl about the administration saying we have to wear heels with our caps and gowns, but caring about graduation is like asking me to be worried about plant life on Mars. Can’t Elon Musk do that? Can’t Connie Waymack keep Wildwood High School running smoothly? Well, she’s going to have to.

Gladys and I dress, sharing the bathroom and mirror like soldiers prepping for war. When she’s fully armed, she doubles back and helps me. Her fingers loosen the curls on my neck, she applies necessary bobby pins, and then she leans back to appraise her work. “You look beautiful, hon.”

I used to believe beauty was its own armor and beautiful people floated above bad circumstances. What a lie! Gladys is gorgeous. Aulus was beautiful too. My cousin had cherry-tinted lips that stretched from here into next year when he smiled. When we were little things and I didn’t know you couldn’t marry your cousin, I was enamored with his mouth. I’d trace a finger over the upper ridge and he’d nip me like a cat and I’d jump and we’d laugh. He spit in my cereal once and didn’t tell me until after I’d eaten the whole bowl; that highlighted stupid boy cousin in an important way. Funny thing is, both memories can make me laugh or cry.

I grab my backpack and Gladys shoves a power bar and a glass of orange juice at me. “You ready?”

“No,” I say.

We fetch Tank, who’s clearly anxious. He smokes three and a half cigarettes between his house and school. He turns the filter of the last one toward me, knowing I’ll refuse. “You ready?” he asks again.

“No,” I say again.

Tank and Gladys flank me when I get out of the car. Today we’re battling headlines: “Local Man Arrested as Potential Gemini Thief”; “Body of Kidnapped Boy Sparks New Arrests”; “Three Boys Still Missing in Gemini Thief Case: Local Tax Agent Questioned.”

Dana is quoted in most of the articles.


Dana Jones, a lead investigator for the federal case against the (media titled) Gemini Thief, states, “Sadistic and predatory crimes against children have been committed over the last ten years. The person or persons responsible is someone of incredible ego and means. Today’s arrest is an important development in bringing the missing boys home alive and these heinous crimes to justice.”



Color photos of my house are splashed across the front page of newspapers all over the country. Follow-up images of Dad on page five are aptly captioned: “Wildwood accountant Don Delacroix escorted by FBI into Bowling Green, KY, police station for federal questioning.”

Last August, the first day of school without Aulus, Gladys, Tank, and I built a triangle formation we haven’t broken in a year. People sputtered how very sorry they were and shared accounts of the last time they saw Aulus. We were the watercooler everyone gathered around, the delta of Aulus McClaghen.

We are barely inside when Principal Markum says, “Thea, a word.” To Tank and Gladys she says, “Mr. Piper, Ms. Baxter, please see yourselves to the library. Ms. Delacroix will join you when we’re finished.” Mrs. Markum exerts a force on every room she enters, and here in her natural territory, using her I eat raw meat for breakfast tone, she is nothing less than a lioness.

“I’ll be right there,” I say to Gladys.

Regina Markum has forgettable eyes, slight buck teeth, and fine lines around her mouth that suggest she spends a percentage of her life smiling, though not at us, and certainly not at school. Her hair’s more pruned than fixed; trimmed and rounded like the boxwood bushes out front. Every day she wears a silver cross on a silver chain. Currently, the chain’s in her mouth and I take that to be a bad sign. Aulus used to say, If Markum’s chewing on Jesus, she’s about to chew you out.

I follow her through the inner sanctuary of offices to a private meeting room and sit when she points at a hardback chair. She leans on a blue armchair opposite me. The cross falls from her lips and bounces against her twinset lavender sweater. “How are you, Thea?”

Not the question I expect.

“Fine.”

Mrs. Markum crosses the room and perches on the edge of my chair, uncomfortably close. “I’ve spoken with the administration,” she says, “and we want to make this as easy for you as we can. Get you over the finish line of graduation.”

“Uh, thank you,” I say, when I’m really thinking, Why? As high school is quite inconsequential at the moment.

She pats my knee, puts her coffee-and-Altoid breath near my nose. I can’t tell if she’s fishing for details or feeling compassionate. “This all feels very unbelievable to me. First Aulus, and now . . . Well . . . Come straight to me if anyone bullies you or says anything about your father. We consider Don a dear friend.”

Dad rarely mentions the Markums. He does their taxes; we don’t barbecue with them.

“Mrs. Markum, people are going to say stuff.”

“I won’t tolerate you being mistreated. Not in my school. Not when your father is—” She leans against the wall to straighten the curve of her back. Strange energy bubbles in the silence between us—like she knows something and can’t say what. “Promise you’ll come to me if you need anything. Your dad and I go way back and none of this is fair.”

Maybe Mrs. Markum was married to him too, I think.

“Sure,” I say.

“You have a place to stay?”

“The Baxters. And the Holtzes. Uncle Warren.”

She leans in conspiratorially. “You’re not staying out at the castle?”

“No.” Why would I be?

“I wasn’t sure if there was running water. Or”—a slight rise in her voice—“electricity?”

“Generators,” I say.

Mrs. Markum takes the cross between her teeth again. Her lips are cracked and a tiny bead of blood appears. “This is a little indelicate, but I’m going to come right out and say it. Times like these can be a financial burden. So if your father wants to sell the castle and land to cover legal fees or . . . to maybe start over somewhere else after you graduate, Kevin, er, Mr. Markum and I are interested in taking it off your hands.” She pats my knee again. “But only if it’ll help. We’re here to help you.”

I swallow my shock. I give a nod that is less than robust and she says, “You understand, Ms. Delacroix?”

“Yes, ma’am.”

“Good.” She flings her hand in the direction of the hallway. “Oh, and I’ve emailed your teachers. Asked them to excuse any finals that won’t help your grade.”

I stand, unsure if I’m allowed to leave. Nearly. She wedges me into a damp-pit hug that makes us both visibly uncomfortable.

I slink away to the library, unsure of what just happened.

[image: image]

At 3:05, Gladys, Tank, and I leave the library, where I’ve spent the day googling my father, and discover Nick lounging in his car. He pops his head out the window like a gopher. “Hey! Can I borrow you for a couple hours?”

I’m sure this invitation has to do with that banker’s box he was not supposed to go through last night. Tank and Gladys exchange a look before Gladys tucks a lock of hair behind my ear. “See you soon,” she says. Tank looks at Nick and takes a long drag of his cigarette, then slides into her front seat. He doesn’t remind Nick to treat me like bone china, but we all translate the glare.

I get in and Nick starts the car. “Where are we going?”

“Depends.”

“On what?”

“On what kind of day you had.”

“Let’s go with . . . strange.” I tell him about my No finals and do I want to sell the castle and spend from now until graduation in the library? encounter with Regina Markum and then ask, “How was your test?”

“Easy.” He jumps back to me. “Has your principal ever been out there?”

“Not that I know of.”

“That is strange. And you didn’t know they were old friends?”

“Not really. But I wouldn’t call myself super informed on the relationships of Don Delacroix.” Nick suppresses a laugh. “I’m guessing you had a strange day too?” I ask.

“Yep.” I expect he has news about Dad’s arraignment, knowledge of whether bail was set or denied. The first hearing was today. “I’m up for it,” I say, and then immediately wonder if I am.

Nick passes me a square 35mm photo that shows four men standing in a row, arms slung bro-style around each other’s bare shoulders. Their swimming trunks gleam with water and harsh sunlight. Presumably, they’re twenty to twenty-five, given their lean, muscled bodies. There is only one place for my eyes to go: each man wears a dark gray welding helmet.

“Yep,” Nick says when I gasp.

He flips the picture over, taps the smudged lines of purple ballpoint ink:

Don’s Guys ’89

Post WW Bridge Restoration
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Junior year, signs around town boasted, “Wear a costume to Town Block Party, get free stuff.” Gladys and I bought four overlarge plastic horse heads at Family Dollar and headed down to the square, dragging Aulus and Tank along. Some yearbook committee girl snapped a photo of us and gave it to Aulus, who gave it to me in a frame. “I can’t tell who is who,” he’d said, laughing. Something about the light and shadows and horse heads blurred us into an androgynous lump.

This photo is a lump of welders.

“Head to the community center,” I say.

“Should we call Constance? See if she remembers who these men are?” Nick asks.

“Griff’s closer.”

After-school traffic is in full swing. Traffic cops in yellow vests empty the elementary pick-up line. Since we’re stopped, Nick points at the handwriting on the back of the photo. “Don’s Guys. Doesn’t say Don. Can you tell if—”

“—one of them is my father? No, I wish.”

We’re eleven traffic lights from the community center. More than enough time to imagine Aulus staring at his captor’s welding mask. I often superimpose survivor testimonies to conjure Aulus’s life with Welder. For instance, the dumbwaiter’s chain rattles and brings him to a panel in the wall. Rufus and Zared are there beside him. The tiny elevator opens on twenty-four neatly stacked cans of soup and a message from Welder.

I’m coming to talk.

The boys welcome these meetings; they’ve learned not to fear them.

From the bunker descriptions, I know there’s a sliding steel door on an electrical track Welder controls. When open, a heavy Plexiglas barrier separates the captives from the nondescript room. The boys assume this boundary doubles as a door, though they’ve never seen it open.

Twice a month or so—time moves uncertainly—Welder announces his arrival and sits on the other side of the Plexiglas, taking time to examine injuries and entertain concerns or requests. The boys are asked if they have all they need. Are there special items they require? Things they miss terribly? Small wishes are often granted and Welder delivers gifts and requests to the June Boys. Comic books. A beloved song piped into the bunker on repeat. Soft sweatshirts. Toenail clippers. Cheetos, the puffy kind. A single Tylenol for a headache. These items arrive via dumbwaiter several days after they’re requested.

I play this home movie against the photo in my lap and am struck by how Aulus could have been abducted and imprisoned by his uncle and have no idea. Dozens of survivor accounts, dozens of descriptions of Welder—all the same—and they’ve never shed light on the perpetrator. Welder is Welder. Little more than a ghost on the other side of the glass.

Potholes in the community center parking lot jolt me back to the present. “Look at this photo,” I say. “Nick, he could be Welder.” That fact feels less fiction now. Was Dad working me up, playing on my sympathy, when he said, “Honey, don’t forget what you already know. That’s what’s true. Not all this.” My gut twists. This photo extinguishes eighteen years of known life. Thank God Principal Markum offered to buy the castle. I’ll need to change my name and disappear, and that takes serious cash.

“Don’t jump to worst-case scenario yet,” Nick warns as he cuts the engine.

I tap the welding helmets in the photo as if to say, Can you really argue this is coincidental?

Threatening rain clouds dull the afternoon heat. Kids empty off a bus and run squealing toward the WCC playground. Through the window, my godfather leans over the counter dividing his attention between the kids and a magazine. Leah, one of his faithful workers and my favorite coworker from before, dispatches to the playground. Meanwhile, Ruby stands at the hydration station pouring Kool-Aid into Styrofoam cups.

Nick pauses, knob in hand, on the street side of the door. “You trust him? Because we can’t show him this if you—”

“Completely.”

Face scarlet and frustrated, Griff waves us toward him. “Thea, we’ll get him out. Don’t be discouraged by the arraignment.”

“We’re not here about the arraignment.”

Griff raises his bifocals to his forehead. “I assumed you were in court today,” he says to Nick.

Nick shoves his hands in his pockets. “I wish. Test.”

“Well, the lawyer called and the news wasn’t great. The judge believes there’s a flight risk—”

“Someone should tell that judge my dad can’t put his castle in a suitcase so—”

Griff holds up a hand in understanding. “Maybe he thinks Don will hurt the boys if there’s any chance he’s out on bail, or maybe they want to deal if he tells them where the kids are. Either way, they kept him.” He turns the magazine over and it’s not a magazine at all; it’s a phone book. He’s reading legal ads. At least I’m not alone in this hell.

Griff closes the book, shifting his focus to the kids outside. Their voices pitch slightly higher as Leah yells over the thunder, “Inside. Time to go inside.” The after-school program runs Monday, Wednesday, and Friday and if I don’t ask now, I’m four hours away from Griff’s full attention. I place the photo on the counter. “Tell me about this.”

Griff lifts the print tenderly and lowers his bifocals, absorbing each detail. He thumbs the faces of the four men before flipping over the photo to read the description. He asks, “Where’d this come from?”

“Found it in some of Dad’s old stuff.” I’m not proud of the lie, but it’s for Griff’s own protection. He’ll feel terrible if he thinks he sent me off on a journey to meet Constance in the middle of this stuff with Dad.

Griff flips the image several more times. “Out at the castle?”

“Do you know who these men are?” Nick asks.

Kids, shoulders wet with rain, flood through the door and flock to the snack table. “Hi, Mr. Holtz,” one yells. “Hello, Daniel,” Griff replies, watching with pride before bringing his eyes back to the photo. He points out the man on the far left. “Uh, well, that’s Don.” Slides his finger over. “And Kevin Markum. Warren’s beside him. And this last one is Scottie McClaghen.” He removes the bifocals and huffs on the lenses. He polishes each two times before resituating them in his pocket. He works his hands like they’re cold. “The four of them did welding work for Wildwood after a barge ran into one of the pylons of the Old Scottsville Bridge.”

Nick scribbles the names under Constance’s handwriting. “You’re sure?”

Ruby’s still at the Kool-Aid station, filling cups, and Griff’s staring at her or somewhere past her with huge owl eyes. There’s no doubt why he’s rattled. Any connection to welding equipment can’t be good for Dad. Ruby seems to realize Griff needs her. She hustles over and tucks an arm around him. He points to the men for her benefit. “Don. Kevin. Warren. Scottie.”

“Hmm.” She is hollow, hollower, hollowest. “Yes, that’s right.”

I contemplate the men. Kevin Markum, Principal Markum’s husband. Teaches shop in the vocational school. Always beside his wife at football games, wearing his purple-and-yellow Wildwood attire.

Officer Warren Burton. My “favorite uncle,” when he’s bragging to Griff and Ruby. Unmarried. Steadfast. Addicted to his job. Scottie McClaghen. I sink my teeth into my lip. Scottie and Don, the brother kind of cousins. Is it possible they did this together? Is it possible that no one can identify Welder because Welder isn’t one man but two? When I add Scottie, this scenario almost makes sense. Dad would lie for him. Once, I asked Dad how he and Scottie could be so close and so different. “We’re not as different as you think,” Dad told me.

“You’re sure?” Nick asks Griff.

“I hired them,” Griff says. “Back in my planning and zoning days. The city needed welders and I wanted to toss some work their way and a few extra dollars in their bank accounts. Listen, Thea, this photo—”

“Griff, what do I do?”

Ruby pantomimes tearing paper. Griff seizes up the way he did in the car when he mentioned Constance. “If you love your father, destroy that photo. For all of us.”
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We’ve mounted an extensive internet search for Scottie McClaghen that’s yielded nothing. No white pages. No social media. No links. Considering our diminishing leads, my latest idea is to put the Don’s Guys photo in front of other kidnapping survivors.

Griff knew who was who all these years later. That got me thinking, William or Richard or Kyle or Joseph or Sean or any boy who came before Aulus might know too. Is it really that masochistic to point to the man on the far left and ask, “Did this man take you?” and long to hear, “Nope. My kidnapper was too big, too small, too hairy, too weak, too young, too old, too anything to be your dad.” I imagine tapping the photo of Scottie. “And him? Recognize him?” They’ll say yes.

Far-fetched? Sure, but that’s where we are.

I’m arguing the approach with Nick, Gladys, and Tank.

We’re in the WCC cave and for various reasons, they’ve constructed two options: hand over the image to Dana or burn it with Tank’s lighter and then admit to Dana that we’re stupid. I’m in agreement that one or the other has to happen, but not until we’ve used the photo for more information.

“You could further traumatize victims,” Gladys says, eyebrows raised. “I’m all for drastic measures, but you really want to risk that?”

Tank twirls his cigarette in concurrence. “And,” he says, “there’s no way kids are going to recognize Welder from a twenty-year-old photo.” Nick agrees with Tank and maintains I, in particular, should not publicly insert myself into the investigation.

“You’re the daughter of the prime suspect. Nothing good will come from other victims’ families laying eyes on you.”

I hold in the building scream: I am a victim’s family member!

The hallway fluorescent is loose or dying, and shadows bounce by on the concrete floor. I lower my voice like the mice are listening. “If I were formerly kidnapped by the Gemini Thief, you know what would help me sleep at night? Knowing the Feds had the right person. Guys, what if the real thief’s out there and no one’s looking for him?”

I’m getting somewhere with Nick, but Gladys’s and Tank’s expressions haven’t budged. “Look, they’re free and Aulus isn’t.” Tank loosens the grip on his biceps. Gladys chews her bottom lip. “If any one of them were still being held, wouldn’t they want someone to help get them home? ’Cause if there’s a world where Dad or Scottie or Dad and Scottie did this, I want someone feeding the June Boys while he’s in jail.”

Nick says, “Dana will never, and I mean never, give you access to the survivors.”

That settled the topic for them. I did let the idea drop until Friday night because Nick spent the week on a cumbersome class project that’s a huge percentage of his grade, while Tank and Gladys were embroiled in mandatory graduation activities.

Meanwhile, something between numbness and anger feasted on me. I can’t go anywhere in this town without inducing hushed voices and pointing. School’s no better. Four days without showering, sleeping, or food wasn’t my cleverest idea to win friends and allies. I was downright ugly to Gladys’s neighbor. “I can hear you,” I all but shouted through the rosebush vines, which, no joke, she hired me four years ago to plant.

Now the four of us are back together, and that’s comforting in a way I can’t adequately describe.

Nick dances his milkshake across the table and into my hand. “Drink up, Delacroix.” I lower my mouth to the straw to appease him. “I see you avoiding food and I don’t approve.”

“Good luck,” Gladys says. “I’ve tried everything.”

“I’m not hungry.”

“You’re not anything anymore,” she says, rolling her eyes.

Rex’s Café runs a bottomless special after eight p.m. and this is their second go-round of fries. Tank lifts a finger to the waitress indicating we’d like a third and she can put the whole plate in front of me. The waitress, no doubt calculating her shrinking tips with each hour we spend in her section, smiles weakly and heads to the kitchen. I group three limp fries and submerge them in ketchup. “Dana never has to know I talked to the victims,” I say.

“Dana’s team checks in with the families regularly,” Nick says. “What are the chances they don’t mention Don Delacroix’s daughter paid a visit?”

I recycle the old point: “If this isn’t our next step, what is? Aulus is running out of time.”

No one argues.

Dad’s running out of time too. He’s been arraigned and remains in jail without hope of bail. His lawyer has no positive comments on the impending trial, seven weeks away. Seven weeks. Which falls one week beyond the June 30th deadline when Aulus should be released—if the Gemini Thief follows protocol.

Assuming the Gemini Thief isn’t Don Delacroix.

Nick and Dana believe the government’s case is fundamentally weak. They’ve pinned charges to matching DNA evidence from Chris to Dad, and the results aren’t in yet. The other evidence—the key chain, the Baxter convenience store time-stamped video, and Dad’s self-admittance to being with Aulus on the day he disappeared—is circumstantial when turned one direction and damning turned another.

The pressure mounts when you start adding circumstantial evidence to Dad’s flexible schedule to a 2001 interview pulled from the Daily News archives where he answered questions from a local DCS worker. “I’ve done taxes for couples having a third child just to get a tax credit. If you ask me, those children should be removed from the home. Kids aren’t tax credits.”

There’s drummed-up speculation, based on that quote, that Don Delacroix is building a secret castle out of some rich-white-guy-misplaced-vigilante complex. A cartoon in the Washington Post showed a man and castle with the caption: “Don 3:16: Let the little children come to my dungeon.” I’d believe the hype if this were happening across the country from my life.

“There has to be a way,” I say.

“There isn’t.” Nick’s eyes glitch. “Well, you can’t interview a survivor, but . . . you might be able to watch a survivor being interviewed. That doesn’t help with the photo, but it would give us new information.”

There are tapes, he explains. Each survivor was questioned immediately after doctors and psychologists cleared them, mostly in early July of their corresponding release years. Dana took home some of the footage to watch and study. She’s referenced this a few times, and Nick has a key to her place.

“I’m not saying I’m for this idea.” He leans over the table and takes a sip from my milkshake. “But it’s more likely to happen than tracking down some eleven-year-old and shoving this picture in his face.”

Tank hates the idea. Gladys takes one look at how gung-ho I am and says, “There’s my girl.”

Nick sinks his hand into the pile of unruly curls atop his head. “Okay, okay, we’ll try.”

It takes four additional days for all the schedules involved to gel.

Nick and I make the drive alone, in silence, taking old 31 instead of the interstate. Two people in Dana’s Nashville apartment are marginally safer than four, and we’ve chosen Wednesday night because Dana goes straight from work to the gym to small group. That gives us until 8:00 p.m.

“She isn’t supposed to bring casework home,” Nick says for the third time. At her door, key in the lock, he asks, “What’s our story if she catches us?”

I raise my shoulders. “Let’s not get caught.”

Dana lives in a two-bedroom the size of a small SUV. Her living room is dominated by a fifty-five-inch television and a sectional. There’s a slight Dana-size impression in the hunter green leather. She hasn’t spent time or money decorating. When I ask Nick about the lack of décor, he opens the spare bedroom door. Stacks of framed photos and artwork lean against the wall. “She hasn’t had time.”

There’s a desk in her bedroom. A second television is paused on an episode of 30 Rock. We agree not to rummage. We’re looking for DVDs or flash drives. When we don’t find them, we move on. I want to invade the FBI’s privacy, not Dana’s. I rifle through papers stacked on the floor and find an empty manila folder marked Gemini. Nick leaves me for the living room. I open Dana’s closet. Everything’s color coordinated, right to left, with a place for dresses I can’t imagine her wearing. There’s nothing related to the case. I wander toward the front and find Nick punching a button on the DVD player.

“Hand-labeled,” he says, hopeful.

“Hand-labeled what?” I ask and then shut up.

A seven-year-old boy in mesh shorts and a Celtics jersey overtakes the screen. Off-screen, a male voice says, “July 3rd, 2002. This interview is being conducted with kidnapping victim Corey Donahue. Present at the time of questioning: Jane Donahue, the minor’s mother, and myself, SA Mark Lipman.” SA Lipman steps into view of the camera and I immediately understand why he’s been chosen to speak with Corey. He’s young, about five foot five, and attractive in an Abercrombie way that makes him unassuming and approachable. I imagine him pulling on a hoodie after work and playing basketball at the Y.

Corey shrinks closer to his mother and Jane gestures at the door. “Corey doesn’t like to be with men in an enclosed room.”

Did she learn this during the hospital exam—one too many male doctors? Or is she assuming?

SA Lipman, who communicates vats of empathy in a single expression, assures Jane and then Corey of their safety. “I know you want to go home, little buddy,” he tells Corey, “and we’re working on getting you there.”

Corey lifts his eyes from the floor to his shoelaces. SA Lipman isn’t rattled by the silence. The agent slides crayons and typing paper toward the boy, keeping plenty of physical distance. Jane hovers, touching the striped T-shirt and the nape of her son’s neck. She looks terrified to blink.

SA Lipman scoots the crayons closer to Corey and asks for drawings of the room where he lived during the last year. Corey checks with Jane and she nods. “Can you, baby?” Big blue eyes blink a yes.

Next to me, I register movement. Nick’s trembling. Shuddering. “I . . .” I shake my head, let him know he doesn’t have to explain. We’re seeing the damage. We’re imagining Aulus, all the June Boys, and it’s a shark gnawing through our chests. For a precious second, we excuse ourselves from Corey’s inescapable sadness and address our own. Without a word, my hand finds Nick’s and we braid ourselves together against evil in the world.

On-screen, Corey chooses a green crayon to sketch. SA Lipman draws too. They’re building rapport. The camera picks up breathing and wax scratching white paper for the five minutes Corey draws. SA Lipman leans closer and the boy almost smiles.

“Will you tell me about this?” The question is tentative, giving Corey an out if talking is still too much.

Corey points. “Those are the shelves.”

“Good. And what is this colorful thing?”

“The train set.”

“Wow. You had a train set?”

Corey shows the camera his spectacular blue eyes and heavy lashes. “Welder gave us the train.”

“That was nice of Welder,” SA Lipman says without a hint of judgment.

Quiet anger ripples from Jane. SA Lipman throws her some Be cool. Let him talk above Corey’s head.

“Welder was nice,” Corey says.

“I’m very glad about that. What made Welder nice?” SA Lipman asks.

Corey taps the train set and then several other items he’s drawn. Explains they are his favorite foods. He adds happily, “And we didn’t take baths.”

“You liked that?”

Corey nods vigorously.

“Tell me about your train set. What made you choose green for the track? When I was a kid, my train tracks were the color of your skin.”

Corey vibrates. Something akin to joy bubbles up. “The bridge tracks glowed in the dark. So did the train wheels. Welder told us to put the bridge and train by the lamp and then we’d turn off the light together—”

A sound off-camera makes us jump. Nick hits Pause, ears strained toward the door. Someone is on the landing outside.

I’m bombarded with three fears at once. We are here uninvited. We’ve broken into an FBI agent’s apartment and viewed absconded evidence. I am the daughter of Don Delacroix.

Nick clicks off the television, places the remote in the basket, and gives me a terrified, silent What do we do? All our truth-telling plans swivel down the drain of good intentions.

Keys jangle.

Dana is seconds away from discovering us.

My eyes fall on Nick’s hand, still intertwined with mine. I have a single idea that might help. “You trust me?” I ask, with little understanding of whether I trust myself.

There’s a split-second answer. A breathed “Yes,” and I tug the two of us onto the soft green leather of Dana’s couch. We bump heads and almost laugh—probably would have laughed under any other circumstances. Here, we sigh, same as the cushions have sighed with our weight. We find ourselves body to body and Nick understands the plan. I take his face in my hands and stretch my heart toward him. Please don’t avoid my eyes, I think.

We haven’t kissed in days.

I can make up reasons why, but I know why, same as I know kissing now, under these circumstances, is terrible. I love him and I’m using him.

When you kiss someone with your eyes open, it’s like watching an opera. You don’t have to speak the language to understand the words. Instinct translates. Nick’s fear and apprehension, his hesitation—it’s alive and pumping before my mouth meets his.
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Nick and I have precious seconds before Dana opens the door. We need her to discover us in the act—but I can’t keep myself from speaking into his mouth. “Nick.” It’s more groan than word. More apology than invitation.

He pauses the kiss, pushing up on his right elbow so his body doesn’t trap mine. “Thee?” he asks, though I don’t know the question. The key turns and we hurry our mouths together. The ten-second soap opera ends with daylight smacking our faces and us squinting into the narrow, shadowed face of his sister.

Wicked fast, she lifts her gun.

Nick shields me. “Dana! It’s me. It’s Nick. It’s Nick.”

Dana slams the door so hard a glass lampshade on the other side of the room rattles. Gun holstered, anger loaded and cocked, she yells, “Nick! That’s a good way to get yourselves dead,” and tacks on a few expletives. “What are you doing here?”

Neither of us fakes embarrassment as we sit, twelve modest inches between our thighs. Don’t stare at the television. Don’t stare at the television.

“Uh . . .”

“Uh . . .”

“Explain,” Dana says. “Now!”

I jump to our defense. “This isn’t Nick’s fault. I made him bring me. I thought you might be able to help with Dad.” I stutter, searching for what to say as I’m talking. “But you . . . weren’t home . . . and Nick said—”

“We’d wait—”

“And we got distracted.”

“I’d say so.” Dana tosses her satchel on the floor and collapses into the corner recliner, toeing off her shoes before she kicks back into horizontal exhaustion. The skin around her eyes looks purple and puffy, begging the question of when she last slept. “You could have called. Warned me.”

“We’re sorry, Dane.”

I like when he calls her Dane. She does too. Her chastisement dulls to mere annoyance. “You should be. So have you eaten anything besides each other’s faces?”

Nick is scarlet-cheeked. “We haven’t.”

“And I can assume you’ve worked up an appetite?”

I’m too relieved to be embarrassed by Dana’s teasing jabs. Nick’s tennis shoe turns slightly toward my sandal, and I avoid facial expressions that indicate celebration or relief. We’re off the hook for breaking and entering and on the hook for a family dinner.

The Jones siblings settle on a quick and cheap Thai restaurant. Dana excuses herself to change and Nick rushes the interview DVD from the machine. His sister emerges seconds later in navy track pants, a white ribbed tank top, and a gray long-sleeve shirt tied around her waist. She looks ten years younger and I tell her so. As we head out the door she tells me this case makes her buy Oil of Olay in bulk. “Especially after today.”

“Something happen?” Nick asks.

She unlocks her SUV. “You’ll find out tomorrow.”

“Or . . . ,” Nick prompts. “We could find out now.”

Dana’s head bobs with indecision until we’re three blocks down the street. She looks sideways at me, smiling. “They’re releasing your dad.”

I can’t speak.

“DNA’s in. A no-go for him. The judge will cut Don loose. Probably tomorrow morning.”

What happens now? Is Dad completely cleared? Does she still believe he’s guilty? Did the DNA match anyone else? I hold my questions because we arrive at the restaurant. Dana greets the teenage hostess, Char, by name.

Char asks, “The usual?”

“Times three,” Dana says. “My brother, Nick. His girlfriend, Thea.” Don’t say my last name. Don’t say my last name.

It wouldn’t have mattered if my last name was Hitler or Stalin. Char places an expert hand on her Victoria Secret–shaped waist and says, “You’re the hotshot law student she always talks about?” To which Nick answers, “Trying to be,” and then they stare at each other the way two symmetrically beautiful single people do.

I should be jealous. I’m too happy about Dad.

When we pick a booth, Nick slides in next to Dana. She orders for the table, not even checking to see if we’re okay with her selections. I’m relieved. I can’t pronounce half the menu. Nick waits until Char retreats to the kitchen before he nudges Dana with his elbow. “What else can you tell us about the DNA?”

“Nothing.” There’s zero budge in her voice.

Nick tries again. “What else will you tell us about Thea’s dad?”

“Well.” Dana takes a long sip of water. “Neither I nor the system know if Don Delacroix is the Gemini Thief. The system believes the current evidence is insufficient to convict. So”—she cuts her eyes at me with a piercing seriousness—“releasing him doesn’t mean you should lower your guard, Thea. They’re looking for another reason to hold him.”

“What’s your gut say, sis?”

“That he fits the profile.”

Nick isn’t satisfied with Dana’s hesitation. “But?”

“Don never gives me the heebies. That’s not a good reason to acquit, but the perp on this one”—she adjusts her bra strap, pops her neck with a half turn—“when I meet him, he’s going to make the skin crawl away from my bones. Your dad’s aloof, maybe even a few degrees off, but more in a religious nut, technically harmless way. Not an I’ve collected prepubescent boys in my basement way. No matter which direction I turn Don’s edges, he’s a piece of this puzzle, not the piece. That’s a theory, though. Don’t quote me.”

“Have you considered that someone set him up?” I ask.

“I’ve considered everything. Can you suggest someone who would?” Dana threads her knife in and out each fork tine. “Because your dad certainly can’t. Or won’t. I’ve asked him to give me another suspect. And nada, nothing. He stares at the wall and asks what happens to his castle if he has to stay here much longer. He’s like a child in the toy aisle. Sorry,” she says, as though this is somehow more offensive than my father being a kidnapping murderer. “The man is a pain in the—”

“Mine too,” I say. Dana Jones and I share a moment because against her better judgment she likes my father.

“Does he have any enemies?” Dana asks.

“Other than my mother? I don’t think so.”

Dana stops fiddling with the silverware. “Constance O’Brien? The first wife?”

Nick flashes an unnecessary apology. “She might know someone.”

I say, “If my dad made enemies, they came from that period of his life. People in Wildwood like him.” I stare at the scarred tabletop. “Well, they did. A successful tax business requires trust.”

Dana tells us the FBI interviewed Constance and she provided nothing helpful. Dana goes on to share another nugget of important news: none of the victims identified Dad in a lineup.

“That doesn’t mean much,” I say aloud without realizing I am thinking about the welding photo. Nick winds his leg around mine. An unspoken warning. Tread carefully.

“Such a nightmare,” Dana says, her eyes landing on me for a long, searching moment. “I can’t imagine how hard this is. Are you talking to someone? A counselor? Your pastor?”

I shake my head.

“Promise me you’ll think about it. Because as good a listener as my brother is, he’s not a professional.”

I want to tell her Nick’s friendship has probably saved my life, but Char appears, tray piled with steaming dishes and spices on her shoulder. “Roy sends his appreciation,” she says cheerfully.

“You outdid yourself, Roy,” Dana calls loud enough for the cook to raise a hand and wave off the praise.

How Dana stays the size of an uncooked spaghetti noodle when she eats this many carbs is a mystery. “Eat up. It’s on me. Least I can do,” she adds, as though food is an acceptable form of therapy. She pours curry chicken over white rice and mounds on red pepper flakes.

I consider the heart of Dana Jones.

She’s as fiery as her red-speckled noodles. She didn’t advance her position at the FBI without being great at her job, and she didn’t get those massive purple eye bags by not caring. Below the all-business veneer, she’s a warm, goofy sister, who is currently claiming Nick will cry for milk if he tries the green sauce. It’s this, not her credentials, that makes me like her.

I wind flat noodles around my fork and make a decision I’ll probably regret. “Show her the welding photo,” I say.

Nick, who’s pouring the noted green sauce on the side of his plate, pauses, spilling it on the table.

Dana seizes my offering. “What welding photo?”

“Constance O’Brien gave us a box of Dad’s old stuff.”

“Thea, stop.” Nick’s voice is sharp.

Dana jabs her utensils in Nick’s direction. “You aren’t helping.” To me, she says, “Thea, start.”

Show her, I mouth.

Nick’s unsure if I mean what I’ve said. I address Dana. “If I show you something that could be good or bad, do I have your word you’ll help?” Shouldn’t I have done this all along?

Dana reaches for my hand. “I’ve been trying to help you from the get-go. You think I liked busting into your house and arresting your dad? That I liked not being able to warn either of you? Because that isn’t my idea of a good time. I want to find Aulus and the others as much as you.”

Nick flashes That’s definitely true eyes my way. Trust runs both ways with Nick. He’s kept my secrets and Dana’s. He’s known she likes my father but couldn’t say so without betraying her confidence. What a fine line to walk. It’s my turn to wrap my foot around Nick’s leg and assure him I understand the risk. I need him to know, need myself to know, I want the truth more than anything else. I say, “Show her.”

When he passes the flimsy square to his sister’s waiting hands, her mouth falls open. “Who?” She flips the photo and examines the names. “Aulus’s dad.” She reverses the photo again. “They look alike. You made a note in your research that I thought was really smart. You asked a question about the Nashville flood?”

Nick says, “Yeah, we thought the flood might have forced the Gemini Thief to change his venue.”

“Good theory. The autopsy said Chris Jenkins drowned. Lab confirmed a match. Rainwater. Along with silt from the Cumberland. That kid likely died in the Nashville flood.”

“What’s that have to do with Scottie McClaghen?”

“Well, his timeline’s a good match, and now, here he is in a welding mask.” She taps the photo. “Plus . . .” Her eyes drift up to the left, away from the table.

“Plus what?” I ask.

“Plus he and Leo Wittersham filed a co-insurance claim on a piece of property they own in Nashville. Got damaged by the flood. I wanted it searched, but we didn’t have enough evidence for a warrant. But this—this photo could prove probable cause.”

Blood rushes through my veins in wild rivers. “My dad’s in that photo,” I say. “Wearing a welding mask.”

“We’re releasing him.”

“You think that’ll still happen after you show a judge that picture?” Nick asks.

Dana shoves a massive bite into her mouth and talks around it. “Listen, you two need to keep trusting me. This is good news.”

“No.”

“I get that you’re scared, but you’re also smart enough to understand the only way to clear your father is for us to arrest the real Gemini Thief.”

“I’m also smart enough to understand you’ve been looking for the real thief for ten years and found nothing. You said the system is looking for more. That’s more,” I say, pointing at the photo.

Dana flinches. She hasn’t been on the case for ten years, but it has occupied the first five of her tenure at the Bureau. Five long years that have robbed color from her face and weight from her bones.

“Hard as this is,” she says, “I made a promise to honor the law, and this is me keeping that oath. And for one reason or another, you’re going to be glad I did.”
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Nick’s making the dumb mistake of trying to make me feel better, and I’m picturing the little heart Char drew on the receipt and slid in his direction. I’m at peak insecurity. I’ve betrayed my father, again, and I might lose my boyfriend. Here, Dana, take this incriminating photo. Here, Char, take Nick.

“Why are you being difficult?” Nick asks. “Your dad’s getting out tomorrow. I thought you’d be happy.” When I say nothing, he says, “You’re the one who showed Dana the photograph.” This is Nick’s I told you so. Before I can argue, he grabs my fist from the air and tugs my hand into his lap. “And you have good instincts. You told Dana because you could. Please trust that.”

I snatch my hand away. I am ready to eat him and he sees my nostrils flare, my teeth nice and pointy.

“Stop before you say something you don’t mean.”

“Something like Why is kissing me so hard lately? Don’t think your reputation can survive ‘dating the murderer’s daughter’?”

“There it is.”

I wrap my arms around my knees and tuck into a tight cannonball. “There what is?”

“Exactly what I expected to happen with you.”

“Which is?”

He shakes his head like he’s already said too much. I prod hard. “No, don’t stop now. Not when I need enlightenment. What did you expect to happen with me?”

“I expected you to retreat. To find your next big thing and for it not to be me.”

“Oh, please.” I give him the go-ahead gesture, unsure if I can hold my tongue. “Because my dad retreats?”

“I’m saying our relationship would confuse anyone. Anyone, Thee. I mean, come on, we met during a missing persons case. Neither of us has had answers or closure for a year. Every time I’m with you I wonder if this—you and me—would have happened if Aulus hadn’t disappeared. Do you like me or am I your latest project? Then I start thinking I’m one of those sad sacks who capitalize on hardships.” He lays his palms flat against the steering wheel, his fingers hyperextended with stress. “Oh, my best friend was kidnapped and his cousin is hot. Who does that? And then every time I’m in the group, the three of you look at me like I’m the replacement guy. I’m sorry I don’t write people letters or work part-time or stop going to college because Aulus disappeared.”

“Stop,” I say.

“Stop what? Feeling sorry for myself? Because don’t you think I’m telling myself the same thing?”

Tears spill onto my cheeks.

“I want you to want me,” he says. “I even, man, I’m not proud of this, find myself thinking that if we find Aulus, you’ll ditch me, and sometimes I don’t care if he—”

“Don’t say—”

“Doesn’t come back. So, see? You should dump me.”

“Nick, stop.”

We don’t say anything else until we reach Gladys’s house. Our hearts are no calmer. He levels his voice. “If your dad does come home tomorrow, you shouldn’t stay with him.”

“Nick—”

“Regardless of what you think of me right now, Tank would kill me if I didn’t warn you.” We both sigh-laugh. Nick’s 100 percent right. He says, “Think about it. And”—another deep sigh—“maybe prepare for the fact that not everyone in Wildwood will be ecstatic the FBI released him.”

I promise I will. We kiss each other on the cheek and stay touching until we’re both breathing regularly.

“I love you. For you,” I say, knowing there are things I need to address in myself, but love is not up for consideration. I do love Nick Jones. Even if Aulus never comes home.

Before Nick can comment, I leave the car and follow the hedges around Gladys’s house. I crouch on the sidewalk, the weeds tickling my bare ankles, and my exhaustion falls out in a sob.

A chair skids against the decking boards. A face appears. “That you, Thea?” Gladys calls.

I wipe my eyes. “It’s me.”

“Things go okay at Dana’s?” When I make an ambiguous gesture with my hands, she says, “That’s what I figured.” I climb the steps and sag against her on the chaise lounge. “Things go okay here?”

“Not exactly.” She lays her head all the way back and stares at the stars.

“Need to talk?” I ask, even though neither of us has the stamina.

“Not really. Buddy?” she says.

“Yeah.”

“Will you hold me for a second?”

I curl my body across Gladys’s lap, wrap my arms around her; she wraps hers around me. Her tears are flowing freely and everything from this evening swells into a planetary-size lump in my throat. We lie there, sad and angry, lonely and worried, holding and helping. Before the end, I lay my hand across her sternum, feel her furiously beautiful heart, and say, “Love you, friend.”

“Love you back.”

Sometimes a moment is exactly what it’s supposed to be. Sometimes it’s more. I am thinking about the question she asked—Will you hold me for a second?—the ease with which she asked for help and the ease with which I not only could do what she asked, but also needed what she asked for. I hope no one ever tells Gladys about basements and keys.

The kitchen light flicks on. Her dad’s face stretches into various silly expressions on the other side of the window. We giggle, he waves awkwardly, and the mood turns decidedly lighter.

“Want some good news?” I ask when he leaves us for the refrigerator.

“Please.”

“DNA on Chris didn’t match Dad. Dana says they might release him tomorrow.”

Gladys squeezes me. “That’s great.” She eyes the kitchen, mouth twisted in a scowl. “Will you be staying at your house then?”

Something clicks. Nick’s warning, Not everyone in Wildwood will be ecstatic. “Your folks . . . They don’t like people to see me here, do they?”

Gladys teases out a wisp of my hair. “I’m sure it’s not permanent.”

“I get it,” I say, but I can’t sleep here. “Hey, will you take me to Griff and Ruby’s?”

“Now?”

“Yeah. I want to tell them about Dad in person since they’re footing the legal bills. And maybe I’ll stay over there.”

“Hon, you’re welcome here tonight. You saw my dad making faces at us. He’s fine.”

He’s fine because it’s dark. “I know.”

“Do you?”

“He’s my father, Glads.”

“And they’re my parents.” She adds, “They’ll come around. It took them a while to warm up to Tank, but they did.”

“Gladys, I love you, but you dating a black guy is very different from my father being a murderer.”

She rolls her eyes. “Not in the South.”

Point made. No one our parents’ age seems to get over anything quickly around here. “Touché,” I say.

“They’re good people. Time and truth will win out.”

But not tonight.

Gladys sticks out her arm and slides the door a few inches, pokes her head in, yells that she’s running me over to Griff’s. There’s some discussion of the late hour; I don’t stick around to watch Gladys win the skirmish. We drive in silence. Gladys turns into Griff’s driveway too fast and scrapes the bumper against the driveway. “Easy, Glads.”

“I’m sorry about my folks,” she says. “Want me to wait until you’re inside?”

Ruby appears at the front door slab, shielding her eyes against the streetlamp. “That you, Thea?”

I wave. “It’s me.” To Gladys I say, “See you in the morning,” before closing the passenger door.

Somewhat reluctantly, Gladys reverses the car. I face the house and Ruby, knowing the decision I’ve made isn’t perfect. I didn’t want to be at the Baxters’, but I also don’t have the energy to deal with the Holtzes’ love and attention. “Can I stay?” I ask.

“Get on in here,” Ruby says, her evening cup of tea in hand. I pass the honeysuckle that hedges the front walk and anticipate the interior smells of aloe, cinnamon, and overprotection. The familiarity works on me. One foot in front of the other, Delacroix. You made the right decision.

Ruby’s bulldog frame swallows me whole. She works the momthing: “You’re not eating enough. I have cookies. I can make you mac and cheese. We have a box of Kraft, right, Griff?”

Griff’s conformed to the couch for another episode of Ruby’s HGTV and shoots me a private eye roll of amusement. To his wife, he says, “Babe, it’s late. Thea’s probably already had something,” because she’ll have every pot and pan on the stove before Griff mutes the episode I’ve interrupted.

“I’m not hungry,” I say and ask to use the shower.

“Whatever you need, honey bear.”

Ruby pulled that nickname from decades-old rubble. I won’t be surprised if she’s laid pajamas on my bed while I shower. I should tell them about Dad’s potential release, but I don’t have the conversation in me right now. Ruby escorts me to the guest bath.

“Let me tidy up a few things.” She bundles makeup and hair products into her arms. “I got ready in here this morning. Sorry for the mess.”

“Don’t make anything perfect for me.”

She kisses my cheek. “You haven’t answered my texts.”

“Sorry.” Her texts are constant.

Tears settle in her crow’s feet. “You should live here.” She’s not asking.

Griff’s kind chastisement drifts down the hallway. “Honey, she’s staying with the Baxters. Leave her alone.”

Ruby sniffs and whispers conspiratorially, “Live here.”

I should thank her or something; instead, I disappear behind the bathroom door. Poor Ruby. Love bleeds out of her like an open wound.

I don’t wait for the water to warm. Cold streams onto my hair and neck and I relive the evening. A million years and three Thai plates ago, Nick and I stood in Dana’s living room watching scrawny little Corey sketch a train with his crayons. My mind traces the drawing, and as it does, I swing my watch face forward and backward around my arm, over and over. Like a train on a tiny wrist-size track. It feels familiar. Too familiar.

I squeeze my temples. Shove my nose to the orange Dial soap. Pick at the toenail polish on my big toes. The skin on my belly pinks because I never adjusted the hot water.

Something about that train won’t let me go.

Chugga, chugga, chug. Chugga, chugga, chug.

“Chugga, chugga, chug.” I speak the words, searching for the voice who first spoke them.

Mom?

No, I don’t remember her voice.

Dad?

No, too deep.

Deep.

The voice is very deep.

Chugga, chugga, chug. Chugga, chugga, chug.

Not Ruby.

Not Griff.

Not a teacher from school.

Chugga, chugga, chug.

It’s rougher.

It’s . . . it’s . . . Warren.

Even though my eyes are open, I am seeing the past instead of porcelain tile. Warren takes me by one hand and with the other lowers the pull-down steps leading to the attic. Together we climb the creaking, wobbling ladder into a room with a triangular ceiling. Warren slouches to avoid nails piercing the two-by-six boards.

“What are we doing?” I ask. Light filters through a vent in the wall. More light spins in circles on the floor from the whirling fan on the roof. I’m sweating.

“Treasure hunting.” Uncle Warren examines the contents of cardboard boxes until he finds one labeled Trains in faded Sharpie. “Here it is. And you know what?”

“What?”

“This train is awesome. Know why?”

“Nope.”

He pokes my belly like I’m the Pillsbury doughboy. “It glows in the dark.”

Warren knifes into the box and produces a train with green wheels. I imagine them lit like a Christmas tree.

Chugga, chugga, chug. Chugga, chugga, chug.

My train.

Corey’s train.
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Streaks of pastel blue paint mark the beige wall near the ceiling. Ruby missed a spot the last time she painted. The guest room’s overlarge digital clock ticks away the red minutes. Warren’s wooden train chugs on through the night. Every miniature imagined circuit, Corey’s drawing breathes its dragon breath on Uncle Warren. There’s no getting around the fact that ten years ago he dragged a cardboard box from his attic to the patio, and we set and reset glow-in-the-dark train tracks until bedtime forced us inside.

I search for rest or at least comfort and can’t escape the sheet’s mummy trappings. I can’t escape that stupid train.

During Dad’s and my two-week stay, the caboose—a bright alien green after exposure to the floor lamp—glowed and burned through dozens of AA batteries. I was too old for trains but young enough to stuff Warren’s affection into the massive hole left by Mom. He was so good to me. He is so good to me. I ask my brain to stretch Saran-like around Warren stealing Aulus, Warren wearing a welding helmet, Warren giving the train to Corey. Warren killing Chris.

I can’t.

On the surface, he’s a far worse candidate for the Gemini Thief than Dad.

He’s too . . . Too what?

Good with kids?

That catches like a mental thorn.

Corey’s face appears on the screen of my mind. Damaged, but mostly not afraid Welder would inflict physical harm. He liked Welder. Welder never made him shower. Welder gave him a train. Stockholm syndrome? Sure. But whoever the Thief is . . . he essentially borrows someone else’s children to feed and clothe for a year.

I don’t think my dad loves children that much. Despite Constance’s opinion, Mom leaving a six-year-old daughter in Dad’s care full-time was awkward for all parties involved. The first year he cut my bangs with the same kitchen scissors he used on raw chicken. When I needed a training bra, he shoved money at Mrs. Baxter like he was buying illicit drugs. While other kids were eating hummus and carrots, sliced apples, pretzel sticks and peanut butter from their lunch boxes, Dad sent Vienna sausages and Easy Cheese. He’s been waiting for me to grow up most of my life, which probably explains all the times we’ve eaten ice cream at midnight.

Warren would have kept me a little girl forever.

The first two years we lived in Wildwood, 90 percent of my tantrums ended in I’d rather live with Uncle Warren than you. Once, I overheard Dad telling Warren, Thea loves you more than me. Warren had wisely said, Uncles aren’t in charge of discipline. If I were her dad, she’d hate me too. And my dad said, I don’t know. I really don’t know.

Eventually I grew out of Warren and into Dad. Or maybe I stopped lashing out at him because I couldn’t reach Mom. That didn’t happen until I was, what, nine or ten? By the summer Dad opened the tax shop we were on solid ground. That was 2000.

I stare at the ceiling fan, the math clicking. The Gemini Thief took the first round of boys in June of 2000.

What’s the chance I grew out of Warren, but he didn’t grow out of parenting?

What’s the chance Dad wanted a boy instead of a girl?

The night folds around the horizon. Morning streams through the blinds. Knowing I do not want to be alone with my jumbled thoughts, I scroll through phone contacts. It’s too early to call Gladys or Tank. Nick wouldn’t mind if I woke him, but we’re in such a weird place . . . I spot Constance’s name and realize it’s six a.m. eastern time.

She answers in three rings. “This is Constance O’Brien.”

“This is Thea. Thea Delacroix.” Like an idiot, I add, “Don’s daughter.”

Hectic adrenaline rushes into her voice. I’ve scared her awake. “Thea? Are you okay?”

“I’m sorry I called so early. I shouldn’t—”

“Honey, are you in danger?”

“I’m safe. I . . .” Forming sentences proves difficult.

Now sure my life isn’t at risk, Constance rescues my silence. “No need to apologize. I’m making coffee. You take your time. I’ll listen. I’ll talk. Whatever you need.” She says this with the ease of someone who has been called many times by uncertain parishioners. On the other side of the phone, the coffee machine whirls and dribbles.

I say, “Dad’s getting out of jail today. DNA’s not a match.”

“And you’re feeling . . .” She leaves the response wide open.

“Relief. Fear. Worry. Like someone near me is the Gemini Thief.”

She asks what makes me believe this, and after I confirm our conversation is 100 percent confidential, I tell her about breaking into Dana’s apartment, seeing Corey’s train, remembering the glow-in-the-dark engine from Warren’s attic. “You know Warren, right? From college?”

“Warren Burton.” Constance pauses, maybe sips her coffee. “I do.” Two weighted words followed by more. “We dated. After your dad divorced me.”

Oh. “Does Dad know?”

“I never told him, and I can’t see Warren being forthcoming with the information, given the circumstances.”

“You guys didn’t work out?” The ridiculous question escapes despite the fact that both adults are single and living miles apart.

“We were in different emotional spaces,” she says and then explains. “I was freshly dumped, raw wounds oozing abandonment and divorce all over the place, and Warren was chomping to get married and start a family. That man needed motivated ovaries and a four-bedroom farmhouse.” She laughs easily at the memory. “I couldn’t imagine ever getting married again, ever, much less having kids. Super-bad timing because he’s a great guy.”

I am shocked on two levels, neither of them having to do with Constance. One. Bro code says you don’t date your best friend’s ex-wife. Two. Warren’s not exactly a lady’s man. Sometimes Dad and Griff go on a teasing tear and call him Officer Bach. I was fourteen before I realized it was short for bachelor.

Constance quickly clarifies her role. “I was the third, maybe fourth girl he asked. I’d already been someone’s wife and was unimpressed with the position. Which made me unwilling to be less than the love of someone’s life, and I was never that for Warren.”

“Wow.”

“Thea, am I understanding correctly? You’re wondering if Warren has Aulus?”

I toss the question around my brain. “Maybe.”

How far-fetched is this train theory?

“Let’s assume for a moment you’re right that the Gemini Thief lives in Wildwood,” Constance says. “When you think about Warren Burton, what does your spirit say?”

“My spirit?”

“Your gut. Your inner voice. The untamed thing inside you who often speaks the truth.”

Lady, if my inner voice were functioning, I wouldn’t be talking to a stranger at six a.m. I say something along these lines and Constance sighs. I assume with sadness or pity, but then she surprises me by saying, “I have trouble with my spirit too. For me, that spirit is God. For you, maybe it’s experience or friends or poetry or who knows.” She laughs easily, enjoying her metaphor. “Maybe I need another cup of coffee before I talk theology.”

“Constance, how do you know when your gut, the spirit, or whatever, is right?”

“Other than time?”

“I don’t have the luxury of time.” Or errors. “Aulus. Rufus. Zared. Chris.” Tears clog my windpipe. “Their lives. Dad’s life. Now . . . maybe even Uncle Warren’s. I can’t be wrong. These same questions damaged my father. You should have seen him in jail. My best friend’s parents don’t even want me to stay at their house.” I hug a pillow to my chest. The sun drifts in through the tilted mini-blinds and lights the navy tearstains on the pastel blue sheets. “An accusation would destroy Warren’s career. He’s a cop.”

“You need proof.”

I have that terrible glow-in-the-dark train. I recall what Constance said about starting a church. How she gambled everything. Moving cities, houses, taking out loans, leaving old friends behind. Where did that forward-thinking faith come from?

“You took a risk. How did you know what to do when there was so much at stake? When you had an instinct but nothing else? Because I don’t think I can know if I’m right unless I act like I am, but if I act and I’m wrong . . .”

Constance speaks slowly. “Then you’ll be wrong, and while there might be consequences to your accusation, the people who love you will still love you. And the same will be true for Warren.”

“I don’t think so.”

She shifts gears. “You asked how I knew about starting the church. You want to know the real answer?”

“Please.” I am thirsty for deep waters and eager to treat Constance like a well.

“God showed up in my bedroom and told me to move to Lexington and start a church.”

“God, God?”

“That’s what I call him or her.”

“I didn’t know God did earth visits.” I conjure up my version of this visit. The pastor in her bed squinting fearlessly at an orb of bobbing yellow-white light who sounds like Morgan Freeman or Helen Mirren. Purple sheets and pink comforter fall from clutched fists to Constance’s lap. The night is moonless, and God is made of stars. Warmth strikes her skin like a campfire. “You must have freaked out,” I say.

“I was every emotion at once.”

If this were anyone else, I might doubt. But Constance seems to live her life like an inside-out clock—all gears and workings visible—and for me, this lends her an almost supernatural trustworthiness.

“That’s intense. Has he ever done it again? God, I mean.”

“Shown up in my bedroom?”

“Shown up anywhere.” I want a sense of the possibilities here.

She hesitates. When her voice comes, it’s thready, but true. “One other time.”

“Can you tell me what he said that time?”

“Word for word.” Another pause. “It happened yesterday.”

My heart rapid-fires.

“God told me: Help Don Delacroix finish his castle.”
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Thursday afternoon Constance’s spine rests against the storm door of my house, her freckled shoulders pink from waiting in the sun. Tank points at the pastor like she’s a rare bird lighting on our front stoop. Constance waves. I wave back.

“Were you expecting this?” he wants to know.

“Sort of.” Constance and I didn’t discuss a plan, but when we got off the phone this morning, she said she’d see me soon.

Tank checks his watch. He had promised his mom he’d finish thank-you cards before baccalaureate tonight, but he still asks, “Want me to stay?”

I place his hand on the gearshift. “Go home. Get stuff done. I’ll call you after Dad’s home.”

Dana warned me last night that red tape would likely stretch Dad’s release from morning to evening and not to expect them until dinner. That gives me time with Constance before we both handle the Welcome Wagon. Ready or not, I think and leave Tank flipping his cigarette round and round.

Tank leans through the window, chest pressing the door. “You’re sure?”

I tap the truck’s hood with my palm. Two media trucks and three cars linger on our curb like weeds that have pushed through concrete cracks. They film Tank’s exit.

“Follow me,” I say to Constance and trudge across the ankle-high clover toward the kitchen door.

After resting her purse on the pollen-soaked deck railing, she jams both hands into the pockets of her jeans and says, “I checked into a motel and then came over to wait. I’m here to work.”

I swing the kitchen door open. “Check out and stay here.”

She laughs until she realizes my invitation is sincere. Inside, we gasp in tandem. The air’s tepid and the kitchen reeks of something rancid, making the invitation seem like something I should retract. I spot the remains of pizza rolls on paper plates and chuck them and the glass bowl of molded ranch directly into the trash.

“I haven’t been here since they arrested him,” I say as an apology.

When I return from lowering the thermostat, Constance squats by the sink, fishing for cleaner. She sprays orange-scented mist onto the countertops and repeats, “I came to work.”

We clean for two hours, then collapse on the couch in a sweaty heap. Our music blares so loud we don’t hear Dad before he appears in the doorjamb between the dining and living rooms. His head’s bowed, his shoulders curved; he’s aged since I sat across from him at the jail. Cocking his head in quiet surprise at the sight of Constance sprawled next to me, he closes his eyes, opens them, and tries again as if he expects different results.

“I can explain,” I say, overlapping Constance’s explanation.

“Don, I came to help with the castle.”

“Totally unnecessary,” he says. Looking from her to me—the half inch between our thighs speaking more than words—he announces, “I’m taking a shower. Please don’t leave. Either of you.”

Constance mouths, So far so good, and we take ourselves to the kitchen to wait. She makes a pot of decaf that obscures the smell of bleach.

“Will you tell him your suspicions about Warren?” she asks, settling at the bar with her mug.

The shower stops running and I put a finger to my lips. Nick spent the day following Warren, and I’m not saying a word until I hear from him.

“Or will you tell Dana?”

“Nick’s making that call.” He took the decision from me this morning. “This shouldn’t be on you,” he said after a discussion on the train memory. “Let me be the one to make accusations if it comes to it.” I agreed like the grateful coward I am.

Dad emerges, hair wet, shirt damp across the shoulders. He addresses Constance instead of me. “I’m not sure how you ended up here, but I owe you apologies, and you’ll get them, but first—”

“I didn’t come for apologies.”

“I didn’t take those boys.” He’s resolute. A statue.

Constance hands him a mug of steaming tea and some grace. “I know.”

Tremors start in his shoulder. Liquid vibrates over the edge of his mug and onto the floor. The mug falls. Without consideration or permission, Constance steps through the puddle and ceramic splinters and wraps her sunburned arms around Dad. Somewhat magically she dwarfs him. The two of them—him shaking childlike, her rubbing figure eights on his back, and repeating, “It’s okay”—are the most beautiful things I’ve seen in a long time. I can’t hug my father like that. I don’t have hugs that say this will be okay. Mine ask far too many questions.

In a jolt, Dad seems to remember Constance is his ex-wife and he’s fresh out of prison. He removes himself to the far wall and leans against a set of framed photos. “And you?” he asks me, searching for any portent of accusation in my body language. “Do you know I didn’t take Aulus?”

What do I know?

His integrity and innocence have been pressed against a pile of coincidences. I put him under a microscope of blame. I let myself fully entertain his darkness.

But not anymore.

I had spent the day in the school library forming a new theory: I don’t know who set up Dad, but if Dad were a kidnapping murderer, his first wife probably wouldn’t be receiving personal visitations from higher powers requesting she help finish his castle in Wildwood, Kentucky. Constance nailed shut my coffin of guilt and uncertainty. I arrange my face so only love shows. “I know you, Dad.”

“I need to hear you say you trust me.”

Knowing he’s not a murderer and trusting him are two different things. “Tell me why you lied for so long.”

“Because I was an idiot,” he says without hesitation. “I paid attention to every nail, every board, every bag of concrete. Every conceivable detail. I followed the vision with precision.” He pauses to glance at Constance, and there’s something kindred in the expression they share. “I got lost in it, Thee. I got—”

“Addicted.” I set my mug on the counter. The lower edge chips.

When I look up, Dad says, “But no more. I’m selling the castle to the Markums.”

“What?” Constance and I say together.

She leaps from the barstool where she’s perched and it tumbles backward under the weight of her purse. Without righting the chair, she arrives in my father’s space again—not so friendly this time. “You can’t do that, Don.”

“I was silly to believe—”

“Belief is many things, silly never being one.”

“Stancy—” Two trenches run from the bridge of his nose toward his hairline.

I stand in protest with her. “Dad, listen. Constance, tell him. Tell him what happened.”

In several dozen words, my father’s ex-wife shares the fragile times after their divorce—her depression, the return of her faith, and ultimately, the building of a new community in Lexington. She is unflinchingly honest, and he listens without interrupting. There’s tenderness between them that’s as green and alive as a plant poking through soil.

“Can’t you see?” she says as she finishes. “You weren’t wrong about the castle, only in the obsessiveness of building it.”

“Stance, I don’t . . . I mean . . . We can’t keep building. Everyone’s watching. People think I . . .”

“You didn’t care what people thought before,” I say, and Constance echoes, “Let them watch. The truth will win out. Thea says you’re close to finishing.”

Dad stares toward the living room, toward the media trucks parked at the curb. “Do you know what it’s like to be falsely accused of something heinous? To have your community, your family, your best friends believe you would hurt—” His voice is reedy. His back bends forward until his hands land on his knees and he takes deep breaths. “And for what? A stupid building. A dream? Some weird vision from a God I’ve barely spoken to in years? I thought the castle would feel worth the sacrifice because it was above me or would reconnect me with who I used to be, but you know what? That’s insane. Normal people do not build castles. And while I realize you”—he attempts eye contact and fails—“showing up here feels like a sign, I—”

“Dad, the castle’s not stupid and normal’s overrated.” The words come directly from my gut. My spirit? If there’s anything I’m certain about: losing the castle now, after all this, can’t be the end of the story.

Constance squats and peels Dad’s hands from his knees; she gets under his lowered chin. “Don, we can’t pretend to know the utter hell you’ve been living in, but you don’t have to live in it alone. Thea’s here. And strangely enough, I’m here too. We believe you. For now, can that be enough?”

“Warren believes me. Griff and Ruby too,” he says.

“Nick and Dana,” I add. “And the FBI released you. Let that count for something.”

“Every single person who believes me counts, but the castle—” His eyes drift to the clock on the wall, out the window into the dusk. He’s off somewhere that must hurt him.

“Dad.” I draw him to the present. “Do you still believe God asked you to build a castle?”

His head whips in my direction. The last time he heard me say God, it was proceeded by Good and followed by Let’s eat.

Constance and I await his answer.

“Yes,” he says at last.

For the first time I trust that whatever this is, it’s bigger than we are.
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I’m dreaming and it’s not a great dream.

Dad has sold everything we own to buy a house that has walls like an RV. The hallways are so narrow he can’t square his shoulders. He ducks to avoid a light fixture in the kitchen, as the house shrinks, kaleidoscoping in on itself. Dad doesn’t seem to notice he’s offering me a bedroom no larger than a couch, a loveseat, and a recliner.

We move and I stoop and run to the nearest window. It won’t open because of the bars, but if I lay my face against the pane, Leo’s giant hairy arm hangs out his purple semi cab. We’re at a Wildwood stoplight. Hooked to the back of a semi.

“You can’t run away from home if home runs away with you,” Dad says.

I wake up and he’s leaning over me.

“You want a key. Get dressed.” He’s not asking but he is whispering, which I take to mean Constance isn’t tagging along. After tugging on shorts and shoes in the darkness, I follow him through our backyard into the alley of trash cans and cats. The moon is high overhead, and strings of cottony clouds reflect its light across the sky. I do not ask where we’re going when we get in the truck and take Old Ragland Road out of downtown.

Mud sloshes over the edges of my tennis shoes as we tromp toward the castle’s rear underground garage. This gray-brown landscape was pictured in the photo Dad had of Aulus working. They were together here. A sacred fear twitches along my spine. Dad still hasn’t explained what we’re doing as we slide along the embankment forged by the foundation, and it doesn’t appear he will. I don’t know whether to be frightened or annoyed.

Was this how it happened for Aulus?

Dad taps a lantern, revealing the perfectly ordered garage. He removes a bin labeled Snow from the shelves. He wrestles something from the bottom without removing other contents.

“This was his,” he says, lifting a red JanSport backpack. The lantern clicks off as soon as he’s sure I’ve seen.

My lips part with questions. My face must be beet red; a terrible, fearful heat floods me. We lay the bag on the concrete slab and examine every inch by moonlight. There’s a Fisker patch on the large front pocket. I sewed that patch on the week before he disappeared.

I am aging a hundred years a second.

“He left it here,” Dad says. And then quietly, “The day he disappeared.”

“And you didn’t tell?” This question is unnecessary. I already know he hasn’t told a soul.

Uncle Warren asked me about this very pack last year. Well, not specifically, but the backpack was the first thing I thought of when he asked if anything was missing from the quattro. I described this JanSport bag, Aulus’s wallet, a Casio watch we picked out one night at Walmart. Uncle Warren asked me to guess the contents and I’d said paper, pens, library books. Maybe his keys. School stuff. A snack from Quik Mart. Nothing of importance.

I hadn’t been too far off.

“Why hide it?”

“You’ll see.”

Laid out now on the drive are two paper airplanes, two cheap pens from Dad’s tax office, four pencils, a Matchbox Ferrari, a school binder, two library books—Hot Rods Through the Ages and Dover Castle—ChapStick, a prescription for antidepressants in Scott McClaghen’s name dated three weeks before Aulus disappeared, a photo of the castle (that he must have stolen from Dad’s pile), and two granola bars.

My name is written on the wing of the folded plane. A note. I’ve thrown away tons of these planes over the years. This one reads,


T,




      Gave Homeless Richard a ride to the Dollar Store yesterday and he told me there’s a group of college hippies living in the dugouts and tunnels of the old minor league stadium. Said they met on a private Facebook group for orphans. Think we should meet them and see what’s up?
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I understand why Dad didn’t turn over the backpack. He didn’t want to make Scottie a suspect or send the police looking in the wrong direction.

Dad slicks his ponytail into a tighter bun.

“We should get rid of this,” I say.

He nods again.

With no discussion, I suggest we bury the thing.

Dad’s got his face in his hands, thinking. We’re crossing into unknown territory here. Legal. Illegal. Withholding. Tampering. There’s a clear understanding between father and daughter that the witch hunt is not over.

“I’ll do it,” I say.

He sighs and returns the items to the pack. The zipper and the bullfrogs sing. Dad lifts a shovel from the wall of the garage and I think, Trust is weird.

The broken concrete lot of the Moose Lodge crunches under his tires. Aulus and I used to climb the roof of this very building and set off fireworks. The memories are so real I force my eyes to the building’s brick.

“Two questions,” I say. “Does anyone ever come here? And are you sure this building is off our property?”

“No and yes,” he answers.

Three abandoned GMCs sit by the dumpster.

“Always here,” he says without me asking.

Behind the lodge, Dad stays in the truck as I choose a particular spot on the wall, just above an old vent, and count twenty paces. I return for the shovel.

With the recent rain, the ground comes away easily, like cake scooped from a pan. As I dig, I remember Aulus’s infatuation with the orphan group at the baseball stadium. I recall him confessing at nine or ten that he always carried a trinket of his father’s. Abandonment meant many things to Aulus. To us both. I didn’t go hauling around my mom’s hairbrush or the gaudy orange necklace she left in the bathroom drawer, but I understand the compulsion. He couldn’t quite believe he’d been left behind, and he didn’t want to become a person who learned to leave. So he held on to small things.

Dad has to know, as I do, that Aulus didn’t run away.

When the hole is accommodating, I lower the pack into the mud basin. I can’t see Dad from here, but he’s there, watching me. The muscles in my stomach feel like they’re actively deteriorating.

I rake dirt over the JanSport. I rub my palms on the thighs of my shorts and leave muddy streaks. This is a funeral of sorts, a messy affair. It’s probably my imagination, but the clanking rivets from our tower’s flags sound like a dirge echoing across the field.

I lift a final triangular chunk of grassy soil and fit it over the hole. After patting and tamping the area, no one will know. By the end of the week, the soil will undoubtedly stitch itself together like skin, and Dad and I might walk over the spot and ask, “Was it here?”

Back in my bed, I wonder which part of tonight was the dream. The part where I trusted my father or the part where he trusted me?
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Our final day in Wildwood High School Tank and I sit, backs against the humming Coke machine in the gym, sharing a bag of Lays potato chips. The janitor’s flat broom is tucked into the corner with us so every now and then we catch a whiff of adolescence. Below, on the sunken gym floor, fellow seniors play a vicious game of dodgeball. They invited us to join, but we’ve said no several times, despite our love for the game.

“You got your speech ready?” I ask.

“Yeah. Sure.” He chooses a folded chip, which after years of sharing I know are his favorites.

“You could have declined. Still could,” I say, though I’m not sure there has ever been a valedictorian who didn’t speak at graduation.

“Maybe you could, but I can’t.”

I wonder—would I decline? I’ve pretty much declined this whole year. But for as long as I’ve known Tank, he’s stayed obligated to himself over the expectations of others. And those expectations are high. His mom has wanted him to be valedictorian since kindergarten; his dad made him add Ivy League schools to his FAFSA. He got accepted to Brown, but he’s dead set on a gap year. Or he was. We haven’t said much about the future lately.

“Tank, are you still leaving in August?”

He draws his knees closer to his stomach and looks away. That’s a yes. A very guilty yes. “What about you?”

“I can’t leave. Not now.”

“You can. And you know what? You should. Aul would want you to . . . borrow the quattro and drive until it ran out of gas or do your insane Sasquatch mockumentary or open that dog-walking business.” He laughs fondly, probably at all the marketing materials I created for a nonexistent company. “Gosh, remember when that dog place was all you talked about?”

“Those things aren’t real,” I say.

“Those things don’t have to be, but something does. You can’t just stay in Wildwood and take care of your dad and wait on Aul.”

“But Dad trusts me.” I explain the night adventure from the castle to the Moose Lodge and what it felt like to bury the backpack.

With no judgment, Tank says, “You believe him?”

“Yeah. I think I do.”

“So . . . Warren?”

“So . . . Warren,” I echo heavily, though research on that front has turned up nothing. Nick swapped vehicles with his dad and has been following Warren the last two days. Nick’s bored out of his head watching my uncle drive from home to work, work to home with nothing in between.

“The man doesn’t even eat fast food,” Nick complained on the phone last night. “The only extra stop he made was for a Dairy Queen cake.”

My graduation cake. For my awkward graduation party.

“You tell your dad about the train?”

I stare at the janitor’s broom.

“You sure are giving up a lot for someone you only partially trust.”

We return to watching dodgeball and both “Agghhh” when Colin Beasley takes a hard smack to the face that’ll black his eye for graduation tomorrow afternoon.

Tank licks salt from his fingers. “If Warren did this, we’ll get him.” He wads the potato chip bag into a ball. He shoots for the nearest bin, but the bag flattens out and lands faceup on the concrete.

Tank stands, retrieves the trash, says, “Thanks for trusting me at least,” and strolls off to meet Gladys in the library.
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JUNE 1, 2010

We’re on the football field. The smartly dressed crowd above us celebrates favorite graduates.

Tank does an amazing job addressing our class. He speaks eloquently on where we’ve been, where we’re going, and how when we try to change the world, we can expect the world to put up a fight.

“Life isn’t sink or swim. It’s sink and swim,” he explains. He nearly loses it at the end when he talks about us, his dearest friends, using the Swedish word gemenskap, which means a fellowship, and Tolkien’s Lord of the Rings trilogy. He ends with, “Today, we depart on our own fellowship journeys, and it’s my hope and prayer that on your way to Mount Doom each of you has company as good as I’ve had. Glads. Thee. Aul. I love you. Always. Happy graduation, class of twenty-ten.”

“Wow,” Constance says when it’s quiet enough for me to hear.

“He’s really much smarter than he looks,” Nick teases, which gives me the moment I need to wipe my eyes.

Constance dabs her own face dry. “Whatever he is, that was brilliant. Boy can preach.”

Conferring the diplomas is next. Rows of graduates rise and file toward the dais. Gladys is near the front of the line. She lifts her certificate holder into the air and blows a kiss in my direction. I blow a kiss back that she can’t see but I hope she can feel. A chorus of cheers and callouts continues to bat and bob around the stadium as each student passes the podium—until Principal Markum reads my name.

“Thea Donovan Delacroix.”

The response is instantaneous.

“Booo!” and “Gemini blah, blah, blah.” A gruff-voiced man coughs “Disgrace!” loud enough that Principal Markum asks—demands—the crowd to calm down. She says, “WHS will not tolerate belligerence or hatred,” before she reads, “Matthew Carl Demos, cum laude.”

Constance and Nick are my armor. Constance wraps her arm around my shoulders and I let myself relax.

“Fear mimics hate sometimes,” she tells me.

“And stupidity,” Nick adds.

“And stupidity,” she agrees.

Shame rises like a zipper on a jacket. I say, “I didn’t know he was innocent either.”

“Even if he were guilty, you’re not him,” Nick says.

I don’t blame the crowd. It’s June 1st. There was a big debate on whether to move graduation, given the circumstances, but in the end Principal Markum argued that the invitations had been mailed and the calendar date secured since before Aulus disappeared. She told me personally that holding graduation on the first felt safer. Families were together. How much harder would it be for the Thief to strike when (a) most boys are with their parents, and (b) everyone is watching?

The town does not agree with her logic.

To them, the FBI returned the prime suspect to Wildwood on the eve of the Gemini anniversary. Over the last few days, Neighborhood Watches have formed and people demanded town curfews. Politicians bought up radio spots and hosted press conferences, each stating their big plans to “Keep Wildwood Safe.” The press loved the infighting and gorged on the hype.

There are factions who want Dad jailed through tomorrow. Yesterday brightly colored signs popped up along the highway: Re-Arrest the Gemini Thief. Whoever is behind the movement, they’re motivated and funded. Gladys’s parents said a rogue Walmart buggy filled with stacks of the lawn placards and a sign reading Free—Take One appeared on the steps of City Hall.

Concerned citizens took one. Truly concerned citizens took multiple. Re-Arrest the Gemini Thief signs edge the lawns of Wildwood neighborhoods.

Including two houses on our street.

“I wish I could see my way to the other side of this,” I say. Principal Markum is nearing the middle of the alphabet now. Tank’s next.

“Thomas Michael Piper, summa cum laude.” Her voice punches each name like there’s a proud period after it. The stadium explodes with applause. Despite his friendship with me, Tank’s golden in the way all good-looking smart boys are.

“You will. You are,” Constance says.

Principal Markum is calling out the Ws now, and above us, the energy of the herd revs. Children wiggle against the bleachers, ready to discard suits and dresses. Mothers shift purses to their laps. Fathers hold recording devices steady, eager to catch the finale of their graduate’s high school life.

“Let’s go,” I say, and by the time Principal Markum’s voice booms, “I now present your Wildwood High School class of two thousand and ten,” we’re in Nick’s car, cranking the air conditioning.

“You sure you’re okay?” he asks.

He, like Tank, was valedictorian, and by all accounts loved high school. So, while he understands my decision to abstain from the processional, he believes I’ve been robbed of a milestone.

“I was never walking without Aulus,” I say. I barely belong to the class of 2010 anymore. Wildwood High will have to be a watershed, coming-of-age, John Cougar Mellencamp lyric to everyone else.

Nick changes the subject and asks if I spotted Dana among the milieu of celebrants. I hadn’t. I ask if he saw Warren.

“Uniform and all,” he says.

When we arrive at the castle, Dad has three of the four card tables set up in the great room. He dabs sweat from his forehead with a handkerchief.

“I wanted to be done before you got back, but I got delayed. How was it?”

Three stacked chairs lean against his hip. Constance takes one, unfolds it, and lies. “Very nice.”

“No hubbub?”

Nick answers, “Some hubbub. Be glad you didn’t attend.”

“Warren called. He’ll be here soon,” Dad says.

“Here now,” Warren says from the doorway.

He’s dressed in uniform, backpack slung haplessly over one shoulder, carrying a family box of Del’s tacos, an ice cream cake, and a cooler.

“I say we eat cake first.” And then a little lower and very earnest, he says to Dad, “Welcome home, brother.”

I want to throw up.

Dad relieves Warren of the cooler. “Thanks.”

Still balancing the cake box, Warren pecks me on the cheek. “Happy graduation, you. Weren’t you starting kindergarten like two minutes ago? Hello again, Nick.” The polite tone has an edge. Does he know Nick’s been following him?

Constance lifts her hand in a wave befitting a queen. “Hi, Warren.”

Warren calls up a hazy expression and tries out her name as though he can’t remember it correctly. “Constance? Wow. Long time no see.”

The lie is so impeccably crafted it nearly convinces me.

Tonight’s guest list is a thing of strangeness. Discussed and debated multiple times, attendees currently will include: Griff and Ruby, Warren, Tank and Gladys, Leo Wittersham, Pattie McClaghen, Constance, Nick, and to make matters extra interesting, Dana. As soon as they’re free from the official graduation ceremony, they’ll trickle over with finger foods.

Dad makes a gesture, a lazy looping circle, and grins half-heartedly at Constance. “Crazy the things that come full circle; Constance showing up again like this?” That serves as her reintroduction. We all move forward in mild discomfort, each assigning ourselves random party tasks.

Warren saws a tiny sliver of ice cream cake onto a plate for me and says, “Our secret,” because DQ cakes are my favorite and I used to beg him to let me eat dessert first when I was a kid. I accept the cake and he steals a bite off my fork and I almost forget about the train. Almost.

Tank and Gladys arrive in separate vehicles, fifteen minutes apart.

Tank starts toward the food table and gets accosted by Constance, who swamps him with praise for his speech. Gladys waves me toward the bathroom. She drops a satchel of comfy clothes and collapses against the door the moment we’re inside.

“Told Mom I was going out with Tank.”

“You are technically out with Tank.” I slide along the wall between her and a toilet that isn’t attached to plumbing.

She picks absently at her purple toenail polish. “I’m not sure how long I can stay, but I wanted to see you tonight.”

“Tank killed his speech.”

“He did, didn’t he?” She’s beaming. We tilt our heads together, an A-line roof of friendship. I don’t have to look to know she’s crying too. This could have been—should have been—such a different year. “Speaking of unbelievable, Constance and your dad?”

“Pretty wild, eh?”

Leaning back far enough to see my eyes, she says, “And you and Nick?”

“I don’t know, Glads.”

“Tank told me he loved me from the stage tonight, but he’s planning for August in California. Maybe I need to let him go.” She sighs. “Despite that ever-positive speech, Tank’s mad at the world. And can you blame him? Me. Aulus. Your dad. Wildwood’s response. Ev-e-ry-thing.” Gladys draws out the word and pokes through her bag until she finds a soft cotton T-shirt. She continues, “One minute he wants to confront your dad about burying that backpack. The next he’s accusing all those stupid sign people of being idiots. The next he’s like, I’m getting out of Wildwood and never coming back. I asked him to let it go for tonight, but I’m not sure he will.”

“He told you about the backpack?”

She shrugs like Of course he did.

Should I really be surprised? Last night Tank and I huddled on dry-rotted railroad ties in my backyard and let the dandelions tickle our backs and the mosquitos munch on our blood. He had lingering questions about my confession earlier in the day. Thirty feet away, Dad and Constance sat drinking wine on the back deck.

Tank asked, “Why would he hide that backpack if he’s innocent?”

“Why would he involve me if he wasn’t? He didn’t have to do that.”

“I know you don’t want to hear this, but nothing keeps that blood on Chris Jenkins’s shirt from being Rufus’s or Zared’s. Or someone else’s for that matter. There’s a real chance you aren’t safe. I can’t lose you too. I won’t.”

In my head, Tank is in more danger than I am. But when I brought that up, he laughed. And when I brought up the “Warren train theory,” he laughed again.

“Come on. That’s going nowhere. I talked to Nick. Warren’s totally on the up-and-up. And what’s the likelihood Corey’s drawing is your train? Pinning this on someone other than your dad doesn’t mean—”

“Except Warren’s not a super-convenient second choice for me.”

Tank slung a hand toward my dad, who was rolling castle blueprints and re-ponytailing his hair like a nervous boy in love.

“Uh, better than your first option,” Tank said.

Which made me ask if I should procure a Re-Arrest the Gemini Thief sign for Tank’s yard. He shoved me. I shoved back and asked, “If Dad’s guilty, what do you make of the God-factor?”

“Saying God said so doesn’t automatically hold currency with me. I want to believe there’s some big fix for all this junk. Some purpose. But I’m not banking on that. Do you know how often I beg anyone up there listening to keep Aulus safe or take me instead, and, like”—Tank breathed so deeply my lungs ached—“he could already be dead. But I still ask. Still hope. Is that stupid?”

“I don’t know.”

“Me either, but I’m gonna keep doing it.”

It was nice to hear him say that. Even nicer when Tank hugged me fiercely and shoved his mouth to my ear. “I’m sorry this happened to us,” he said, and in the next breath, I said, “Me too,” and rested my cheek on his chest.

I wore his hug like a second shirt.

Everything in life should be as easy as fighting with Tank.

Gladys loosens the straps of both sandals and rests her head against the bathroom’s brick wall. Head lolled to the side, she licks her lips, the cherry color nearly gone, and says, “He’s wound tight as a rod and reel. I’ve never seen him so likely to punch someone. We probably shouldn’t leave him out there with your dad.” She sighs as she tugs off her skirt and wiggles into shorts. I do the same and she reapplies mascara before we return to the great room.

Warren, Dad, and Griff are sequestered around a single card table, a set of paperwork before them. “Need you, Thee. Gladys, we can use you too if you don’t mind,” Dad says when she starts toward the open front door. The two of us slink over and share opposite corners of the same chair.

I check for Nick or Tank and Dad reads my expression. “I sent the boys to town on an ice run,” he says. Great. Tank and Nick, two guys, are alone, in Wildwood, on June 1st.

“Now, Thea, we’ve been talking.” There’s a detached business tone to Dad’s voice. “Griff had some ideas and we all agreed they were worth examining.” I glance toward the papers. They’re legal length with signature tabs mixed throughout. Dad continues, “I’d like to make some provisions for you in case I get rearrested and convicted. Dana warned me that innocence doesn’t always mean freedom, and there’s a lot of pressure in this case for an arrest. It’s not going away. Is it, Warren?”

“The ceremony was . . . rowdy,” Warren agrees.

“Are you planning on being rearrested?” I ask, temper growing by the second.

Gladys straightens and our chair rocks.

“This is a precaution,” Dad says.

“What is?” I ask.

“Putting the castle in your name.”

“And mine,” Warren says humbly.

Dad nods his gratefulness at Uncle Warren.

Griff butts in. “I think that part saddles her with unnece—”

“And this is the harder part, Thee.” Warren speaks over him. “Don wants me to temporarily assume your guardianship.”

I can’t form words.

“It’s wise, honey.”

Warren takes a deep breath. “I can’t be your dad, but . . . I’ll be there for you in a heartbeat if you’ll let me. Ruby and Griff too, but . . .”

“We’re not in a place to take you full-time.” Griff presses his fingers together into a tight diamond shape and rambles about the growth of the WCC, money tied up in legal stuff, renovations for the guest room. He accidentally infers there’s a reason Ruby’s stuff is in the guest bathroom and then cuts that off. “Warren’s got all that room and the means to finish the castle, which is important to your dad.”

Which leaves Warren to ask, “What do you say, Thee?”

Everyone looks at me.
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I understand this transaction.

I’m being moved about like an object, like furniture swapped from one house to the next. But I can’t say, Hey! I’m not a chair. I’m not some stupid knickknack. I don’t fit in a kitchen drawer or a closet or that dresser with the broken handle. I can barely feel, much less articulate the painfulness of their decision. This feels like abandonment. Like losing my mother and Aulus all over again. I read these legal papers signing the castle and me over to Warren, and disappointment covers my heart with a concrete crust.

“I . . .” What’s there to do except pick up the pen? This is happening whether I like it or not.

Gladys gathers the bottom of my T-shirt between us and squeezes the fabric into a wrinkled ball. Her fist presses my thigh: an unspoken Don’t do this. The glow-in-the-dark train circuits my brain.

“Knowing the castle is in good hands gives me a real peace of mind,” Dad says. Almost as an afterthought, he adds, “And you too, honey.”

I click the end of the pen. Down and up. Down again. I’m so confused. One minute he’s willing to sell to the Markums, and the next . . . I’m back in second place. Dad sees me as a fiscal responsibility, a commodity to lend or trade, a tax deduction. Warren doesn’t. Griff agrees. Does it really matter which of my father figures is the Thief? I’m fatherless anyway.

I make up my mind. If I am the owner, I have more power. At least this way I can sell the stupid castle. Without making eye contact, I put the pen tip to the first signature line. The task is finished with the flipping of a few pages.

Castle owner. Check.

Parent legally changed. Check.

Scared to death. Check.

I simultaneously wish Nick had seen this transaction and am grateful he didn’t.

Dad’s relieved. Warren’s laughing nervously. Gladys’s hand stalls on my thigh. We’ve drawn a small audience. Constance and Ruby are following this strange deal from the hallway.

Constance says, “Sorry,” and I can tell she fought Dad on this decision. Ruby also looks like she lost a war. You can still stay with us too, she mouths.

The documents are being folded into a manila envelope when Leo, Ms. McClaghen, and Dana arrive, small gifts and food in tow. The Markums are right behind them, and I didn’t even know they were coming. Principal Markum hands me my diploma. “Thought you might want this.”

“Thanks,” I say.

Warren is the first to greet them. He explains to Dad, “I invited Kev and Gina. Thought we’d make it a real reunion. Plus, they’ve been drooling over the castle.”

Dad welcomes our new additions with ice cream cake and tacos. Regina Markum makes eye contact with Constance and smiles, but it’s not a pretty smile and she’s chewing her cross instead of food.

Head reeling, I shift attention to Leo. Aulus’s uncle doesn’t like Nick or me. Well, that’s my assumption after our visit. We were fishing for details about the $500 transfers from Dad and set our hooks in tender skin.

“What do you care?” Leo said, looking up from a beaten copy of The Stand. He kicked his front porch recliner into the upright position. “Playing Nancy Drew out of familial guilt?”

Back in the car, Nick had said, “Sometimes grief is anger shaped.” And I’d said, “He’s just as likely to be guilty.” And Nick said, “Thee,” the way he always does when I’m stretching toward the ridiculous.

Leo’s far more serene tonight. Puffy hands strain the seams of his jeans pockets. He keeps his chin down as his sister, my aunt, offers a half hug of congratulations. Puffy-faced and vacant-eyed, she waves placidly in my direction and says, “I brought some pizzas. I hope you all like pizza. Aulus loved pizza.” She’s clearly on something. “Your dad’s been good to us.” Her words are monotone, but I assume this is her Don’s not guilty vote.

Leo takes her arm and guides them toward the food table. They pass Dana on the way, and he can’t help himself. “Shouldn’t you be out looking for my boy, secret agent girl?”

He’s loud enough to make everyone stop eating midchew. Nick’s sister, who since she arrived has been basically trying to mortar herself to the wall, puts her melting ice cream cake on the table and attempts to defuse Leo without creating a bigger scene.

To divert attention from the pair, the room reshuffles into odd social configurations. Ruby and Tank. Gladys and Aulus’s mom. Griff and Constance. Dad and Warren, who stand in the kitchen hallway, locked in an unfriendly huddle. Warren carefully uncoils Dad’s fingers and leans toward his ear.

“What do you make of that?” Nick asks.

A thoughtless answer slips out. “Maybe they’re fighting over who pays my bills when Dad goes back to jail.”

“Why would they do that?”

I might as well get this over with. “Because I am now the proud owner of this castle with my new papa bear Warren Burton.”

Nick’s cup slips from his grasp. Everyone turns as the plastic clatters on the floor. Without missing a beat, Nick says, “Sorry, folks. Gladys. Tank. Can I borrow y’all?” He waves the three of us toward the tower after tossing the cup.

The narrow chamber, which Dad and Constance have finished constructing over the past two days, smells like a lumberyard. When we reach the roof’s open air, hot wind stirs construction dust into tiny tornados that cling to the bare skin below my knees.

Nick circles the stairwell opening. “Care to explain to them what you said to me?” He stops beside Tank, a natural ally in this fight.

Gladys, anticipating what this is about, steps in front of me. “Nick, Thea didn’t have much of a choice.”

“You know about this too?”

“I was a witness,” Gladys admits.

Tank’s lost. “A witness to what?”

“Oh, let me see.” Nick doesn’t spare an ounce of his indignation. “To Thea’s dad turning over Thea and the castle to Warren. Yep, same Warren I’ve been cutting class to follow for the last two days because we think he’s who? The Gemini Thief.”

He cusses and Nick never cusses.

“Shhh,” I say, hoping no one is on the lower balconies.

“Wait, what?” Tank demands.

Nick laces his arms over his chest. “Exactly.”

“Guys, berating me is super unhelpful.”

Tank digs at the concrete floor with his dress shoe and shakes a cigarette loose from the package. “Her dad signed over the two most important things in his life to Warren Burton. Call me crazy, but that sounds like he knows something we don’t know. Why else would he take legal action? It makes me think long and hard about burying that backpack.”

“What backpack?” Nick asks.

“Lower your voices,” Gladys hisses.

Tank doesn’t. If anything, he’s louder. “Thea, Chris died with a key to this castle in his mouth.”

“That was planted,” I argue.

He presses on, building his case. “Your dad was in Baxter within hours of the body drop on I-40.”

“Also planned. For the bell.”

“And did the Gemini Thief also plan for your dad to hide Aul’s backpack?” I try to interrupt but Tank barrels on.

“What backpack? Someone explain!” Nick says.

Gladys draws the short stick and she’s kinder than either of the boys would have been about this alliance with my dad. Nick has a million questions, but he swallows them.

Tank’s still going. “You won’t convince me your dad hid that backpack for unselfish reasons. Maybe it was to cover his assets or someone else’s. Family? Scottie McClaghen, maybe. Like . . . haven’t you thought about the prescription bottle? Why’d Aul have it?”

“Because he always carries around something of his dad’s. You know that.”

“Yeah, except it wasn’t old like all the other stuff. The issue date was new. Isn’t there a chance his dad showed up, dangled a carrot to be in Aulus’s life again, and when Aul said no, he snatched him? Now your dad’s helping his cousin continue a mandatory father-son reunion.” I start to protest. “Don’t, Thea. I’m getting the backpack and handing it over to Dana.” He starts toward the staircase.

That is such a bad idea.

“Yes,” says Nick. “I agree.”

“You’re leaving right now?” Gladys is the one raising her voice this time. “During our graduation party?”

“Hardly a party,” Tank works the cigarette between his fingers. “It’s the right thing to do.”

I say, “You’re digging that thing up at Moose Lodge? In your dress clothes? In the dark? Great idea.”

Tank points toward the moon. “You bet I am.”

“What will that prove?”

Tank plows toward the doorway. He lifts his arms up in absolute surrender. “I guess we’ll leave that up to Dana.”

“Leave what up to me?” Dana asks from the shadows of the top step.
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Tank barrels past Nick’s sister and we track his downward footfalls, each step echoing through the metal chamber until the only sounds left are the wind snapping the flag and the bullfrogs claiming their territories. If we’d been talking, we might not have heard Dad call for Tank.

I walk to the tower ledge and lean over. They aren’t in sight and shortly after, Tank’s truck starts, Arcade Fire disturbs the air and he’s taillights on the driveway.

“What’s being left up to me?” Dana asks.

I have no idea how much or what to explain.

Dana targets her brother. “Nick?”

Nick freezes. If the backpack is as important as Tank believes, Dana will know sooner or later. I jump in with a version of the truth that might tide us over until Tank returns.

“It may be nothing,” I begin. “Tank remembers where Aulus’s backpack is. He’s hoping to find something we’ve all missed.”

Dana isn’t having this explanation. “Uh-uh. If you thought you had a clue, you’d have had it in my hands last year. I’ve seen all your theories and you’ve searched for Aulus as hard as anyone. You’re covering up evidence, and if you are, it’s to protect someone. Now spill.”

No one spills.

“They’re protecting you?” she guesses, since Nick and Gladys haven’t taken their eyes off me. Our expressions don’t shift. She says, “No. That’s not right. Your dad.”

“No,” I lie.

She doesn’t tsk, but her mouth forms the shape; her chin cocks sideways. “You want me to believe Tank suddenly remembered an item that has been missing for the last year?” After tapping her watch for dramatic effect, she adds, “Someone talk or I’ll . . . I’ll arrest you all for hindering an investigation.”

“Oh, whatever.” Nick’s voice is sharp and disbelieving.

His sister doesn’t carry on with the threat. “For goodness’ sake, your dad invited me.” She reaches for me and I step back. “I’m on your side.”

Gladys’s face says she accepts this argument.

I put Dana through the gauntlet. “Sides flip.”

Nick says, “Friends close. Enemies closer,” like this might explain his sister’s strategy.

She pops him on the shoulder. “Please. When have I ever been your enemy?”

He pops back. “I meant that philosophically.”

Dana locks me in a bull glare. “You won’t tell me about the backpack, fine. How about you explain why your dad signed you and the castle over to Warren?”

I don’t bother masking my anger. “You told him he’s not in the clear.”

Dana wipes a hand straight down her forehead, nose, and mouth and shakes off the information, literally, like a dog tosses water after a swim. She makes a slow rewind motion with her index finger and says, “Okay, that’s crazy, but before you start hating on me for helping, go back to the missing-suddenly-found backpack.”

“When Tank brings Aulus’s bag back, it’s all yours.” If he finds it. I gave him a decent description of the burial the other day, but it’s still a fishing expedition. Dana parks herself against the low concrete turret Constance laid yesterday. When she’s seated, she smacks the concrete on either side of her thighs. When we don’t move, she repeats herself, smacking even harder. We bend obediently and join her. Down below, car engines start and stir the gravel patches. Dana says, “By the way, party’s over. Your dad sent me up to tell you.”

That’s weird. I think it; Gladys says it.

“He called an audible. Said, ‘Party’s over!’ because he had somewhere he needed to be.” Dana blows air out her mouth slowly. “Plus, you four scampered off, and other than the castle, you’re the main event.” She smirks, but not with happiness. Her eyes roll toward the stars and she recounts a conversation she overheard between Dad and Warren. ‘Your dad said, ‘I can’t believe you,’ and Warren said, ‘Nobody’s perfect.’ And then your dad said, ‘You’re a cop,’ with a fair amount of indignation. And . . .” She shifts, searching the memory for precise words. “Warren asked if Don planned to tell Griff and Ruby, and Don rather aggressively said, ‘Absolutely.’”

I try placing facts into the conversational holes. Can’t believe what? Does Dad know or suspect Warren’s the Gemini Thief? Is that why he was reminding Warren he’s a cop? But, no, why would Dad tell Ruby and Griff that? There’s a chance Warren told Dad he and Constance dated after they divorced. That, right after Dad signed over his castle and child to Warren, might have rattled his trust.

Nick asks, “How mad was Warren?”

“On a scale of one to ape, he rates a solid King Kong. Whatever Don’s telling Griff and Ruby, Warren’s not pleased.”

“You didn’t stop them?” Nick asks.

“For what? Raising their voices in an empty room? Don caught me eavesdropping and asked if I’d come find you all and I said yes. Oh, and also”—she gives me an apologetic eye roll—“Thea, he wants you to lock the gate when you leave tonight.”

I feel like she rubbed jalapeños into all my open wounds.

“Trust me,” Dana says. “You aren’t the only one who felt like Don made an abrupt departure. Constance had a conniption, and that woman’s barely capable of raising her voice, so it was something to witness.” Dana swivels and peers over the wall. “They’re all gone now. Down to just us chickens.”

“Don say where he was going?” Nick asks.

“Did Tank?” Maybe Dana is fishing for details about the locale of the backpack, but it feels more like she’s wondering how long we can expect to wait for his return.

“Shouldn’t be long,” I say.

We settle in to wait, discussing Tank’s graduation speech, Nick’s summer class, how we hope Pattie McClaghen’s okay.

The clock creeps toward 11:00. With every passing minute, the night plays quiet mouse with us. No engine sounds. No closing doors. No footsteps in the stairwell. Even the bugs have gone off to their beds.

Gladys, who isn’t wearing a watch, turns Nick’s wrist toward her at 11:40, again at 11:45, midnight, and finally, 12:30. She’s twisting each of her knuckles.

“Are you scared?” she whispers.

I blink my yes. Nick sits between his sister and me and catches Gladys’s question. Using minimal movement, he draws letters on my thigh. H-E-S-H-O-U-L-D-B-E. He starts the H of HERE and I say aloud, “I know.” Because at this point, I’ll trade Dana having more information for a normal pulse rate.

“Something feels off. I want to check on Tank,” I say.

“The backpack could be misplaced,” Gladys suggests.

“No.” That’s not how this feels. I don’t have to tell anyone twice. Minutes later, we’re bumping along the castle’s driveway in Dana’s Nissan.

“Which direction?” she asks at the gate.

“Right,” we say together.

Dana flips the headlights to bright and asks whether she should speed up. I say, “No,” as she spots Tank’s truck parked deep in a farm equipment pull-off a hundred yards from the castle.

Panic snakes through my chest. He could have pulled off and walked. The lodge isn’t far. Half a mile? This is the road Aulus disappeared from. This is the way he disappeared. Nick must also be wrestling with similarities.

“Tank might be on foot, Glads.”

She shakes her head. We all know he’s not on foot.

Dana cuts the engine and stops Gladys from getting out of the SUV. “Stay here.”

“No,” we protest.

“Okay, together. But you’re behind me. Got it?” This is an order. She doesn’t release Gladys’s arm or unlock the doors until we agree verbally. Outside the Nissan, we’re forced to wait for Dana, who shuffles through a bag in the back and produces a Maglite and draws her gun. The wide beam sweeps the bed of the truck. There’s no damage to the frame as far as I can tell.

Gladys’s muscles and mind must be in the same war as mine: run toward Tank’s truck, run away from the world. Insects fly through the flashlight beam, distracting me so I don’t see whatever forces Dana to hold out her arm like a mom in a minivan. “What is . . . Something’s written on the truck.”

She inches forward, and though we are told to stay put, we follow. Nick is slightly ahead of Gladys and me. I squeeze his arm and pull him back.

Dana’s beam catches two messy black spray-painted words: Last One

My lips part—my body wants to scream—no sound comes out.

The Thief left a final calling card.

Nick says, “That’s new,” but Dana shakes her head and offers information we’ve never been privy to before and shouldn’t be now.

“William Theodore. Initial victim. Taken in 2001. There was spray paint then too. ‘First One.’ The Thief’s declaring he’s done. This is a victory lap.”

To me, Dana has two faces. The first, visible only for seconds, is pure horror etched across every feature; the second is a business mask, downloaded from the academy.

“Don’t touch anything,” she says, and there’s control and authority in her voice.

Gladys screams Tank’s name.

You can’t make that particular noise without love.

The silence that follows is its own horrific choir.




28

JUNE

Gladys is a wad of arms and legs and sobs. Nick and I absorb her, but she won’t turn loose of her knees.

“I know,” I say stupidly, patting the top of her head. “I know. I know. I’m sorry.”

I wish there were a set of words for when there are no words.

“We’ll get him back. I swear, Gladys. We’ll get him back,” Nick says.

She heard the same empty promises when Aulus disappeared. How could this happen? As soon as I form the question, I hate the answer. Aulus is gone because the world is awful, but Tank . . . Tank’s on me. I’m the one who buried a backpack at the Moose Lodge.

Dana presses buttons on her cell. We listen as she reports the scene of a potential kidnapping. “Thomas Piper. No, Thomas. Tango. Hotel. Oscar. Mike. Alfa. Sierra. The kids call him Tank.”

None of this makes sense.

Could my Warren have done this tonight? And if he did, why? Or rather, why now? Does Tank pose some threat, or is this crime wrong place, wrong time? Did someone else know about the backpack? There’s no way Tank’s part of some master plan. This kidnapping might have the Last One calling card, but it’s unlike the others, from time of day to location to Tank’s age and race.

Nick must be cycling through similar thoughts. Squinting at the truck, he mutters, “The Thief was right here. Right here.”

Dana is on the same task, calling everyone who arrives with a badge to canvass the area.

I am tempted to dive deeper into my questions, but Gladys holds out her hand and the only thing I want to do is hold her and make my brain stop spinning. I bury my nose in my best friend’s hair, breathe the strawberry shampoo she has used for years, and rewind all my mental clocks to safer times.

Us. “Graduating” from eighth grade. Us. When our greatest thrill was a first kiss. Or even better, being dropped off at Walmart with ten dollars from our fathers’ wallets. Us. Buying makeup we didn’t know how to apply. Us. Perusing the feminine hygiene aisle and reading the boxes, rather than shoving one in the cart when our parents weren’t looking. Gladys. Choosing that first bottle of Kurl Karma, flipping the lid, passing the squatty container to me with total satisfaction, and saying, “Ahhhh. I want to smell like this forever.”

She smells like Kurl Karma now, but the world’s sourness overpowers the strawberries.

Aulus. Tank.

“I’m still here and I love you,” I say, and Gladys’s chin bobs against my chest. I squeeze Nick’s hand until my fingers ache. He must be uncomfortable, but he doesn’t complain. Does Last One mean he’s safe tonight? Can boys in Tennessee and Kentucky sleep deeper now that Tank’s their sacrificial lamb?

I ask Dana, “You think he’ll still release the boys on the 30th?” hoping to heaven her answer will be good news.

A single siren wails in the distance. Help appears to be arriving from the left instead of from town. More sirens roar from other directions. They’re coming. Yellow caution tape. Mobile light stands. Questions. They’re all coming.

Dana closes the passenger door of her SUV and stretches blue latex gloves over her tiny hands. “No idea.” She approaches the truck, each foot placed with consideration, leaving the scene undisturbed. With a gloved hand, she lifts the door handle. “Locked.” Her eyes land on the words Last One again.

“Dana,” I say. “You said Dad left the party before Tank.”

“I said he canceled the party. I have no idea when he left.”

“We heard him talking to Tank,” Nick says.

Dana puts on her logical voice. “Thea, I’m not saying Don did this, I’m saying, look around. We’re on your property. That’s not a coincidence.” She looks at me pointedly. “I’ll have to bring him back in for questioning.”

“What if Warren Burton is the Gemini Thief?” I ask before I can stop myself. I want to tell her Nick and I watched the video in her apartment, but I snatch the flashlight and stall. Shining light on the spray paint, I say, “Dad doesn’t make his ts like that—”

“So a decorated Wildwood police officer, the one who became your guardian mere hours ago, took Tank?” Dana’s skepticism drips like honey. She looks at me like I’m some crazy, desperate kid and maybe I am, but I need her to hear me out.

“Dana, Warren’s in the welding photo too, and”—I almost make physical contact with the lettering as I examine the paint closer—“see the way the top line of this t arcs upward? Warren does that with the t in Burton. Dad doesn’t arc his ts.”

Dana won’t let me argue. “O-kay. There will be a handwriting analysis, but the arc of a t is hardly a reason to accuse Warren—”

Bright blue lights flicker against branches and kudzu as a wave of squad cars dives onto the grassy banks, surrounding us.

I backtrack in my uncertainty. “I’m not accusing him. I’m asking the question. Your profile said—”

There’s no time to discuss the profile. Warren is the first officer on the scene.

“Heard the call come over the radio. Started the Amber Alert,” he yells to Dana. His mouth drops open, first with surprise, then in judgment when he realizes she brought us along. “You kids—” He bends and grips his knees, unable to finish. My impressions are skewed and he’s a brilliant liar, but that response doesn’t feel very cop-like to me. He looks as scared as we feel. And shocked.

“Where’s Dad?” I ask.

“I . . .” He looks toward the highway. “He said he needed to drive around and clear his head.”

“Call him.” Dana uses her FBI voice. “Tell him to get back here ASAP. And, Warren, we need a timeline of when everyone left the castle.”

“You’re assuming—”

“That someone at the party or watching the party did this. Doesn’t that feel true to you?” Dana asks, and Gladys grinds her fingers into her eyelids. Maybe this isn’t happening and when we all wake up, it’ll be 2009.

Warren inches in the direction of the castle. “It’s possible,” he says.

“Probable,” Dana corrects. “This is Don’s property. Tank left minutes before the party broke up. Everyone passed right by here.”

“Maybe. Maybe not. I went left out of the gate. There’s more than one cut-through road,” Warren says.

To his credit, he doesn’t sound or look defensive. More perplexed. More like he’s processing the list of people who attended the party. Even though there’s no good rationale, it feels more than reasonable to conclude someone at the party or connected to the party, or maybe even watching the party, took Tank.

Leo Wittersham is an unlikely suspect on many, many levels. There’s no way he could sneak up on Tank in his loud purple Freightliner. We’d have heard him braking.

Kevin Markum has a welding helmet and is large enough to overpower Tank. Earlier in the evening, Regina and Tank tapped plastic cups and she said, “Congratulations on your commencement address,” and he said, “I have a question for you,” and they disappeared around the corner. A school principal? A shop teacher? Is that who commits a crime like this?

Ruby and Griff arrived and departed separately. When I ask myself if there’s any chance the Holtzes took Tank, the case is crude. 1) Griff and Ruby were out of town the day Aulus disappeared. 2) Ruby has the required construction skills. 3) She used to travel Tennessee for work. 4) They’ve been wound tight as a rod and reel lately. 5) They’re both physically strong enough to move bodies.

That said, they could take Tank from the WCC when there would be no evidence. Also, they’re paying Dad’s lawyer.

Warren. The quickest way to his place is Old Sycamore Lane. Could he have driven home and back to swap vehicles and had time to kidnap Tank? Not without premeditation and planning, but he’s good at planning, owns a welding helmet, arcs his ts, and chugga, chugga, chug.

That leaves Constance, who is not a suspect in the slightest. I hope wherever Dad is, she’s with him. A pastor’s alibi has to rank way up there in the justice system. I check with Warren. “Constance left with Dad?”

Warren shakes his head. “She walked.”

Dana responds the same as me. Indignantly. “Walked?” And then she says, “It’s miles to town. And after midnight.”

Warren slings a hand toward the farm equipment lane. “It’s not far if you cut through the field.”

“You’ve got to be kidding me,” Nick says.

Warren’s shrugging. “When I left,” he says, “she was crossing the blacktop.”

“Call Don,” Dana says again. This time Warren makes a show of punching the buttons and lifting the phone to his ear, like he’s mocking her request. Dana listens intently. “Do you hear that?” There’s so much movement on the scene she yells for everyone to stop. “There it is.”

Somewhere nearby a brrrng disturbs the country air.

I turn, expecting Dad. The only people around are other officers and Gladys, who lifts the blinking phone into the night air.

“This was in your car,” she says to Warren.
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Nick and Gladys are the sky above me. Someone’s repeating my name. I can’t ask what happened, my tongue’s a slug. Nick understands and explains, “You passed out. Dana caught you.”

I’m aware now of Dana’s clenched stomach and thigh muscles pillowing my head. She reclaims her right hand and sweeps hair off my forehead. “Easy, you. Deep breath,” she urges, and I close my eyes. The world swims.

“Warren?” I ask the back of my eyelids. “Warren?”

“Yeah, hon.”

“Where’s my dad?”

“I don’t know, but I’ll find out,” he says. He turns to Nick and gives him a stern nod, a command. “Get her out of here and to bed. Call me first if she needs anything.”

Why is no one asking about Dad’s phone? I’ve no sooner thought this than Dana says, “Warren, the phone?”

“Oh,” he says, as though the phone is all but forgotten. “Don and I were together ten minutes before your call came through on the radio.”

I test my ability to sit and Dana steadies me. “Where?” she asks Warren, and then, “Are you saying you’re his alibi?”

“Or he’s yours?” Nick says.

“You’ve got to be kidding. We were nowhere. That way.” Warren thumbs toward the road, in the direction of his house. “We were parked in the weeds, having it out over Constance and—” His chin lowers in my direction. “I have no idea if I’m an alibi or not. I’m not even sure when you’re suggesting the kidnapping occurred. It’s very early in the case, Agent Jones.”

The tension crackles.

Rather than say she’s pissed, Dana’s judgment is a set jaw, a searing glare. They don’t even notice when I stand and test my shaking knees. When their staring match folds in Dana’s favor, she checks her watch.

“I’m suggesting Tank disappeared from this truck, currently vandalized with the words Last One, sometime between 10:50 p.m. and 12:30 a.m. on the evening of June 1st or the morning of June 2nd, respectfully. Now, please suggest when you were with Don and how long this supposed argument over Constance lasted.”

Warren leans against the front bumper of Dana’s vehicle. “I’m not sure.” He kneads his forehead like its finicky dough. “I went home, swapped the truck for my squad car, and intended to head into the station and pick up an extra shift. Totally wired. June 1st and all. You know how that is,” he says to Dana, the friendliness back. “I’d already left for the station when Don called. He said he was almost to my house and wanted to settle things after our disagreement at the castle.” You know the disagreement, his short pause says to Dana. “I told him I was on the road, but I’d pull over. He got there. We made zero headway. The call came over the radio while he was in the front seat. He got out and ran.”

“Ran?” Dana asks.

“To his car.” Warren’s not looking at anyone as he says this. His voice is thick.

“And then?” Dana prompts.

“He drove off.”

“You didn’t follow?”

Warren’s chest puffs; he whittles Dana’s question with an Are you serious? expression. “I came straight here.”

Dana presses, and she’s more cage fighter than investigator in her delivery.

“So what I’m hearing is neither of you have an alibi for the time in question? And that Don Delacroix, lead suspect in the Gemini Thief case, and your best friend, is on the lam?”

Warren, all six foot two of him, straightens. The car lifts with the absence of his weight. He arrives in Dana’s space without invitation. Before she has time to realize what’s happening, he uses an index finger under her chin to lift her face toward his. They’re locked like two bucks in a field.

“Hear whatever you want, Dana, but neither of us would ever, and I mean ever, hurt Tank.”

Dana steels her voice. “Then why run?”

Warren lifts his left hand, shows off a row of swollen knuckles. “Probably because I broke his nose and he didn’t want you to decide he got his face battered by Tank. He’s not stupid. He knew he had to be one of the last people to see Tank before the disappearance; he’d asked him to ring the tower bell and he couldn’t explain why.”

Dana’s eyes drift to Warren’s fist. Maybe she’s thinking what I’m thinking: Is that really how you hurt your hand? The only way to know is to ask Dad, but to do so, I need to find him.

“Can we leave?” I ask Nick.

He tosses a set of keys at his sister. “Swap me vehicles, Dane. I’ll take the girls home.”

Dana sends her keys soaring. Nick folds Gladys under one wing, me under the other. “I’ll check on you,” Dana says. Then she clasps her hands in a prayer motion, like a question, and says, “Long night ahead. I have to call the Pipers. The town’s going to freak. We’ll have to canvass this whole area, although he’s likely long gone.” Nick nods.

Drudging back through the clotted grass and sandy roadside to the SUV, we leave the blue flashing lights and Tank’s crime scene.

“Home?” Nick asks, uncertain.

“Yeah. Drop Gladys and then me.”

“I wish I could stay with y’all,” Gladys says.

We both know she can’t. Her parents are losing it. “I’ll come over first thing in the morning,” I say.

Gladys nods and we tumble mutely into our grief and dread. Every light in the Baxter house blazes beacon bright when Nick eases into the driveway. He says, “City on a hill,” and kisses Gladys on the cheek.

I get out, wrap my best friend in a wordless hug that lasts decades and decades and would have lasted millenniums if Mrs. Baxter hadn’t come all the way down the walk and used Gladys’s first, middle, and last names.

“Tomorrow,” we say at the same time, and then let go.

Back in the car, I say, “We need to find my dad.”

“You need sleep,” Nick argues.

“We need to find my dad.”
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Not home. Not the tax office. Not the WCC. Not Griff and Ruby’s. Or the Markums’. Though, if he were running, hiding, he wouldn’t go somewhere attached to him. He’d go to Scottie’s, but I have no idea how to locate my uncle.

“Any other ideas?” Nick yawns.

It’s well after two a.m.

“Maybe.”

North of town, there’s an old KOA campground with a spot along the creek Dad and I named Low Tide Hideaway. We—me, Dad, Scottie, and Aulus—camped there once. That feels like a million years ago. It’s the only place coming to mind.

“If he’s not there, we’re going back to your house,” Nick says.

I rest my temple against the window, letting my eyes close. I don’t have more in me either.

The campground has seen better days. Abandoned, burned-out RVs, remnants of a miniature golf course, waist-high grass, and an empty blue concrete pool that skaters have had their way with. A heavy chain stretches between two leaning posts at the entrance. Nick drives around, the way many cars have before us. We enter the circles and circles of spotty gravel camping spots, and three baby skunks cross in front of us.

“All the way in the back,” I say.

Nick dims the headlights and for once his automatic windows work. Whiffs of pot and Swisher Sweets cigars tint the air. Twitching, we turn nervously toward each other, aware there’s probably an illegal pharmacy running a steady business out here somewhere. Nick drives deeper into the trees, using moonlight to stay on the trail.

There are parked cars in various turnoffs. Glowing red circles. Gray smoke. Flickers of movement as couples and addicts make sure we’re not cops.

“There,” I say when we reach the final circle.

Dad’s Ram is hidden by brush and trees. “You’re sure you trust him?” Nick asks.

I did. I do. I want to. I say, “At this point, does it matter if I don’t?”

Long ago, fairy tales taught me that dark people and places in this world exist; every story I consumed said, Expect dragons and trolls; thieves and cheats exist; witches and dark magic are out there; watch out, little one, they’ll bring darkness to your doorstep and whatever you do, don’t answer the door when evil knocks.

None of those stories told me there’d come a day when I’d count the lock on my door as a cruel irony. Because here’s the real truth: you can’t keep darkness out if he has a key.

Why don’t parents and storytellers understand that kids are smart and they can handle the truth? It might be a different world if we put children on our laps and whisper, “Honey, sometimes you can’t tell a monster’s a monster until it’s too late, and sometimes you will love a monster, and sometimes you’ll be related to a monster, and if that happens to you, you’re not stupid; you’re human, and love is still a good thing.”

Nick takes my index finger and thumb before threading the rest of his fingers through mine. I think he’s the one shaking until he sandwiches my hands between both of his and tucks them to his heart. My body is rattling.

“We can walk away.”

“I owe Tank more than that.”

“Thee, we can walk away.”

“You can. I can’t. He’s my dad no matter what he’s done.”

We approach the Ram. “Dad,” I call out. “It’s me and Nick.”

The truck’s empty, so Nick and I follow the trail, the creek whistling from the gully below. “Dad,” I say again.

“Thee?” he says, sadder than I’ve ever heard my name.

He’s a hunched shadow, and as we close in, the details sharpen into a gloomy image. Dad’s arms trap his knees and catch his buried face. His hair’s loose and wild, the ponytail holder low on his neck. The wilderness has reclaimed the little clearing that once held a fire ring and tiki torches. Only the creek front is perfectly preserved, percolating and meandering, edging right up to the toes of Dad’s boots.

“I’m so sorry, honey,” he whispers.

He’s crying and a bloody mess from Warren’s punch.

“About taking off? Or Tank?”

“Both.” Dad makes space on the log. He notices I sit closer to Nick, but I pray he’s too tired and sad to feel the full betrayal of these inches. He talks. We listen. The fight Dana overheard was Warren confessing his relationship with Constance. The fight Warren referenced was the follow-up event to the same fight. Warren’s story was pitch-perfect, right down to the timeline.

“So Uncle Warren punched you because you were angry about the Constance stuff?”

“No.” Dad’s head droops again. “Warren punched me because I asked if he took Aulus.” He sounds how I’ve felt for months. “It has to be someone close to me. For Warren to have lied to me all this time . . .”

“I know,” I say.

I think of Canada and nine years of lies.

He slides his eyes sideways in my direction. “Warren’s relationship with Constance would have hurt me back then. Funny thing, I wasn’t mad about them dating. I’d just signed my castle and daughter over to him and there were a million times he could have told me the truth.”

“We’re all untrustworthy sometimes, Mr. Delacroix.”

Dad inhales deeply, aware of Nick’s gentle callout.

“Why’d you run?”

I’m glad it’s Nick who asks instead of me.

“The call came over the radio. Warren asked where I went when I left the castle and I told him, ‘Nowhere. I drove around,’ and he said they’d likely arrest me again and I should consider running until after the end of the month.”

“So you do or don’t think Uncle Warren is the Gemini Thief?”

“Yesterday I’d have said I’d stake my life on Warren Burton. Today? Today the world is upside down again. The only thing I’m absolutely sure of is I didn’t take the boys, and I was supposed to build a castle.”

My father wades into the creek. Over and over, he scoops water above his head. The droplets land, disappearing in an outward ripple. He’s thinking about his castle. He’s mourning that he’s not going to finish what he believes was asked of him. I mourn too. Not for myself. For him. I’ve learned many painful things this year, maybe the worst, right now: I want to save him and I can’t.

I ask, “Do you remember the glow-in-the-dark train I played with at Uncle Warren’s?”

“You loved that thing.”

I say, “You weren’t wrong to question Uncle Warren. The Gemini Thief gave a train like mine to the June Boys. If you want to finish your castle, all lies stop here. You tell Dana everything and we trust the truth.”
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Gunmetal-gray haze crests the horizon on June 2nd as if it’s any other day. Dad turned himself over to federal custody an hour ago. I’m lying across the hood of Nick’s car, the engine warming my skin, while Nick paces my driveway and pumps his sister for current information. We should sleep; we’re too tired.

“Right . . . I see . . . Yes, that’s a complication . . . I’ll tell her . . . Yes . . . Yes . . . I’ll crash here. Constance is inside we think . . . Okay . . . I will . . . Yes, I promise. You too . . . Bye.”

“What’s a complication?”

“Warren’s in the clear.”

“Why?”

“Alibied out.”

“What?”

“Also, they searched the area for Tank. Nothing.”

I can’t let Warren’s presumed innocence go. “How did he alibi out?”

“All the other Junes.”

I’m indignant. “And you believe that?”

He gives me a You believe Dana too look. “Hold up, Sherlock. You have a rogue memory that matches a traumatized five-year-old’s Crayola drawing. That train’s not one of a kind.”

For the second time, I’ve gambled my father’s freedom on Dana and she’s failed me. “Warren stays on the suspect list. You were gung-ho Joe about—”

“You either trust my sister or you don’t.”

He doesn’t speak to me like this, ever. He knows it, I know it, and he catches himself and sighs. He scoots close and lies back on the hood, close enough that when I roll toward him I see the line of sweat in the curls at the nape of his neck.

“You know I didn’t mean that . . . Well, what I’m saying is . . . if your dad didn’t do this—and I agree that he didn’t—but it doesn’t mean Warren did.”

“Let’s find a way to cross Warren off the list.” I think for a minute. “Let’s search for the train in his attic.”

Two squirrels chase each other up an oak. Their little claws grab the bark as they skitter around. Nick stretches in the pause; his dress pants sag on his hips and his shirt creeps up his stomach, exposing a thin line of his tan belly. He’s handsome in a disheveled, brooding way, and that’s a far better thought than my anger.

He watches me.

The moment is jumper cables and engine sparks, energy where there had been nothingness. Though it’s out of place, I smile. A single smile resets us. Every curl on his head is matted in wild paisley-like patterns and he wedges his fingers through the brown thicket around his temples. He’s either going to kiss me or cave.

He says, “No. Absolutely not. Too dangerous—”

“Track this out with me. Dana says Warren is safe. We trust Dana. Why would you worry about me checking for a train that’s likely right where I left it years ago?”

He raises his hand E.T. style. We press our fingertips together, leaving space between our palms. He whispers, “You didn’t let me finish. Emotionally dangerous.”

“Oh, please.”

The pressure in his fingertips mounts, pulses. “You signed guardianship papers yesterday. Let’s assume for a second Warren’s exactly who he looks like to the rest of the world. Kind Warren Burton. Officer Warren Burton. Upright Warren Burton. You’re inviting tension with the one person you’re going to need if we can’t get your dad out of jail.”

“You going somewhere?”

“You know I’m not.”

No, I don’t. The universe steals all my favorite people.

He tilts toward me, strokes my hand, then my face. “Hey. Let’s hash this out tomorrow when we’re both more sensible.”

Exhaustion swallows me. I don’t have any more to give, and emotions are pouring out, magnetizing toward the only target in close proximity.

Later, as I lie in bed, a million things to tell him come to mind. Thank you for always being here. Even in the terrible times. Even at five in the morning after my dad’s second arrest. I love you.
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After three hours of restlessness, I take my tired heart to Griff and Ruby’s. When I arrive in my godparents’ drive, Griff is in the yard, dragging limbs to a blazing fire barrel. A column of gray stretches high above the boundary pines. Quickening his step, Griff crosses the driveway and pulls me into a hug made of peat and smoke. He’s wearing yesterday’s clothes, which are far too dressy for the work he’s doing.

“Tank—” I can’t say his name without crying.

His mouth twists; his eyes find the asphalt. “I know.”

My heart thumps. “Dad—”

“Warren called.” Griff removes his cell from its belt clip and begins typing. “Actually, I’ll let him know you’re here. He was worried about you. We all were. Ruby was . . .” His eyes roll up in his head and I know what he’s saying: Ruby was ballistic.

“Sorry.”

“She drove around looking for you.”

“She okay?”

“I don’t think so, kiddo.” He exhales. In that single exhale are hours and days of sleeplessness. His dirty hands and smoky clothes hold me close.

“Sorry,” I say again. “I didn’t mean to scare you guys.”

The apology is weak. I want to ask how he has energy to pick up limbs and preen his yard after the night we’ve all had, but this is the shape of his exhaustion. Work. Work. Work. Bridle chaos with Midas effort.

“How much longer before you sleep?” I ask.

He shrugs.

“You?”

“That’s why I’m here,” I admit.

The house is night quiet. Day brightens the halls as I tiptoe past the bathroom and open the guest room door. Ruby is draped across the navy coverlet on the bed. She also wears yesterday’s clothes and her hair is disheveled by restlessness. I linger in the doorway, tears welling in my eyes. She’s asleep in this bed, my bed, because of me. For an instant, I long to be small enough to be lifted and held, the way Griff does with the kids at the WCC. The way I used to do when I was babysitting Tank’s little cousin. Maybe Griff’s wishing the same thing. Whatever’s on his mind, he doesn’t share. He gazes at his wife and then whispers to me, “Thee, honey, crash in our bed. I’ll take the couch after I douse the fire barrel.”

There are dreams of trains and jail cells and bunkers.

Of Tank, Aulus, and Nick.

Of duct tape and cinched ropes.

Before the alarm screams, a ghostly hand brushes Last One across my stomach in red paint.

I lie still for a long time, listening as Ruby futzes in the kitchen, searching for the energy to shower or fix myself a sandwich. Do I confront Uncle Warren? Do I beg Dana to share evidence? Do I sneak into the farmhouse and check the attic? Working the scenario gives me a massive headache.

I haven’t eaten in hours. If only this were a normal summer day. Gladys, Tank, Aulus, and I would burn canned biscuits in the WCC kitchen, or if we had money, hit Waffle House for pancakes. Gladys is probably in bed too, drowning her room in the music her mother hates, picturing life without Tank. I know how dangerously far a what-if imagination travels when seized by worst-case scenario fears.

Not knowing feels like you’re being digested. There are even days when I long for someone to call and tell me they’ve found Aulus’s body, just to be released from hoping.

The day after the police found Aulus’s car, I willed him to call. This is all a huge mistake, he’d say. Months passed before I adjusted to his absence. Phantom barbells clanked in the garage for weeks. How many tickets? Four. No, three. Table or booth? Will someone else be joining you? Yes. No.

What are Gladys and I now? A table for two?

The injustice forces me upright. I borrow a sheet of paper from a bedside notebook and write:

The Case Against Warren Burton

        -  Owns/owned same glow-in-the-dark train Corey described.

        -  He’s in the welding photo.

        -  He was in proximity to the castle during the window Tank disappeared.

        -  The t in Last One matches his handwriting.

        -  He has the cop know-how to pull off a crime of this magnitude.

        -  He fits the profile: single, white, male, under forty, who either feels powerless or has put himself in a career that accesses power and encourages trust with minors.

        -  He knows Dad well enough to frame him. Including knowledge of Dad’s travel plans to Baxter and access to a castle key chain.

Solution: Search for the train.




THE ELIZABETH LETTERS
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The crucial forty-eight-hour window crawls by with no leads or breaks on Tank’s disappearance. The smoothness of the crime and the spray-painting in particular—which psychologists attribute to both mocking arrogance and a compulsion to finalize a predatory vision—match the case’s decade-long frustration.

My father’s being held.

Nick says the first arrest works against him being released. Under other circumstances, they’d maybe risk tailing him. But the real Gemini Thief would not be stupid enough to lead them to the boys, and they’re hedging their bets that’s who they’re holding in lockup. Dana says they’re interrogating him.

The only good thing: search-and-rescue efforts have become an elaborate operation. The FBI’s focusing all its attention on canvassing Simpson County. A team of thirty agents is holed up in a roach coach motel on the outskirts of Wildwood, working the case. The first few days, they searched for boys. Five days in, everyone seems to think they’re looking for bodies.

Constance, who thankfully is sticking around, stops me on my way out the door. There’s a kiss brushed to my forehead and then she locks me in like I’m her baby. “You.” She winks before she continues. “Please remember you can’t solve this by yourself. You’ve got help everywhere.”

I embrace her hard, trying to shove my love into her marrow and veins, and say, “I’ll remember that if you promise no more I’ll cut three miles through this field of mice and snakes in the middle of the night. Okay? Thanks.”

She grins, we pinky swear, and I’m out in the sunlight.

“That was a nice exchange,” Nick observes when we’re in the driveway.

“We’re . . .” I search for a phrase that encompasses Constance. “Pretty tight.” At least one good thing has come from chaos.

On our way to Dana, Nick stalls at a stoplight and massages the steering wheel. “Tell me whatever it is you aren’t telling me,” he says.

I am thinking about breaking into Uncle Warren’s and how that’s technically a felony and how if you help and we’re caught, your law degree, your future, is irrevocably damaged.

“You blame me, don’t you?” he asks, pivoting slowly toward me. There’s visible regret before he speaks. “I should have gone with Tank to get the backpack even though you didn’t tell me about the backpack at all.” There’s bitterness in those words and he falls into a silence I understand. “And now everything you do or don’t do—touch my hand, lean in or out, sit toward the window instead of the console—is this cosmic sign that I broke us all.” He sighs again. “I’m tired, Thee. And then I feel guilty for the privilege of being tired. Do you wish he’d taken me instead of Tank?”

“Stop,” I say. “I can’t live through losing anyone else. Stop, and know I’m glad you’re here. So glad.”

When Nick and I meet Dana in the sad, untidy lobby, she looks dreadful. She’s got a pizza box and a two-liter of Mountain Dew pinned to her hip and I’ve seen roadkill with better posture.

“I only have about twenty minutes,” she warns as we walk through dripping air conditioning puddles to her room. Nick and I settle into the only two chairs available and listen to her babbling. “I’m not even sure why they got us these rooms when we’re basically living out of the Wildwood precinct.” She smells her pits and frowns. “Dang, I need a shower.”

Nick opens the box, lifts a slice, and places it in her hand. “You need to eat, Dane.”

Dana collapses on the bed, tilts the slice above her mouth, and takes a bite. We chew through one piece, two pieces; she takes a third, all without speaking. There are no cups for the soda so we share swigs. Dana wipes the grease from her hands on the comforter and scooches toward the pillows. The headboard rattles when she leans back.

“Your dad’s holding up,” she tells me. “I saw him late afternoon. He asked me to check on you and make sure you aren’t doing anything stupid regarding Warren.”

“I’m not. He’s taking time off,” I say.

Which I know because Gladys and I spent the day parked behind the old Rippee barn, sharing a pair of binoculars. There was hardly anything to watch except Uncle Warren hulking back and forth to his construction trailer, carrying lumber and tools.

“Personal days according to the chief,” Dana says. There are no facial clues regarding her thoughts on this.

To hear Warren tell it, the days aren’t optional. His chief said something along the lines of “Burton, you’re too close to this. Get your head on straight. Come back Friday.” It’s interesting Dana got a milder version of the story. Or maybe the sheriff’s office isn’t communicating fully after the invasion of the Feds.

“He calls every day,” I say.

“Good.” Dana sweeps her hair into a tiny bun, unfastens her belt, and riffles until she finds clothes that don’t stink. “He didn’t do this, Thea. Trust the evidence.”

I argue, “Then why would he tell Dad to run until the end of the month? Wouldn’t only the kidnapper know that timeline?”

Dana looks incredulous. “The whole world knows the timeline, and Warren loves your dad enough to try to save him from further destruction.”

“Is there another suspect?” Nick asks.

Dana is halfway to the bathroom. “I can’t tell you that.”

Nick presses, “You know law enforcement often stops looking for the truth after a prime suspect is in custody.”

Dana rolls her eyes. “Take the pizza when you leave.” This should be our dismissal, except Dana leans through the bathroom door into the room, clutching her towel and sympathy, and asks, “Want me to tell your dad anything if I see him?”

“Don’t mention the castle stuff if you can help it.”

The castle’s a complete cluster. As if we needed more difficulties, the police were dispatched to the property this morning. When the number popped up on the caller ID, my heart dropped out of my body until Constance and I listened to an on-duty officer explain there had been some trespassing and vandalism at the castle. Some. More like, a lot. The castle got tagged, inside and out, with Release Our Boys and Execute the Gemini Thief and Wildwood for Justice.

“Don’s seen the report. We had to ask him if he had a clue who’d deface his property.”

“And did he?”

Dana shakes her head and closes the bathroom door.

Nick pulls me out of the chair and walks me back to the car. When he gives me the casual hug I’m accustomed to, I don’t let go and his lips brush the skin behind my ear. “I have an idea about getting you into Warren’s legally.”

“You do?” My voice is lower than I mean for it to be, sexier.

He slings the nearly empty box onto the Civic’s dash. “Tell Warren you need to have a package delivered and you don’t want it coming to your place or the castle because of the media. He’ll say you can have it sent to his house. Then you have a reason to be there on Friday when he goes back to work.”

“And if he doesn’t say that?”

“Then I’ll concede he’s hiding something.”
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Why I let Ruby order so much food when I’m not hungry is a mystery. Me pushing the grease across my DQ tray doesn’t satisfy her in the slightest. Around the table appetites vary widely. Warren hasn’t managed a single bite. Telling him about “the package” I’m having delivered to his house tomorrow would be easier if I felt I could read him, but he’s here and far away.

I stomach another onion ring and endure Ruby’s That a girl thumbs-up.

Griff’s telling Ruby, Warren, Constance, and me about meeting with the lawyer. I’m not sure how we ended up at Dairy Queen, but here we are, crammed into a booth meant for a family of four. Griff salts his fries, says, “He’s trying to expedite the FBI’s release of exculpatory evidence and wants to bring us up to speed on what he’s learned.”

Warren says, “There’s no way in a case this large, stretching over so many years, there aren’t other suspects. But if the lawyer thinks he needs Brady evidence to win, it’s because he can’t cast probable doubt without supplying another potential kidnapper to the jury.”

I wish Nick was here to translate the legalese.

Warren lifts an onion ring, ogles the fried circle with regret, and sets it back down. “And in this case, with Tank, that means the lawyer’d be pointing at someone who attended the graduation party.”

Ruby pauses her burger midway to her mouth and turns to Griff. “But they’re not doing that?”

Griff shushes the fear with an egotistical nod and that makes Ruby sigh with relief. She knows opinions are based on available information, not available truth. Everyone involved has a life they want protected from false accusations, same as Dad, and they’re already taking heat for their association with him. Parents of my favorite kids have already pulled their WCC memberships. Warren told me yesterday that none of his ride-along partners have been all that supportive.

Still, I wonder if Warren’s right or if Dad’s lawyer misled him at Dad’s direction. Dad had listened to me about the train, and he agreed the coincidence was strange, but he remains Team Warren 90 percent of the time. He’d said, “Warren looked me in the eye and told me he didn’t do this. Plus, the FBI cleared him.” My astute response was “So? The FBI cleared you too. They’re not exactly batting a thousand.”

Dad clicked through his rebuttals like a Rolodex. Finally, he said, “If I want people to believe I’m innocent, this is the only path there is. You’re the one who taught me that.”

I trusted the truth more when Warren was still on Dana’s suspect list. Which isn’t necessarily trusting the truth, I guess. Maybe it was cruel, but I told him he was naive to believe people cared more about facts than drama. Especially in Wildwood.

As if to prove I’m right, Lila Kate, who has slipped me multiple Blizzards when her manager isn’t on shift, stalks our table and texts someone with fast-finger fervor. I’m probably being paranoid and her texts are about dinner plans or whether her husband has picked up the kids yet, but she’s wearing so much open disgust that I wonder if old Lila Kate had a Gemini sign in her yard last week. When I lean toward Warren to ask about the package, she’s straining in our direction.

“I had a package delivered to your place,” I say to Warren.

His back straightens. “When does it arrive?”

“Tomorrow. Okay for me to come over and pick it up? The media are all over us at the house.”

Constance exhales. “So true.”

Warren stacks his condiment containers in a tiny white column on the table. “Why don’t you let me bring it to you after work tomorrow?”

“Because it’s a nozzle for Dad’s pressure washer. I was hoping to get some of the paint off the castle—”

“Oh.” He’s relieved. “I’ll take care of that Saturday, soon as I get off work.”

“I don’t mind.”

“Are you kidding? Don will have my hide.”

“So my faithful new guardian doesn’t want me at his house?” I pour on the sugar.

Uncle Warren’s cheeks blaze bright red. “Not until it’s a little less bachelor pad, if you know what I mean. I’ve been crazy with the case . . . and I was doing some construction last week. There are tools everywhere.”

I let him believe he’s off the hook and excuse myself to the restroom. Nick answers on the first ring. After I tell him about Warren’s reaction, he says, “First of all, breathe. Then keep acting normal. I’ll meet you later and we’ll plan.”

“My house?” I ask.

“Castle,” he says.

Leaving the bathroom, I bump into Griff. He gestures to the parking lot.

“Bad news. Literally.”

Multiple vans line the curb. The media zoo is lions today, prowling and hungry. In retrospect, Lila Kate’s texts make sense. I cast a scathing look toward the register and wish I was wearing something nicer than a tank top. We dump our trays with no thought of the remaining food and assemble at the door like we’re getting ready to dart into the rain. Warren lays his hand atop my head and squeezes gently.

“Mean it, kiddo. No worrying about the nozzle.” Then to Constance, he says, “Keep her busy, please.”

Constance nods and we scatter to the vehicles armed only with lowered chins and “No comment.” Each stoplight gives me an opportunity to lose the tailing cars. I head downtown and hide in the public library book-drop lane. I don’t wait long enough and two vans follow the Ram to the castle. They’re camped beside the gate when Gladys arrives fifteen minutes later. They still haven’t budged an hour later when Nick rolls up the drive.

“We should call them in for trespassing,” he says.

“We’ve called in quite enough things lately,” I say.

We bring our small meeting to order. There is little to no discussion. We all agree Warren’s house needs to be searched. The primary question is how to pull off the expedition if the media follows me to Warren’s. We agree to swap vehicles tonight.

Nick says, “You and Gladys take my car to Dana’s hotel room. She’s working all night. I’ll stay here with your dad’s Ram. Tomorrow morning on your way to Warren’s, drop Gladys at the Rippee barn to keep an eye on you.”

“Where will you be?” Gladys asks.

“I’ll head over to the WCC. That puts your dad’s Ram far from the action and me near the police station. Hopefully Warren spots the truck and assumes you’re hanging with Griff and Ruby. My gut says he’s checking in on you tomorrow.”
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The gravel road leading to Warren’s farmhouse washed out in the recent rains, leaving a bare-bone rut that shakes the car. The creek’s still swollen and sprinting toward the river. I think of Chris Jenkins. If this water was ever in his lungs.

Every jolt to the Civic produces memories.

Uncle Warren, ten years ago, shirtless in stars-and-stripes swim trunks, filling a plastic pool with a heavy black garden hose. The old waterlogged tire swinging from a skyscraper oak tree in his front yard. Black tire smudges on my pink shorts, which Warren meticulously scrubbed with spot cleaner. Adults do a million things to show you love that you don’t register as love when you’re young.

Warren does them all. And other things too.

The other things are why I’m here. A train. The arc of his ts. The way he deterred me from his house. Even the padlocked door in his kitchen, where once upon a time Aulus told me he was working to finish out Warren’s basement.

Just being out here, my brain is a lemon shoved onto a juicer; memories eke like pulp. We stayed with Warren for three weeks before we moved into our Wildwood house.

Long after they put me to sleep each night, my father and Warren would either sit and talk at the picnic table in the kitchen or build something. On the talking nights, I’d creep to my perch on the bottom step and listen to them drink beer and curse my mother.

I remember Warren once saying, “Don’t tell me that, Don. I’m a cop,” and my father tapping his bottle against the table edge, responding, “That’s exactly why I’m telling you.”

On the building nights, there were hammers and saws, that ratchet sound a driver makes when there are no more turns to be made. The same sounds drift toward the Rippee barn this week.

I never saw what Dad and Warren built, and no amount of brain juicing pulls more substance to the surface.

When I shut Nick’s car door, a deer munching on low-hanging branches bolts into the adjacent field. The old blue-and-white rope, tire long removed, sways in the wind like a noose. Knowing Gladys is tracking me through the binoculars, I turn toward the Rippee barn and put a thumb in the air. Okay so far. My head pounds with adrenaline as I stare at the white two-story farmhouse. Its friendly parts: large dormer window with bright blue shutters, wraparound porch, rooster weather vane atop the metal roof. Its not-so-friendly parts: the brick cellar with the rusted door near the side porch, disconnected gutters, unpinned latticework that clacks in the summer wind, brownish-green mold crawling up wood siding to the roof. A house with two personalities.

There are no signs of traffic on the lane. Nothing to hear but crickets and my own beating heart.

I rub my hand over the bowed gray-wood table on the deck and recall countless meals. Boxes of gas station–fried chicken. Over-grilled burgers. Warren’s special recipe waffles with bacon and maple syrup in the batter for my birthday celebrations. It’s strange how my acquaintance with his house feels like familiarity with Uncle Warren. And how maybe everything I’ve always believed is a fabrication.

There’s a stone rabbit key box under the forsythia bush. When I shove the yellow buds and whip-like branches aside, the rabbit’s gone.

I search everywhere and find the rabbit without its key on the first step of the cellar. I tug on the kitchen, front, and back doors, and they’re all locked. Lucky for me, the bathroom window isn’t latched. The picnic table scrapes long trenches in the grass as I drag it toward the house. Standing atop the wood, I lift the windowsill high enough to squeeze through and drop into the room.

I strain my ears even though I know he’s not here. My heart is the only sound in the house. Get in. Get out. I head toward the kitchen.

Warren wasn’t kidding. The house is a wreck. Clothes and bags are strewn across the living room floor, a pillow and blanket laid out on the couch. Two boxes of cereal are on the counter; a milk carton open next to them. There’s construction equipment scattered all through the mud and laundry rooms. A stack of lumber sits in the entry corridor. I should go straight to the attic and look for the train, but that padlocked door to the basement won’t let me. There are two locks now and I swear there used to be just one.

Several key sets hang on a hook by the window. None fit either lock. There are a few obvious places to check for more keys: four drawers beside the stove, the flour canister on the counter, the wooden bowl on the table. I find batteries, salt packets from McDonald’s, a tape measure, rubber bands long melted into the drawer bottoms, broken pencils. No keys among the madness. I’ve all but made up my mind to use the tire iron in Nick’s trunk to break the lock when there’s a sound behind me.

“Looking for something?” a male voice asks.

I drop the lock and it clangs against the door. Fear tiptoes up my body. The only weapon in sight is a pair of kitchen scissors, but I can’t slide them off the counter without drawing attention.

“Thea, it’s been a long time.”

I stay still, considering my options. Run. Turn around. Pray.

“Tsk-tsk-tsk. Warren said you might turn up.”

I make a hectic grab for the scissors and spin.

Uncle Scottie blocks the exit.

He has a gun.
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We are matador and bull.

“Put the scissors down.”

“Put the gun down.”

Uncle Scottie gives me the same yes, ma’am nod I’ve seen from so many born and bred Simpson County boys. As if I asked, Could you check the windshield fluid after you change the oil? He shoves the gun into the front of his waistband and lifts his hands in a That better for you? gesture. Hardly. He steps forward and I inch toward the kitchen door, wondering if I should run toward the living room or attempt to slip by him.

He pulls out a chair and sits. “You gonna put those Fiskars in me or what?”

I tighten my grip on the scissors and his eyes roll toward the chair across from him. “Sit, Thea. It’s just me.” I obey, the napkin holder a tiny wall between us. My dad’s beloved cousin rolls his tongue over his lips and then says, “Want to tell me what you’re doing in Officer Warren Burton’s house uninvited?”

I tip my chair slightly back, putting as much distance between us as possible. “You first?”

Scottie pats the front pocket of his T-shirt and makes a show of checking the pockets of his jeans. “Let’s see, I’ve got my invitation here somewhere.” There’s no humor stretching across those brown irises when he looks at me. “I’m searching for my son.”

“You’re about ten years too late.”

He points a trigger finger in my direction. “Nice one. You learn that from your dad?”

“You’re hiding out.”

Lifting both hands in the air, like I’m the one with the gun, he says, “Caught me, Sherlock.”

Is Scottie the reason Warren didn’t want me here? “Why?”

“Because read-a-thon Leo and I own that”—he holds in a curse, but it’s there on his lips—“flooded house in Nashville and Chris Jenkins drowned and my son is missing and I haven’t exactly shown . . . What do they call it?” He snaps his fingers. “Moral fiber.”

I want to punch the attitude off his face. “You investigating Warren?” I ask.

Scottie rears back. He doesn’t laugh, but he’s entertained. “Officer Bach. Oh, that’s rich.”

I flick my head in the direction of the locked door.

“What? Warren’s keeping Aulus in his basement?” A sad smile creeps across my uncle’s lips.

Something in me snaps. “I don’t find anything about Aulus or Tank missing funny.”

His expression melts as quickly as it formed. There’s sorrow, maybe pain or even regret, etched on his face now. His handsome son hides among his aging features—broad shoulders, dark hair, darker eyebrows—and I find myself softening, aching that Aulus isn’t here to see his father. The dad we always assumed didn’t care.

“I’m here because my son was kidnapped.” He readjusts in his seat, meets my eyes. “I’m helping Warren locate Aul. Clear your dad. Not that your dad’s happy about it. He and Warren riffed pretty hard on it the other night.”

I remove the Welder photo from my pocket and smack the print on the table. “You could be doing this together,” I suggest.

Scottie lifts the photo. “Man, this feels like a hundred years ago.”

“So you admit that you and Warren have welding helmets?”

His eyes raise, his eyebrows arch. “Yes.”

“And you’re in this photo?”

He shakes his head. “I took this picture.”

I flip the image over, tap his name indignantly. “That’s you.”

“Uh, thanks, except I’ve never had that six-pack in my life. That’s Griff Holtz every day of the week and twice on Sunday.”

Griff wouldn’t lie. “But Griff—”

“Not me, darling niece.” There’s depth and earnestness to the claim. “I couldn’t get my act together to get a job back then, and even if I could’ve, Griff wouldn’t have hired me.”

I’m struggling to understand the implications of Griff lying.

“You’re saying Griff has a welding helmet? That you and Warren knew all along?”

“Yep,” he says.

I’m already standing up. “Come to the attic with me. Or don’t come, but I have to check on something.” I’m halfway up the steps before he’s behind me, arguing that there’s nothing up here. Turns out he’s right about that. The attic is empty. No boxes at all.

“What were you expecting to find?”

“A glow-in-the-dark train. One of the released kids mentioned a train like the one Warren let me play with when I was a kid.” The darkness of the room can’t disguise Scottie’s guilt.

“What?” I say. Fear charges through me again; I’m in an attic with a man I don’t know anymore, and he has a gun.

“Thea, Warren paid me to empty this attic years ago.”

“When?”

“I dunno. Before I left Wildwood for good. Aulus was like . . . seven or eight.”

Scottie had the train.

“I dropped everything at the WCC.”

The wheels turn; the situation crystallizes in a neat list of facts.

The Case Against Griff Holtz

        •  In possession of the train Corey described.

        •  In the welding photo and lied about it.

        •  Asked me to destroy the welding photo.

        •  In proximity to the castle during the window Tank disappeared. Also, was up all night burning stuff.

        •  Has freedom in his schedule. Owns an old ice cream van that could be used for transporting kidnapped children.

        •  Fits the profile: white, male, under forty, who placed himself in a career that accesses power and encourages trust with minors. Strong enough to lift Aulus or Tank.

        •  Knows Dad well enough to frame him. Including knowledge of Dad’s travel plans to Baxter and access to a castle key chain.

        •  Hired the lawyer who has been unable to release Dad.

Scottie and I return to the kitchen and the welding photo.

“This is Griff?” I ask again, like the photograph might have rearranged itself while we were in the attic.

“Yes.”

I pause. The next bit will be hard to say aloud. “You’re not the Thief. Warren’s not the Thief. Griff is.”

Scottie nods. “That’s the theory Warren and Dana are working.”

We’re interrupted by Gladys banging on Warren’s door.

“Thea!” She’s out of breath and screaming through the wood. The world must be on fire. Even seeing Scottie through the pane doesn’t faze her. “We gotta go right now! It’s Nick,” she yells as I open the door.

Everything slows. Lurches. Slows again.

Nick is at the WCC.

Nick is with Griff.

Griff is dangerous.
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The seat belt metal burns the exposed skin between my T-shirt and shorts. In the back seat, Gladys grips the door’s side panel, her fingers hovering over the window button like she’s overheated and can’t remember how to cool down. Uncle Scottie flies over county roads at terrifying speeds; the three of us pant like dogs left in a locked car.

“Tell me what happened,” Uncle Scottie demands. When Gladys doesn’t respond, Scottie snaps his fingers in the direction of the back seat. “You. Tell. Me. What. Happened. I need to call Warren.”

Gladys gasps out the story in spurts. Five or six minutes before she burst into the house, Nick called. He’d called me first and I hadn’t answered. The connection was so bad she’d only understood some whispered phrases.

Nick’s voice: “Glads . . . train is . . . here.” And then, far off in the distance, a man shouted, “Hey. Hey.” Then Nick again, frightened, saying, “Griff. It’s Griff.”

Then click.

Gladys called back. No answer.

When I check my phone, there are three missed calls from Nick. The phone never rang.

“What do we do?” I ask.

Scottie tries Warren and when he doesn’t reach him, leaves a message. “Warren. WCC now. Griff has Nick Jones. I’m on my way.”

“What do we do?” I repeat.

Scottie’s cheeks harden; his knuckles are white against the steering wheel.

“I’ll kill him,” he says. He’s had time to work this up. I’m still fighting the psychology, aligning the Griff I know with the Griff who put Aulus underground for a year, aligning the Scottie who left his kid with the one driving the car at warp speed for a chance to save Nick. Aulus would enjoy the decency of the action; he’d love the rage.

I can’t teleport physical matter, but maybe emotions are small enough to travel.

I send Nick courage.

I send him love.

I send him life.

Gladys fights Scottie’s anger with logic. “You can’t kill him, we don’t know where Tank and Aulus are. The others—”

Scottie pounds the steering wheel and we swerve into the vacant oncoming lane. In the back seat, Gladys grips the ceiling handle with all ten fingers. Town’s a few turns away. Scottie tries Warren again and when there’s no answer, he throws the phone at my lap and instructs me to keep trying.

I dial and pray. Help us. Help us. A single image ripples to mind and becomes sound: Dad’s tower bell—the one he bought the night Chris’s body was dumped on I-40—ringing and ringing and ringing.

Warren doesn’t answer.

The WCC’s playground is full of sliding, teetering, swinging happiness. Kids yell, “Ready or not, here I come,” and chase each other from fence to fence. Today’s a normal day for them.

We sling gravel through the chain-link fence onto the playground and Leah yells, “Slow down! These are children.”

Scottie says, “Stay here. Keep calling Warren.”

I pass his phone to the back seat. “911 instead?”

Scottie glances toward the playground. “I don’t know what’s best. Send the cops roaring in here and scare the bejesus out of everyone . . . But then again . . .” He shifts his T-shirt to hide the gun. “Go with your gut.”

Scottie jogs toward the door and raises a casual hand to Leah. “Looking for Griff,” we hear him say. Leah looks alarmed until she spots us in the car and waves.

Gladys raises the phone to her ear. “I’m calling Dana.”

I cannot stay here. I keep jogging when she hollers after me.

Kool-Aid and snacks are on the lobby counter. No one is in sight. A chorus of singsong voices drifts through the halls. “We’re going on a bear hunt,” the leader sings jovially and the children repeat. In the closest playroom, a Jenga tower topples and laughter erupts.

These are the sounds of my childhood.

I force myself toward logic. The train wouldn’t be in the basement; we’re down there all the time. Nick must be upstairs.

Dust falls from the lobby ceiling fan. The building creaks. It’s been years since I went to the second or third story. I ease open the stairwell door. Listen. Nothing. But there are shoe treads, close to the wall, disturbing the grimy wooden planks. Nick’s shoes. My bravery isn’t a deep well, but I inch up, again, again, again, pausing on every step to listen.

The second floor’s empty.

I round the landing of the third level. Slivers of pale daylight work their way through the covered windows, casting grim shadows on the wide warped floorboards. Has Griff already hurt Nick? Will he hurt me?

There are more disturbances in the dust. How many sets of prints? Three? Four? I’m not sure.

I hear Griff and almost collapse against the wall. He’s agitated. Anguished. I crouch, clutching the toes of my tennis shoes with trembling fingers. He first begs and then demands to be heard.

Nick begs back. “Hey. Hey. You don’t have to do this. Tell us where they are and let them go. That’s all people care about.”

Griff responds, but the words are pinched, unrecognizable. Hysterical pleading and then, “It’s over. It’s over. It has to be over right now.”

“Please don’t,” Nick says. “Don’t.”

There’s a groan.

A sob.

I’ve been frozen, clinging to my hiding space in the hallway.

Assuming the standoff started when Nick called, they’ve been escalating for twenty or thirty minutes. That’s a long time for tension to be this high.

I have a choice. Wait for Scottie or Dana or Warren, or go inside. There’s danger and answers on the other side of the door that ask me to pause one moment and consider all the things I haven’t done yet in life. College. Career. Marriage. Kids. And just as many things I put on hold this year to find Aulus.

Everyone, even my best friends, even my father, saw those decisions as a sacrifice. College applications, on hold. Friends, on hold. High school, prom, graduation, all on hold. But the thing is, I don’t care. Some things require more than we have to give, and all I know to do is give and give and give and hope it’s enough. I’m not sorry. I’d do it all again.

So this, the danger, it’s not even a real decision. I turn the brass door handle and push.

I hear the unmistakable cock of a gun.

Voices run together like broken egg yolks.

“There’s no other choice,” another voice inside says.

I swing the door open, brace for a bullet. “Griff, don’t hurt Nick. Please.”

Griff is not the one who has a gun pressed to Nick’s temple.

Even in the half light, I see Ruby’s finger tremble against the trigger. At the sight of me, her mouth drops open in horror.
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Ruby and Nick are by the window.

Griff and I are by the door.

We are the room.

Ruby screams, “Thea!” with such force I am afraid she will accidentally take Nick’s head off. Panic explodes through his face; he quiets every muscle with visible effort, forcing himself from tippy-toe heaves to flat-footed deep breaths.

Griff, eyes on Ruby, says to me, “You shouldn’t be here.”

Scottie must have started searching the basement.

I deconstruct my previous theory and try to fathom how Ruby—the closest person I’ve had to a mom for years—could hurt Nick. Hurt anyone. Ruby, as the Gemini Thief.

I don’t know what I’ve interrupted, but that can’t be what this is. I swivel toward Griff, begging for a silent explanation. Tears fall from his chin.

“Honey, let Nick go.”

Agitated, eyes flying from door to gun to Griff, she says, “I can’t. You know I can’t.”

Griff dumps buckets of love into two words. “You can.”

“It’s too late. Chris . . . ,” she cries, and as she heaves, the gun jabs Nick’s skull. His shoulders curl away from her.

“Hey . . .” Griff’s hands are outstretched, pleading. “I promise you can. You always let your June Boys go, right? You take those boys to love them, right? Love them the way their parents don’t. Help fill the holes in their lives. That’s good-hearted”—and completely psycho—“and letting Nick go would also be good-heart—”

“Shut up!” Ruby taps the gun. Metal clicks against bone. “Shut up!” she says again, her voice rising.

A screech rebounds around the room. I don’t realize I’m the one making the noise until the words empty from my mouth. “Why? Why would you do this?”

Griff pats the air in warning. “Don’t. You’ll set her off,” he says. I can’t tell Griff’s involvement, but there’s no doubt he’s shielding me with his body.

He addresses his wife again. “Honey, let Nick go. Nick’s not a June Boy.”

“Neither was Tank. But Aulus needed him after . . .” She’s not making sense. “Doesn’t matter now. Dead boys. Dead boys. I should have fed them. I didn’t feed them.” Her tone flattens. “I’m dead too.”

Griff inches slightly forward. “You’re not. Warren said Chris drowned. His ribs were broken from someone trying to resuscitate him. Was that you?”

Her shoulders drop, the gun wobbles momentarily. “That was Aulus. All Aulus. I left them down there in the flood. I didn’t know the bunker would leak. Fill. I didn’t—” She’s dissolving, the gun’s shaking.

In her own way, she loved Chris and she’s mourning his loss. While we have her attention diverted, I chime in. “Ruby, I know you’d never hurt Chris on purpose.”

“You do?” she asks like a child on the first day of school, full of uncertainties.

“Of course,” Griff agrees and nods at me.

“Absolutely,” I say. “You are always kind.”

“But I’m not,” Ruby says. “I took them because I wanted them. I wanted to take more. Save more.” She looks dead at me. “I even wanted to take you.”

Nick’s eyes dart toward the floor. He wants to duck under Ruby’s grip. He might have been able to if Scottie hadn’t arrived, gun drawn, letting fly a string of curses and threats.

We are right back in the danger zone.

Ruby’s more rattled than ever. She stares at her husband, me, Scottie’s gun. She says a single word, “Can’t.”

The sirens wheeze their arrival from the street.

I raise my voice over the noise. “Why not?”

Ruby pitches forward, her weight on Nick. “This isn’t supposed to happen,” she says, almost apologetically. She lifts Nick’s chin with the gun. “Stop right there, Griff.”

Griff, who has been advancing in baby scoots and shuffles, stops. “Honey, I’d never hurt you. Let Nick go. Tell us where Aulus and the others are. This will be okay.”

“Please,” I beg. “Are they still alive?”

“Dead boys,” she says, her sadness profound. “And I only took him because you were back.” She spits this accusation at Scottie. “He pulled me aside. Me. Showed me a pill bottle and said you’d showed up and wanted to be part of his life again, and then you disappeared. He wanted to search for you. I couldn’t let him waste his life on someone as miserable as you.”

Monsters don’t always look like monsters on the outside, and maybe they’re not always monsters, but this is a horrific thing Ruby has done, and done, and done, and done. Boys are dead.

I hear the billboards from I-65. The Gemini Thief could be anyone. Your father, your mother, your best friend’s crazy uncle. Some country music star’s deranged sister. Anyone. Someone’s stealing Tennessee’s boys. Report suspicious behavior.

The Gemini Thief could be the person who does your laundry and makes you mac and cheese and slathers you with sunscreen on the way into Holiday World.

She could be your Ruby.

“You wanted babies, didn’t you?” Griff asks softly.

Ruby brushes sweat from her forehead with her arm. “Boys. I was going to have so many boys.”

“And it’s my fault we couldn’t,” he says. “My fault we lost Tony. I should have been there to take you to the hospital.”

Tony? I’ve spent hours, days, even weeks at Griff and Ruby’s, and I don’t know a single Tony story. Dad never said they’d lost a child. I never noticed a gap in their two-person family. In fact, Griff used to tease me, saying, Send that rascal home. But now I see a couple who surrounded themselves with other people’s children. I remember streaks of blue paint near the ceiling of my room at their house and Ruby lifting me to the bathroom sink as a child, brushing my hair, shoving her nose into the crown of my head and saying, You smell like my dreams.

“Ruby, I don’t know about Tony, but Nick’s parents love him. His sister loves him. I love him. You don’t want us to lose him the way you lost Tony, do you?”

Ruby says, “June Boys weren’t lost. I borrow them. I borrow them for a year. I love them for a year. Half the parents of those kids downstairs would thank me if I took their child off their hands.”

Scottie can’t contain himself anymore. “You crazy bi—”

“Don’t you dare judge me, Scott McClaghen. You don’t even know your son and he’s a marvel. I love that kid more than you ever c—”

Scottie lunges forward, but Griff wraps his arms around his old friend. “Slow down. Calm. Down. She’s going to tell us where the boys are. Right, honey?”

“That’s right.” Ruby taps the gun against Nick’s chin.

Nick’s quiet. Sweating, but still. Everyone takes a breath.

Nick asks, “Are they here in Wildwood?”

Ruby nods.

Griff says, “Where in Wildwood?”

Ruby’s finger dances on the trigger.

“Hey,” Griff says again. “We’re calm. No one’s getting hurt today. Not you. Not us. Not the June Boys.”

“No one’s hurt,” Ruby repeats.

“No one’s going to get hurt.”

“No one’s going to get hurt,” she parrots.

He’s doing it, he’s gonna talk her down.

Dana’s voice threads the air behind me. “Ruby Holtz, lower your weapon and release my brother.” The agent’s body is tucked against the doorframe behind me, gun raised. “You do that and tell us where the boys are, and I swear we’ll make you a deal.”

A deal.

A legal transaction that would likely put Ruby behind bars for the rest of her life.

Everyone processes the offer.

When you love someone, even the smallest muscle move—a blink, an eye darting right to left, parting lips—speaks volumes.

Griff and I see her decide.

She’d rather join Tony than go to prison.

Griff and I yell together. “Nooo!”

Dana says, “Tell me where—”

Our words overlap.

“I’m sorry,” she says in Nick’s ear and swings her gun toward Dana.

Ruby’s first shot is not the accidental result of trembling fingers; it is intentional and steady. The catalyst for the end.

Simultaneous gunshots, an eruption of sound and fury—I count one, two, three, four—and cries, bodies moving.

Nick drops to his knees, falls forward. Blood pools. His blood? Hers?

She’s standing. Holding a place near her shoulder.

Two more shots.

A third.

The room quiets—there’s hurried motion—but I hear nothing over the ringing. The tower bell? I wonder. No, the gunshots. This is such a small room.

Nick’s lying on the floor. I scream, “Nick!” like I’m yelling across a football field. The haze fades like twilight to night. “Nick,” I say, this time a whisper.

The pressure in my chest is enormous. I gasp for breath and fall. Someone’s trying to wake me up. But if I wake up, they’ll tell me what I already know. Nick’s dead. I spent this year trying to save Aulus, and my obsession got Nick killed.

“Thea.” I open my eyes a slit. Dana has blood on her face and hands. Nick’s blood. Don’t die, Nick. Please don’t die.

Dana’s face hovers, blurry and insubstantial.

“Help Nick,” I whisper.

“Thea?”

I risk opening my eyes again. Dana’s jaw shudders and I know that means Nick is dead. My head lolls. The blood on the floor pools toward me.

“Thea.”

It comes to me that the pressure on my chest is Dana. She’s jabbing her fist into my rib cage and she won’t stop. I swat at her hand and feel the haze again.

“Thea, honey . . . Hey, stay with me.”

I close my eyes.
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I dream of castles and war. Curtain walls and keeps. Moats, dragons, drawbridges. Portcullises lowering. Arrows launched. Catapults flung. Armies without faces who want me dead and afraid.

The keep wall explodes and crumbles, and as it does, I dance in a cobblestone courtyard that’s covered in ivy and purple flowers and fire.

Arrows pierce my skin as I stand atop the tower and swing on the bell rope like a child leaping over a lake, back and forth, back and forth.

Nick’s there, sword drawn, calling, “Ring the bell.”

I am the bell. The bell is me.

We are ringing, ringing, ringing.

I am spiked with dozens of arrows.

But I am music. I am hope.

“Ring the bell, ring the bell,” I scream into the air.

Aulus and Tank appear in a cloud and fly to Nick and me. The four of us ring the bell until the battlefield is quiet and all the fires are out.

There’s a cadence to the quiet. A beeping. Like maybe the car door’s ajar with keys in the ignition. I’m not driving. I’m not even in a car. My body’s heavy; my eyelids obese. I let the beep-beep, beep-beep, beep-beep lull me back to dreams.

The beeping returns. Ring the bell, ring the bell, I mouth.

I am in Gladys’s bed, no, can’t be, her bed doesn’t have rails, her comforter’s orange—no, that was last year—her comforter’s blue-and-green paisley and her sheets aren’t starchy. I don’t like starchy sheets. They’re too white. I close my eyes.

I miss the bell. I wish I were a bell.

I am beeping. My lashes tickle the skin beneath my eyes as they flutter.

“Hey, you!” Dad’s warmth floods me. He calls over me, “Nurse!”

I can’t make sense of anything. You’re not in prison, I think first. Then, Why are you holding my hand like I’m dying?

My tongue sticks to the roof of my mouth and I can’t ask.

A cup and straw appear beside my lips. Constance.

There’s such deep relief that she’s here. I don’t know why but I need the anchor of her warmth as I sip the water she offers.

Dad slides toward the corner so a man in blue scrubs with a massive Santa-length beard can lean over me and adjust the machine. The badge hanging from his neck reads Matt. Saint Matt of beards. No amount of reddish-brown hair hides his Happy Meal–wide smile. He adjusts the pillows behind my head, fusses with my IV, and swabs my lips with a little green sponge on a lollipop stick. The water feels marvelous.

“Welcome back, sleeping beauty,” he says, staring at my pupils. “Do you know your name?”

I do. We walk through details that let him know I’m cognizant before he explains that he’s Nurse Matt and “These are the very best accommodations Vanderbilt Hospital has to offer. If you see a tiny lady running around with red braids, that’s Ruth, and she’s the tech on duty today.”

I attempt more words.

Matt swabs my lips again and nods to Constance when she asks if I can have another small sip of water.

Vanderbilt. Heart patient. Looking at my father, I telegraph the question, How did I end up here?

He understands. “Let’s get you fully awake first.”

That’s when I remember Nick. I cough-whisper his name.

“Shhh,” Nurse Matt tells me. “You’ll be able to talk soon enough, but we just took out the tube this morning and you’re going to be sore.”

I sputter again. This time my eyes are full of tears.

“Nick’s fine,” Dad says.

I raise my IV hand half a foot off the bed and make a pistol. Ruby shot him. Oh, God, Ruby shot him. Ruby. The Gemini Thief.

“Nick’s fine,” Dad repeats.

I check with Constance, positive she won’t lie to me.

“Honey, Nick was here an hour ago. His whole family was with him. It took longer for you to wake up than the doctor estimated. Trust me, he’ll be back in the morning.”

“Whether we want him to or not, right, Stancy?” Dad jokes, and I understand I’ve missed so many conversations.

Nick’s okay. Matt dabs my cheek with a Kleenex. “You, my dear, have been through an ordeal, so you cry all you want. Crying heals soul wounds that medicine can’t touch.”

Even if this was bad advice, I couldn’t keep the tears away. They’re making it to the curve of my chin, rolling along my neck into the gown. Into bandages.

Thankfulness. Fear. Confusion. I have questions my body won’t let me ask—What happened at the WCC? Did Ruby give us the boys’ location? Are Tank and Aulus alive? Is Ruby?

Not knowing hurts more than the pinch in my chest. I wonder if I have broken ribs. My gown’s open in the front. I wave my father away and Nurse Matt reads the situation perfectly. He draws the curtain around my bed and asks, “Should I stay and help?” The weight of Constance’s palm disappears from my head as she turns to follow Dad. I wave that she and Matt should stay.

“You want to see?” Matt clarifies.

I nod that I do and Constance takes my hand.

Matt parts my gown and shows me my naked, injured body. Round half-dollar-size stickers attach wires to my chest and stomach in multiples places. Cords run from the stickers to the machine beside the bed. I feel ridiculous that I didn’t realize the beeping was my heart before now. One hundred and twenty beats per minute. Matt taps the screen as I’m reading it and says, “Fairly normal. There’s always some stress waking up.”

A long, narrow, clear bandage zips up my chest. Two gauzes, tinted pink from blood, are attached to my right breast.

Matt hovers over one gauze. “You were shot here,” he says and the second, “and here.” “No exit wounds.” He reels off paragraphs of procedures performed. He doesn’t say You almost died but he explains that I was airlifted and had multiple surgeries, plus, I hear my father breathing deeply on the other side of the curtain and I understand I’m lucky.

Matt steps out of the room and Constance closes my gown, then pulls Dad toward her. He Velcros to her side. His eyes are sad but Constance smiles encouragement at me.

I want to know if there’s permanent damage to my body, if I’m safe, but before we get to those questions, I can’t wait any longer to find out about Tank and Aulus. I can’t get any volume behind their names. “Au-lus? Tank?”

Dad is too large to hide himself in Constance’s embrace, but he tries. I tap the side of the bed and mouth their names again.

My father offers me a terrible sadness and shakes his head. “We didn’t find them,” he says.

My eyes kick over to Constance. I need more. What does We didn’t find them mean? Why are they here at the hospital when they could be out looking? I make a circular motion with my wrist to indicate searching and not being here.

Constance shakes her head and takes my hand in hers. “Honey, they stopped searching four days ago.”

My throat cries like a dying bird.

Nurse Matt pokes his head in the room, notes my escalating heart rate, and says to Dad, “I’m adding some pain medicine to her IV soon. Should calm her down. I’ll be right back.”

Why would they stop the search? That doesn’t make sense. The FBI should be increasing their efforts. I can’t believe Dana gave up. I manage a single word from the barrage of questions.

“Why?” My eyes are heavy but I force myself to see this through.

Dad checks with Constance, who gives a weary, tear-filled nod. “Ruby didn’t tell us where she hid the boys.” So? Double down, you idiots. He continues, “Dana, well, she asked Ruby a question before she died. If the boys had water and . . . and they didn’t.”

So? I think again. Can’t the body go three or four days without water?

“Honey.” Dad rests on the side of my bed, his hip pressed against my gown, his hand on my wrist. When the mattress settles and everything in the room is quiet except the monitor, he says, “It’s been ten days. We held a memorial for Aulus and Tank yesterday.”
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When I wake, the hospital’s a gaggle and a flutter. Parades of medical professionals lean into my room, checking monitors and the dressings on my chest. When they ask how I’m feeling this morning, I’m able to say, “There’s some pain,” and they give me broad smiles.

“My throat’s sore,” I tell the nurse who is not Matt. According to the whiteboard she’s Jennifer and today’s tech is Ricardo. Jennifer yanks the curtains to either side and opens the mini-blinds. Sun streaks into my room like it’s allowed to be here.

“That’s better,” she says warmly, even though we now have a view of a lower flat roof covered in red-and-white pebbles and the Starbucks across the street.

There’s a blue-tinted plastic hospital bag hanging on a hook by the door that holds the clothes I was wearing the afternoon Ruby shot me.

“Your dad is normally here around 6:30,” Jennifer says as she gathers the trash. She pauses at the door to ask if I need anything and when I tell her I’m hungry, she brings the standard hospital breakfast, plus donuts from Dunkin’.

“I stole them from the lounge,” she says, winking.

In the thirty minutes between donuts and Dad, I funnel through memories from yesterday. Ten days. Ten important days. Where I lived and Aulus and Tank died. I did everything and it wasn’t enough.

Except that doesn’t feel true or right or possible.

I do not remember my dreams from my ten-day sleep, the precise scenes, but bells echo into my conscious mind. One bell after another. Sweet and loud. They clang and clink, drowning out the woman yelling, “Nurse,” down the hall, the talk news on the television next door, the footsteps passing over the tiled floor. I don’t know how I know, but I’m sure of one thing: we have to ring the castle bell.

The castle bell is the bell from my dreams.

Dad and Constance arrive, matching coffee cups in the hands opposite their linked fingers. She’s sipping; he’s blushing at whatever she said as they enter my room.

“Hey, you’re already awake,” he says, delighted.

“They’re not dead,” I say.

His smile droops. “Honey.” Everything from the slump in his shoulder to the crow’s feet around his eyes says I am wrong. He releases Constance’s hand and fiddles with the ponytail holder around his wrist.

“Tell him, Constance. Tell Dad they aren’t dead.” She’s bound to know. She’s holy and all that. “You hear the bell, right?”

Constance studies something out the window. She uses her pastor voice, the one that’s soft as peach skin. “Oh, sweetheart, you’ve been through so much—”

I feel incredibly loved and incredibly dismissed.

“No! There are bells. We have to ring the bells.” I am adamant, and the monitor beside my bed shifts rhythms.

“Easy,” Dad says.

“You want me to be easy?” I cough the question. My throat can’t go from ten days of zero to normal sentences without a protest. I take a sip and start again. “Easy. Even though . . . you’re saying . . . Aulus and Tank are gone.” Another sip. The straw spits water on my chest and I remember I’m wearing a gown that’s slightly open in the front. I do not care. “And you had a memorial . . . for them . . . without me.” It takes me a long time to string together the response and they both shake their heads the entire time. With pity. Maybe even with fear. Dad downs his coffee and turns to Constance for guidance. I close the top of my gown. Constance looks lost for words.

“You’re wrong,” I say. “You’re all wrong.”

“They’re not,” Dana states from the doorway.

Dana’s head reaches the top of Nick’s chest; they have their arms around each other’s sides. Her hair is down the way it was last Christmas, but she’s wearing exhaustion everywhere. This case is far from closed for her. Nick has cropped his hair close to his skull; the curls are gone. Their sadness makes them look more alike than their features.

“You quit?” I ask them accusingly.

Nick says no and the two of them part and encircle my bed. “Dana’s searching for the . . .” He doesn’t say bodies. “Them. We had the memorial at the request of the families.”

But Aulus is my family.

Dana leans over the upper rails of the bed. “I’ll find them.” I know she will. “For now, we’ve moved from search to recovery,” she tells me.

“They’re alive. Please ring the bell.”

“Okay,” everyone says, appeasing the spike in my heart rate. But they feel sorry for me.

I kick everyone out of the room except Nick. I make space for him to curl next to me. We rest our heads on the same pillow. He scooches even closer, until he’s propped on one elbow and covering me like an awning. He sweeps my hair, my very greasy hair, off my cheeks.

“I thought I’d lost you,” he whispers. “We all did.”

“I thought I’d lost you,” I say back.

We are quiet for a long time. I can’t say what he’s thinking, but I’m drinking in the vein that thumps in his neck, the warmth of his living body, the precise shape of his upper lip.

Here’s what I know: I got love wrong until now. I thought all these exploding emotions were the thing that proved love was love, but love—as I’m learning its language—is far less of a billboard and far more Braille.

The bells will not be quiet.

They’re ringing, ringing, ringing. I don’t want them to stop. They are a soundtrack of life and I attempt to tell Nick, and he hushes me with a kiss. It’s nice to have a normal pulse of anxiety spike my brain: Has someone brushed my teeth? I’m naked under this gown. Does he still love me if I’m damaged? If he notices, he does a decent job of keeping his eyes above my chest. And when his gaze drops, he is full of questions rather than lust. Am I in pain? Do I understand what happened to me? Yes and no. We talk. When I ask about Ruby, I realize ten days have been very kind to the FBI when it comes to information. Nick walks me through the details.

“Griff is in federal custody, awaiting trial. Apparently he didn’t have any knowledge of Ruby’s behavior until the day we showed him the welding photo. He started piecing together the possibilities when he couldn’t locate his helmet. He asked Ruby and her reaction was so off the wall he did his own investigation. He found receipts designated to the WCC for flats of food, bills that didn’t match normal WCC orders. That led him to match the child cases Ruby worked in Tennessee with the Gemini Thief’s locations.”

“Why didn’t he tell the authorities?”

Nick sighs, because we both know why he didn’t tell. The woman he loved had been stealing and hording children for a decade. Substituting children for the ones they couldn’t have. He blamed himself.

“Ruby didn’t have a great childhood,” I say, not making excuses but trying to understand.

“Griff says she was abused. Repeatedly. And in ways that . . .” He doesn’t continue; he doesn’t need to. Sadness runs like a train up my chest, the puffy scar, its freshly laid track.

Nick wipes away tears from my cheeks, says, “The court’ll go easy on him. It’s not like he knew for long. Dana will testify on his behalf. Sure, he knew Ruby was cracking, but he thought he’d have a better chance of keeping Tank and Aulus alive if he tracked her movements. But she never went anywhere. He’s the one who took her down before she could shoot again.”

“I don’t remember that.”

Nick says, “It’s a miracle you remember anything. There was so much bloo—” I lay my finger against his lips and he shudders. He’s seeing me on the ground. Dying.

To pull him from the image, I ask, “How did she get away with this for so long?”

For the most part, Ruby seemed on the curious side of normal. Driven. Passionate. Sad—not sad exactly . . . like something important was missing—but fairly normal.

“According to Dana, women like Ruby are fascinating. There aren’t many, but they exist. Most female kidnappers steal their own children from exes. Dana thinks Ruby probably had a god complex—a rescue-martyr type who believed she’d be a better parent than the kids had—coupled with other mental disorders. She’s speculating Ruby was triggered by some kid when working with Every Child Now. Probably obsessed in a crazy one-foot-in-front-of the-other way.” He shrugs and pushes a hand through his hair. “Guess we’ll never know for sure.”

“And that’s why the kids were returned and uninjured?” I ask.

“Dana says Ruby probably saw the community response or the parents’ grieving and created her own set of rules that”—he uses air quotes—“‘weren’t that bad’ when she started rationalizing her actions. One year with her and suddenly that kid is a star rather than ignored by everyone. Thing is, Griff knew she was off when it came to her childhood because she refused to talk about it with him in detail, but he had no idea she was . . . whatever she was. He feels crazy guilty he missed or discounted the signs, and no matter who tells him to join the club, he believes he should have known and encourages us to hate him.”

“Speaking of hate. Warren? Does he think I’m awful for suspecting him?”

“No. He’s been in and out of this room as much as the rest of us. You’ll see. He’s mad as hell at you for going into the room in the first place. Says he trained you better than that.”

I almost laugh. Warren taught me to be brave.

“And Gladys?”

“She’s not doing so great. You know . . .” I know. “Seeing you like this hasn’t been easy . . .” His voice cracks. “Once you’re up and about, she’ll do better.”

These explanations don’t soothe the ache in my chest.

“Tell me about the memorial,” I say.

Nick kisses my cheek and says, “I will when you’re better.”

I’m grateful for his protection. “Nick.”

“Thee.”

“Will you trust me on something even if no one else does?”

“I’ll try.”

“Tank and Aulus are alive.”

“Thee.” This time my name is a protest.

“We have to ring the tower bell.” I must sound like my father the first time he thought, I’m going to build a castle.

Nick is mildly apathetic. “How about we let you ring it when you’re free to leave?”

“No. They’ll die.”

He squeezes my wrist. “I love you, but . . .”

Constance and Dad return in the middle of our fight. I am struggling for words, but I make them listen.

“You built a church when it didn’t make sense. And goodness gracious, you built a castle, Dad. And you”—I stare down Nick—“you spent a year searching for a friend you’d only known for a few months. How come you all get to do crazy stuff that doesn’t make sense? I’m not wrong about this. Or I’m no more wrong than any of you were.”

Constance looks at Dad like I’m making a good point.

“Do you believe me?” I ask.

“The more important question is do you believe you?” Constance says.

And I do. I really do.

I’ve lost enough that hope costs less than grief.
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It takes four days for Vanderbilt to release me.

Sixty minutes to Wildwood. Another seven minutes through the stoplights.

Nick carries me up the castle tower in less than five minutes.

Four rings satisfy my soul.

I love this castle, love this tower, love Dad’s relentless obedience to the vision I once despised. It must take as much strength for a normal man to walk a crazy path as for a crazy person to walk a normal path. I know that now because I am like him far more than I realized. I think of Ruby and cover the bandage over my chest. Nick rings the bell again, saying, “One to grow on.”

I take my first deep breath since waking up.

“Now what?” Dad asks.

“We wait,” I say.

None of us know what we’re waiting for.

Constance and Gladys fidget, Dad and Nick stretch, I stare at the horizon and find myself talking to a God I don’t know. I can’t see you, I say. I don’t know if you’re real, but I’m asking for a miracle.

“Ring it again,” I tell Nick.

He tugs the long braided rope and the old church bell spreads itself out like an auditory quilt over the county.
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Dana spots the small green balloons first.

Nick squints against the sun. “Balloons?” he asks. “Tiny balloons?”

Dad says, “Over the . . .” Dad leans over the parapet. “Moose Lodge?”

“That’s where they are,” I say. It’s not logical, but it is true.

Five minutes later, in the yard of the Moose Lodge, we find the first balloon skin and note. Tank’s handwriting.


My name is Thomas Piper. I was kidnapped by the Gemini Thief. I am still alive and probably close to this balloon. Please search for me.



There’s a second trash bag skin several feet away. Dad holds the message out for Dana to read.

She yells first. “Tank! Aul-us!”

“Thomas Piper, this is Officer Warren. Scream if you hear us.” Uncle Warren looks over his shoulder at Dana. “We searched here. Inside and out.”

“Not thoroughly enough.” She calls their names again. And then to us, “They’ve got to be close.”

We each take up the cry. “Tank! Aul-us!”

Only silence answers back.

We spotted those balloons less than ten minutes ago. It can’t be too late. I lie on the ground, ear to the mud, my stitches itching and pulling, and let the others scream.

The smallest muffled sound comes from somewhere near the building. I army crawl closer and wait for the pause after Dana calls their names again.

The same muffling of noise.

“Shut up!” I call to everyone. “Shut up.”

A small vent is hidden behind a rusted air conditioning unit. I press my mouth to the hole. “Tank? Aulus?”

I can’t breathe by the end of his name.

“Thea.”

“Tank!”

Sometimes freedom sounds like a sob.
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I am there when the FBI finds the bricked-in staircase inside the Moose Lodge.

I am there when they remove the cement and rubble.

I am there when Aulus squeezes through the hole. When he takes his first drink of water.

I am there when Tank crawls through after Aulus and says, “Thanks for not giving up.”

I am there when my boys are carried by stretcher to an ambulance.

I am there as Aulus, skinny and pale, squints against the sun, pained by the light, and says to me, “You gave me back the sky.”

I am there as I smile at my father and say, “No, he did.”




EPILOGUE

THE FOLLOWING JUNE

Winter came like a lion at the end of 2010. For the first time on record, Wildwood High School missed ten straight days for snow. Students celebrated as the blizzard fell and cursed later when graduation was pushed back to June 11th.

Nick and I sit together on the bleachers. Warren and Dana are on one side. They’re not “a couple.” He claims he’s too old for her, but Dana will wear him down, and let’s be clear. He wants her to; he definitely wants her to.

Sitting between my sandals and Nick’s loafers are Gladys and Tank. They’re not a couple exactly, but they’re friends. Good friends. Kissing friends. Being undefined is best for them at the moment. She’s getting an undergraduate degree in child psychology from William Kenton and she’ll never leave Wildwood. This stole spunkiness from her and gave spunkiness to him, and I think . . . Well, I think it is what it is. He needs to wander and never feel enclosed; she needs the anchor of home to fight her fears.

After Rufus’s and Zared’s bodies were found, Tank took the year to interview the other June Boys. We’re writing a project together—with Aulus’s letters, my journals, his interviews—to get our heads around this terrible thing that happened to the boys, my father, our community.

I even visited the first bunker and took pictures for Tank. (Tank won’t do basements of any kind.) Dana drove Nick and me there after we convinced her we needed to see where Aulus and the others had been held. It took months to unravel the trail of Ruby’s former clients at Every Child Now. She discovered Tanner and Lisa Wilson. The foster couple died in a house fire. Ruby must have been one of the few people aware they built a Y2K bunker in their field.

Warren quit his job, bought half of the castle from Dad, and is now running a new version of the WCC out there—Castle Care—complete with playground. He says the new WCC will hire Gladys when she graduates, same as Dad continues to hire Leo to truck in supplies.

I don’t know what I’m doing with the rest of my life.

Everyone else has clear-cut paths and desires; mine come in temporary swirls and mismatched mosaics. Nick’s heading to law school in the fall—Southern Illinois University—and I have half a mind to go along and half a mind to hike the Appalachian Trail or . . . go somewhere and help people. Maybe I’ll try the academy and let Dana train me. Maybe I’ll go film that mockumentary after all. Dad says it’s okay that I don’t know what I want. In the meantime, I’m volunteering at the castle.

The balloon under Nick’s knees squeaks against the bleachers. I hedge mine with my dress pants. Principal Markum loved Tank’s idea to release balloons when Aulus’s name was called. So did Wildwood. Green balloons are everywhere. In the hands of the same people who put Arrest the Gemini Thief signs in their yards. On the laps of those who attended the memorial service for Tank and Aulus. They’re tied to the wrists of those who showed up to help with castle construction. They’re squeaky and noisy and in the way of cameras, but no one cares.

Our eyes find a young man in a black gown and a yellow sash. He nears the steps, spots the balloons poised to be released, and smiles. Not a happy smile exactly. Yesterday he told me, “Happy is a weird emotion. I don’t feel it by itself anymore.” And I said, “You will again someday,” but the more I considered my response, the more I doubted its truth. Not because he’ll never be happy again. He will. I believe that. But I think . . . The older I get, the more I hold multiple emotions at the same time.

Like . . . Take Ruby’s death. I love her and I hate her and I’m sad she’s dead and I’m relieved she’s gone—some days because it means she’s not suffering anymore and some days because she doesn’t deserve to be on earth after what she did. Some days I remember she took Tank to keep Aulus alive, and some days I remember she never went back to feed them, and I always know she set up my father to take her fall.

And I find that’s more normal than having a singular emotion.

I explained my feelings to Aul on the phone because I felt guilty for not hating her properly. But he said, “Sometimes I miss Welder. I mean, Ruby. And then, next breath, I want to dance on her grave. Literally dance on her grave.”

And then he added, “But you know what I think about when I get stuck asking why I was taken, why Ruby did what she did, why a flood on top of a kidnapping? I remember your dad started a castle ten years before I needed it. And I remember you holding me when I first came out of the ground, saying, ‘I rang the bell. I rang the bell,’ and hearing afterward that everyone else had given up. I want to figure out how to give that to someone else. I want to be a bell ringer instead of a June Boy.”

I told him he was a bell ringer for Chris, Zared, and Rufus, but he couldn’t hear me yet.

We hung up after that. I think I’ll replay that conversation the rest of my life. Those final words: I want to be a bell ringer instead of a June Boy. Me too, Aul, me too.

There’s a collective pause across the stadium as my cousin rests his foot on the bottom step of the stage.

“Aulus Edward McClaghen,” Principal Markum says.

If a town could weep, its collective cheeks are wet.

Aulus pauses at the stage’s edge and searches the bleachers for us. He points at a blood-red cardinal streaking the sky. Yes, I know. I love the birds too. Arms outstretched, he spins in a circle all the way to where Principal Markum stands. There’s a chorus of laughter, sheer delight, and then the horizon blooms green with balloons.

I hold on to mine.

I’m not the only one.

Aulus’s father stands near the long jump pit gripping the chain-link fence like he’s not quite allowed to be here. When he releases his balloon, he watches it trail after the others, never quite catching up. He’s been around this year. Warren says he’ll stay that way, and I hope he does. Aulus needs him, but Aulus needs him to be trustworthy and consistent, and I’m not sure Scottie knows how to do that yet.

I text my father: Ring the bell.

I asked him to miss the ceremony to fulfill my request. Castle Delacroix is out of earshot, but even if I can’t hear it, I want to know the bell is being rung.

As the balloons green the azure sky and a thunderous clapping storms the bleachers, I touch the zipper scar along my breastbone and marvel at my heartbeat. And then I hear them, same as I heard them a year ago.

“You hear that?” I ask.

Nick noses my ear and squeezes my hand. I squeeze back. “You feel that?” he asks.

My heart pounds. I am made of hope and doubt, anger and fear, sadness and joy. “I feel everything,” I say, and release my balloon.




A FINAL NOTE TO THE READER

The Elizabeth Letters were written from Aulus McClaghen to Elizabeth Smart, who was abducted June 5, 2002, by Brian David Mitchell and Wanda Ileen Barzee and rescued by officers nine months later, on March 12, 2003.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

  1.   When someone you love is absent from your life, how do you typically respond?

  2.   Is there ever a time when lying is justifiable?

  3.   More often than not, we want our parents to be heroes and discovering their fallibility is deeply painful. Discuss a time you were disappointed with your parents’ behavior.

  4.   If you could receive a return letter from someone famous, whom would you choose to write?

  5.   Have you ever followed a gut instinct that didn’t make sense to anyone else? If so, what happened? Would you do it again?

  6.   How difficult do you find continuing and completing tasks without emotional, relational, or spiritual support? Name something you are currently trying to finish that you wish more people would cheerlead?

  7.   Is the experience of sharing difficult pieces of your personal story easier with family, best friends, acquaintances, or strangers? If you need help, whom do you ask first? Do you feel there’s a limit to how much help you can ask for?

  8.   Is forgiveness more difficult with certain people? If so, why do you believe that’s true?

  9.   A village of adults surrounds and loves these main characters. Name your village.

10.   Do you have seasonal obsessions or passions? What are the benefits of pursuing a task or objective relentlessly? What are the pitfalls?
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of his Pace. I'A seen him mumble incoherently
when coustruction went awvy and knew theve
wais o use communicating. Hed find veality
eventually. Trying to give him distance and
secuve the laddey, | backed away amd
bumped the balcony ledge, causing the
povtavle Avill to £all. Drills avew’t built to lama
on cement mixers. Hovvified by the williow
pleces of Dewalt, | wheeled avound ana
apologized.

He gripped the end of Wis shivt and
stvetched the fabric tght over his chest. His
whole body was shaking whew he said, “Aulus,
you vuined the whole Aary.”

| Aidnt know i the amger was vooted in
the loss of the Avill or in me thrveatening to tell
Thea. Either way, Uncle Don vaged his way
thvough the castle, screaming at me until he
was outside.

Theve waswt much fov me to lose at
that point, so | called over Hhe balcony, “I'm
telling Thea.” Thew | left the castle, and
wot slowly elther. | was passing the Moose
Lodge when | vealized, angry ov wot, cvazy
ov not, | owed my uncle a Avill, so | Avove
nto Wildwood, cashed my wovk check, anad
vought the same DeWalt I'A Aemolished.
Thew | stopped by the house, enduved Led's
grumblings about the Audi, omd headed
back to Aeliver the Avill.
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Rufus appeaved fvom the covvidoy, elation
painting his face. “Yo. Theve ave bavstools in owe of
the front vooms. Cam we get a hamd?” Tamk followed
me, and we happily Avagged two bavstools all the way
to the center of the voom. When theve weve six total,
we made the javkiest thvoue ever.

It was s Adamgevous ais you've probably tHhinking.

9,

b
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Deav Elizaveth,
We veleased twenty move balloows.

No one cawme.
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havd to undevstomd, omd when | made thew out, |
wars sovvy | had.

“This is i Sob. “This is 2’ Sob. “This is +”

In ouv olA wovld, the one wheve | went to
basketball games oamd Zaved smoked weed i the
bathvoom, we woulAwt ve Lriends. Heve, | stvapped
him against me like he was my luggage to carvy. His
clammy skin met mine amd | said what Mowm said to
we aftev Dad left.

“Theve'’s move.” | said it again. Again. Again. Aganin.
| vepeated the phvase so fast Hhe wovds stopped
sounding like wovds. “Theve’s move. Theve’s move.” |
couldn’t tell the syllavles apart.

Zaved lifted the jav to my lips. “Prove it he said
amd | dvamk, havdly noticing the acidic taste. | kept
wmy focus on him,

“Theve’s move. Theve’s move,’ | said, until one
tHhing wars crystal clear: the suvest ‘wove” left, maybe
the only ‘move” left, was each othev.

Elizabeth, maybe you'll never vead these letters,
maybe God has fovgotten us, maybe the whole wovla
hais Povgotten us, but we had communion today. And
that's something.

Peace oA Freedom,

Aulus
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quattvo i the Fouvth of July pavade. He had even
Aescvibed facts about Welder that he and Thea
listed in the vasement of the WCC. He'd never told me
his taken stovy; he'd never remembeved move tham his
pavked truck amd bugs nipping his amkles.

“We weve at the castle, celebvating graduation.”
His breaths came i big gulps.

“Hey, calm down. Who is we?” | asked.

“Gladys, Thea, Don amd Coustance, Nick amd Dawmar,
Gvif amd Ruby, the Mavkums, Wavven, your mom amd
uncle.”

| AIAWE visk om intevvuption to ask who
Constomce wars.

‘We weve celebvating Don's homecoming amd our
graduation.” Details veeled out like fishing line on &
windy Aay. “Picketers. People yelling whew Principal
Mavkum called Thea's name. Television covevage.
Hatved. Feav. Accusations. Juwe Ist, you know?
Everybody in town was nutso even though woest people
AlAn't believe someone else would be takew. | mean,
why would we?”

Tomk had explained the kiduapping vhythm pelore.
Three to four boys taken for a year. Released. Wait
a yeav. Sometimes two. Ten veavs’ wovth of o pattevn
amd vestigation.

‘okay,’ | said, hoping the memories would solidiby.

“l +olA you Dou wars awvvested amd Hhe DNA ow
Chvis™—he toucheA my avim as he said Clhavis’s vawme—
‘Adnt match. Everything else i the case against

your uncle was civcumstamtial. His freedom was & win
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Rubus smacked wme open palmed in what used to
e the meaty pavt of my chest. The blow took the
wind out of me amd | ended up on the ground. “That
was uncalleA Lov.”

“Easy,’ Tamk said, his vight hamd cupping my
elvow.

“You should hawve come up with o plam soowev,”
Rufus said.

He wais vight about that

“We have am actual plam.” | Aomced wmy
celebration damce—again, I'll spave you the
Aetails, but they all laughed, and n their langhtey,
Elizabeth, the wind tickled my face, a summer of
houneysuckle kisseA my nose, o buttertly landed
between my cupped palms.

What i# Elizaveth? What i$7

Peace oA Freedom,

Aulus
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Deav Elizaveth,
When the light came ow, | thought, ok,

right. The cvying closet: /_/-—/>

2oaved staved at the wooden Aoov,
same as me. | fovget about the lacvimal
voom,’ he said the same way you might say,
‘1 Povgot we had o test i geometvy.”

Rufus was on him v o second. I Lovgot
avout the lacvimal voom.” The intonation
was spot-on pevfect amd | laughed. We
Aidu’}t include the crying closet on Tauk’s
Wit touy, so the Aoov meant nothing to
him. Rufus said, *Yo, I'm glad we Aidn't
lavel that sucker ou the gralfiti map.”

“What so funny?” Tamk womted to kwow.

I said, “l was laughing at the
lacvivual voom.”

Tank didnt laugh along. He said, “I'A

three-closet

systewm: two

Lor waste, owe

to e alove.
This thivA
closet gained
tvaction abtey,

Chvis. Crying

is novwmanl,

Sobbing lowers

wovale.
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Deavr Elizaveth,

Four of us ave in Sleeping Roow; three of us ave
sleeping. | Aon't know if s movning, aftevnoon, ov night,
but hello again.

We examined two move aveas in Dawvk amd Hhe wmost
exciting Aiscoveries weve am old washer amd Avyey, a
bag of balloons, & leat blowey, amd the wissing queen of
heavts. No scvewdvivey. No tools other Hhowm Hhe kuibe. (1
At ask wheve Tomk WA Hhe blade ama | won't)

We haven't had £ood n five Sleeps. Water in at
least twenty-four houvs.

Theve'’s not a wall in this place we havew’t tried
to knock down. The exevtion Aepleted ouv systews.
Zaved spent am hour vomiting nte ouv final waste oag.
His face is scvewed up like he wants to cvy, but he has
wo teavs. Delvdvation. Rufus, in his very Rufus way,
confessed he was Aizzy.

‘Maybe . .. yo, maybe I'm out too. We need sleeps.





OEBPS/images/f201-1.jpg
‘Alavge,’ A say, even though the lavge is a
Aollar nine.

Richava—I suppose | Ao think of him as
Richavd—Hilled the Styvofoam cup, Avawmk, vefilled,
Avamk, amd vefilled without meeting my eyes. |
never wmet his either. | regret that. Now his thivst
isw}t so umique. I's up close. In Hght. Between wmy
teeth. Down my intestines. It cuvls wmy toes. 1€ |
could walk into Quik Mavt I'A Avink Mountain Dew
untl | Hhvew up Mountain Dew and then I'A £l the
CUp aganiv,

| am RichavA.

We ave all RichavA.

So heve we awve.

Pee Dviv\\civ\gz Powvt 1l

I+ went Aown like tHhis. Tawmk left to seavch fov
wmove tools, amd | stavted the avduous task of waking
the younguns.

“It's whiz-guzzling time,” | ammounced. Thew |
cubled Rubus’s shoulder. “Youve the guinea pig.”

The Mason jar sat between our civcle of knees
amnd toes. The yellow-green uvine glowed the colov
of fiveflies. Rufus veached Lorwavd, gvipped the jav,
and Plinchead.

‘1 thought it would ve wavm. IH's wavrim when you
£l i up.”

Zaved laid Plat ow his back, shoving his Airty
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Deavr Elizaveth,

Big moment down heve. We reached a conclusion
about the identity of the Gemini Thiel.

Rather thawm stretch out on the squeaky pool
Ploats, Tamk amd | vendezvoused i the last space we
i+ while the boys vested. other thawm the washer and
Avyey, it was amother voowm full of tvash bags. Tamk
patted the sacks amd velly Plopped onto the waist-high
pile. We lay side by side, Aust crawling up ouv noses
untl Tamk stavted a sewtence, paunsed, stopped.

‘What?”

‘I Leel cvazy,’ he said. “Do you feel cvazy?”

My amswer veleased from my chest in o whoosh
of vamciA vveath. Am [ same? Do same people wonder i£
theiv best friend is veal? Do sane people finA veasons
to push, shove, make any physical contact to ensure
theyve not seeing a ghost? Do sane people go over and
ovev the group conversations amd check to see if Rutfus

omd Zaved evev intevact with Tank?
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Now | wawmt to tell you about peeing. (€ That's wot
a sentence I've ever written to a stramger belfove. Or
oamyone,) This'll be a two-pavter (at least), so buckle

up, buttevcup.

Pee Dviv\\dv\g: Powvt |

Our stomachs weve pivamhas this movning, so Tamk
built & vivtual bublet out of coustvuction paper amaA
amnounced we weve celebvating “Thanks)umegiving.”
You would hawve thought he was amnouncing am act on
Broadwary.

‘Gentlemen amd voys, THANKSJUNEGIVING.”

Rufus said, “That's et & thing.”

Zaved said, IH's ‘cause we wow't be alive in
Novewber.”

| grabbed the tags of their undevwear and
yoamked. ‘Weve all getting along for the holiday.”

“Fake holiday,” Zaved samg.

“Fake holiday,” Rubus havmonized.

| told Zaved hed e needing a BamA-Ald fov
tHhis wedgie if he Aidnt cam it. Tamk set the tavle,
iguoving us. The guys mooned me. We sat doww like
the Lamily we ave to four meat, eight swack, and
ten Aessevt nawmes written ou tovu scvaps of papev. No
veggies. (We've the kings of this wovld.) Thew, like our
grandmas weve insisting, we heaped our Aivty Frishees
with paper slips. My favorite: Wildwood High Schoel

chocolate milk.
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| your fiveplace, Find the closest sky, amd £ill your eyes with
clouds amd bivds amd blues amd then squeeze your lungs
- Avy so that when you inhale, you swallow every sapling

that's ever grown om eavth.

Gnome sayin'?
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oune yavd.

Theve was o cough.

A Plash of gray-vlack helmet.

A whivl 6f movement.

The vlunt end of & shovel collidea with
wmy head.

Someday, if youve ever ready, you should
tell your stovy too.

Toamk’s waking up. I'll be back.

Peace omA Freedowm,

Aulus
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The second thing was how very unconscious
he was. | eased the two of us to the cool
concvete.

I hela Chvis like this.

You Aow’t vealize how wavm bodies ave
until one grows cold in your avms.

| Aidn't know how to explain it,
except—I| wamt you to imagine that you go
outside tomorvow morning amd evevything
green—gvaiss, tvees, the bushes along the
Pevnce line, the weeds scatteved among
the concrete bricks, the vines cuvling up
the porch, litevally everything green—is
gray. That is Aeath. Death is gvary.

Tamk was wot gray vet; he was a
pinkish-whitish brown. The gvay was not
Lov obL.

Rubus asked, “Did he leave us?”

Tank’s eyelashes flutteved. "Sov-vy.”

“You smell tevvivle, | told him. “You
should veally take a bath or you'll wever
get amother Aate.”

“You should,” he said weakly.

| gvipped his cheeks amd smashed our
Poreheads together. “Brothey, | need you
not to die yet, okay?”

“l won't if you won't) he prowmised.

You wight
Alsagvee

with giving up,
Elizaveth. You
wight even
think ouvr maker
Aisagrees. And
wmaybe he does.
Or maybe he's
the owe who
wmade suve
theve was om
olA fveezev
Aoww heve
that'l let us
aivlock our wary
to heaven in o
Lvisk tevvivle
minute ov two.
Maybe he

WAS SAVing us
houvs of kidney
Lailure amaA
nausea amd

fovtuvous pan.

‘|2 we com’t Pind balloous, we'll make thewm,

oand £ that doeswt wovk, we'll .. " | loocked

toward the main voom wheve the reezer was.
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all agvee it was probably Spavkle Pavker—think
of it s one name—who washed Aogs Aocov to
Aoor in the '90s). I£ you ask Leo if he's wovking
on numevo quatve whew he's down at the bingo
hall, he'll say, “I gave up wowmen £ov books.” Ana
vy all accounts, he has.

Living with Uncle Leo means I've been
shaving & twin bunk bed set with my mother
since | was six. Not ais bad as it sounds.

She wovked a lot amd owly slept & litte.
Plus, | com’t complain when Leo Aoeswt have
a bedvoom n his swn house. I'll bet you
anything he'’s om the povch wow, veveading a
novel, sipping Mountain Dew £rom o gallon-size
wmsulated, double-walled trvavel mug from
Quik Mart, and munching a bag of suntlower
seeds. He taught wme to Avive, to use the
top thivd of the windshield, amd to vead
alter my first-grade teacher gave up. |
taunght him fist-oumping amd cellulav phone
technology. Youd like him aftev the Pivst
wouth ov two.

This is all hypothetical, but as o family
member amd owner of the quattve, the
police probably brought him down to the
impound lot, vight? Maybe asked him to
shed light on the abandoned car and its
coutents. I'll et that was like jumping om a
trampoline in & voom with o Louv-Loot ceiling

Lor everyone nyolved.
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Deavr Elizaveth,

Light filled the veut opening when we woke.

“Now?” Tawmk asked.

Everyone wodded. Movuing, if it was
movuing, seemed like a time whew someone
wmight be capable of watching o stvamge
gvouping of Huy balloons vising over the tvees
omd think, That’s weivd; let’s investigate.

Rubus kisseA o balloom oamd Zaved said,
‘What was that £ov?”

“Luck.”

| kissed the wext ama Tauk followed suit.

They've gone.

our hope was i tHhe av.

we listened at the pipe.

Zaved lost i+ fivst. He shid doww the castle
vowmp omd vom. Three vooms later | caunght him.

Neither of us weve stvong enough to fight. our
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And we launghed.
They've waking up again. Move soon. Up wext, Pee
Driuking: Powt 11
Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus
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Deavr Elizaveth,

This is wmy last letter omd i+ will not be easy to
wvite. Theve ave things | need to adwmit. They've ugly.
You alveady know my heavt of heavts; | closed that
A on my June Boys. Aud uot two seconds latey, | heava
avell.

The vell changed everything.

But wot at fivst.

You see, | thought | made it up. Thought 1A made
evevything up—like Tank amd this castle and my life.
Just amother stovy told to the boys at bedtime, maybe
true, maybe fiction. Everything feels like fiction whew
youve undevgvound.

“Aul—you hear that?” Tamk asked.

“No.

Because I'A veached the end, | told Tamk, “Theve's
o vell. Theve’s no you. So you cam go now. You've a tvue

Briend, o Laithful brothey, but | know youve wot veal.”
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| visked holding him with one avwm to gvip his chin amad
Povce am eye lock. “You undevstomd me?”

ReA stveaks splotched his neck amd cheeks.
“When ave you going to figuve out you cam't save us?
weve alveady gone.”

“l com. | will”

“Like you saved Chvis—" Zaved spat the wovds
omd | almost hit him. My List missed his eav by
willimeters. Theve was move to the stvike Hham
knuckles amd wrists, move thawm vetating shouldevs
omd hips. | smashed that wall the way | wished |
could hit myself. Stamding over hiwm, | squeezea his
bony body untll it gasped, untl | was suve | had his
Lull attention. “Tauk says wmost of the other voys
weve freed.” | winced on most; because he's vight
about Chvis. “That's what I'm believing fov us. Youve
90ing to believe it too.”

Zaved wovked his jaw. “Your precious vestie’s
lying. Just like you ave.” The twisting amd sweating
made him slippery, but | waswt about to let go. His
eyes chased a shadow to my vight-

“Freezey,’ Rubus said. He was close ewough fov
Zawved to kick at him so Zaved AA oma Rubus kickea
back. “No giving up, Aude. Weldev's letting us go.”

By thew the fight had left Zaved’s voice.
‘Sweav.”

Rufus turned to wme. “Yealh, sweav, Aul.”

They sounded young. Tevvivly young. | Aidw't
know if | could ve dld enough. This feeling, this gap

between who | am and who they need wme to be, kills
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To me, my uncle was always o mam who buil:
castles, not someone who tvapped people veneath them.
Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus
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This map came to life when Tank set o cam
of spray paint i the middle of the plastic table.
“Found this in o cabinet two vooms over.” The
cam skated between my hands. The clacking of
the ball bearings pinged the air like castanets.
“Crabfiti map?” he askeA.

“Escape Aécov?” | vepeated the phvase so
mamy tHmes it stavted to sound like soup Au jouv.
Escape Ae cor. | laid ow & heavy French accent
“What would you like today, monsieur? Would you
like to tvy our famous escape Ae cor”

| pushed the joke too £av, but Tamk cackled
amd snovted amd | kept saying the phvase with
other tevvivle accents—Italiom: escape Ae cov,
Russiam: escape Ae cor—to bottle the happiness.

wWe waltzed to the main voom amd sprayed
a lavge vectamgle on the wall—fumes hung in o
chemical £og, the mold we live with muted by
the Bresh clouds of paint.

Beside me, Rufus bucked amd bounceA on
the Yalls of his feet. I'm not suve when he joined
us; last | checked, he and Zaved weve playing
Powg with hex bolts and Dixie cups, but of course
he wamted to help. He's o pleaser.

‘I know this place like the vack of my hand,’
he bragged. In the eavly mornings he pillageA
gavbage bags like a bivd building & west of
bovbles amd trinkets. | encouraged him to take
Zaved along, and the two Aisappeaved nto

the maze.
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Elizavoeth, skip Hhis section if you ca\v\'i-)

be my veader. But Fimd & veader.

Deavr Elizaveth,

Have you noticed hate's often easy whew
it should ve havd amd havd whew i+ shoulAd be
easy? Like . . . open & history book of stvamgers
who huvt people ov amimals amad hate comes like
we've opened our avms to a toddler waddling
i our Aivection. But ask me to hate my dad,
when | hawe genunine veasons, ov my uncle, who
wmust have kidnapped me ama killed Clhvis, ana
Il give you a willion excuses befove accepting
the truth. We've wived with the queevest of
loves, the oAdest of hates.

| cam’t magine how Thea felt when she
Loumd out what Dou AlA.

By the time this letter veaches you, you'l
likely ve well-versed i seme media chavacter
of the Gemini Thief and hawve acceptrea his

9gult carte blanche. Same as Tank, who was
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Deavr Elizaveth,

Tomk had o AifPevent veaction to Don
being Welder thawm | Aid.

His emotions weve visceval wovds, tHhvoww
vather tHhowm spoken. He lamded punch abter
punch against the thin metal of the washer.
| Aldn’t wawvn about wasted enevgy ov waking
Zaved ov Rubus. | stopped writing long enough to
scoot to his ovhit oA wait fov him to stop.

‘I Aefended him, Aul” Tank’s lament
come with amother vidlent assault ow the
washer. “And now we've going to die Aownm
heve.” He voundhoused the Avyer. The chinking
vicocheted avound the concretre walls.

| stayed propped on my gavbage sacks.
£ theve’s owe thing | learned down heve,

s that vage needed a place m the voom.

Hatved wasw't trash to be taken our Monday
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A goofy out-of-place gvin took voot. |
pictured Tamk stamding in the school pavking
lot, tugging o cigavette from behind his eav,
cvamking the volume o “Single Ladies,” amd
Aamncing until Hhe givls weve embavvassed
to ve seen with us. The fall wind swept my
Lace. The air swmelled of cinmamon. Vawmillar,
Cawmplives. The cotton of my hoodie was soft
2aMA wavm avound my ueck amd eavs. | chewed
the sweatshivt stvings amd watched o fox
cvossing the voad, his ears pevking at the sounad
of oncoming trablic. | heavd vain. | tasted vain
on my tongue.

wWe weve free.

“Cavedul with that hope,” he said.

“Cavelul with that dount!” | vetovteA.

Tiptoeing nto Sleeping Roowm, | moved two
Yavstools without waking Rubus ov Zaved. The
Yoys lay on & single pool Float, toe to head,
head to toe; the stubed coyote “Buvba’
keeping watch. | veturned for two wmove stools
and Zawved stivved.

“Thauks,” he mumbled i my Aivection. He
wais asleep agaiv, ov pretending to be, betfove |
omsweved, “Youre welcome.”

Towmk spotted tHhe bavstools ama shook his
head. “Weight'll wavp the Avyer.”

Unswayed, | straddled the chaiv over both
machines, needing to see if the ceiling was

veachable before we stavted constvuction.
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Deav Elizaveth,

Though they've movose, I'll explain the basics and
put tHhem behind us.

| write when they sleep.

They = Rubus, Zawved, and Tawk.

Quick refevence guide: /?{;

Me
o The WRITLE ZARED ~
o7 WiTH Goen Rurns Se=mte
T M. NS/ES
W Lt Me 7> BE
Ats 3 v ANTS o
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And the vest, Elizaveth, is o stallea
Plymouth Sundomce amd o shovel to the head.
Peace omd Freedom,

Aulus





OEBPS/images/f304-1.jpg
wWe collapsed at vawvious poiuts, ouv bodies
Aemanding forms of nouvishment we coulan’t
provide. Zaved Aesignated himselt water boy
omd when amyone fell over in exhaustiown, he
pointed to the Masow jav.

“GooA olA 2 pevcent! he sald. And because
theve was light shining i through the pipe, we
Avamk. Not much, but a litte.

After completing the castle constvuction,
Rufus amd | Avagged “Bubba the Coyote” to
the top of the pile, and the Pour of us stood
atop the flooving of pool Ploats wed made.
Tamk amd | passed the jav like a stein. We
Avank it empty. In the unlikely event our bodies
proAuced move urine, we agveed to play papev-
vock-scissovs fov Livst Avink. | Hhink of Richawvd,
the Quik Mawvt Mountain Dew, Led's Big Gulp
thevmos, what it would ve like to put my mouth
Yo a watrer Lountain at school and taste the
wetallic llquid one move time.

The Aaydveam continued until Tamk shook
we. "Hey, stay with me. | need your help.”

Toamk omd | made a plawm.

I. Suake the pipe with coat hangers (which we have in
abundomce).

2. Put small messages that descvibe our suvvoundings
omd who we ave mto the balloous we found when we
weve seavching Davk.

3. Fill the balloows with our hamdy-dandy helium.
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Deav Elizaveth,
We veleased amother twenty balloows.

No one cawme.
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We all ook a side. | offeved to be the climber
amd scampeved up Zaved’s stool easily enough. The
structuve trembled and swayed without buckling
when | cvossed the “pridge” to the “throne” chariv.

“Easy,” Tank wavned.

We weve all heaving. Zaved’s knuckles weve white
ow his stack as | locked wmy hamds against the ceiling.
| wamted to pump my fist but Aidu't dave velease my
hold. Tamk omd Zaved exhaled together.

| checked the heat of tHhe Pluovescent vulb.
‘We've i business.”

Tawk vaised a concevn. “We have light to Ao this
extvaction, but we won't hawve light to vecownect n
Davk once we vemove the bulbs. Should we clear the
space below the ceiling i Dawvk fivst?”

Cowsidering the tvicky scaling process, | leaped
Prom the throne easily and we spramg to wovk n the
next voom, Avargging bags amd totes and stufe piling
thewm avound the edges. Back in Light, we vemoved
the bulbs and stowed each i Hhe bubvle-like pockets
of ouv pool Ploats. Break one amd it's two lit vooms
ustead of three.

Wheun everything was set up, Zaved, m o very
u-Zaved move, palmed my head like a vasketvall
amd kissed my Povehead. | hadwt seew him this
happy since vefore Chvis Aled. Rufus either. He
stvutted by us, flexing muscles like the wovld’s
weakest bodybuilder. He sang, off-key, about us
being champions amd we all joined in. When the quiet

came, amd my avims weve tucked avound tHhe voys’
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Por Thea, amd we all wamted that. Youve not going to
vecognize hev whew you see hev.”

“You must have beew faivly convinced of Dou’s
mocence. You amd Nick wouldw't have let Thea 9o
home with him if you weve wovvied.”

“Nick amd | +old Thee to stay with Griff and Ruby
tHhvough the 30th amd she wasw't having it. She was
counvinced Wavven might be nvelved. She even helped
her Aad hide your backpack, but I"—he squinted amd
pressed his thumbps into his tewmples—'caw’t rememper
why. | dou't Hhink . . . | Adow't Hhink | was on the Wavven
tvain eithev.”

Tomk heaved am entive bag of clethes off the
moumd amd the bag exploded. “And wow, abter being
heve, that vlood could have come ow the shivt Chvis
was weaving. DNA doesu't exonevate him.”

! know whose blooA it was. | noAdeAd. “You
vemember amything else about being taken?”

Tawmk coveved his Povehead with his avm. “Pieces.”

Whatever he had vealized ov was processing,
huvt him,

“Welder is someone we know. Iswt he?” | asked.
Whevever Welder spoke to us, o pattevn emevged that
the voice machine coulan’t hide. Eavly o, tHhis Aetarl
Lelt civcumstamntial amd Aiswmissible. Rufus amd ZaveA
wevewt local. Chvis wasu't local. Welder coulan't ve
local. But when | concentvatred ow his go-to gestuves—
the way he sat, spoke, turned his chin when we beggea
Lor home—the specificity was Lamiliav.

My Adad amd Welder sat in the same pavticular
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vather some Aetails not end up in our FBI file,

okay?”

“AnA I'A rather you wever mention the FBI.”

| wars shovt with him the way | always am when

he Yrings up the glovious FBI.

| awold finishing the conversation
omd scam the voom. one wall was what
| expected: Aisintegvated trvash bags
coveved in Aust amd something that wmay
ov may wot be kitty litter amd wmouse beds.
Divectly adjacent to Sleeping Room weve
Aozews of boxy computer monitors and
havd Avives. The voom makes Led’s book
stacks look like the wovk of am elementavy
hoavder.

Zoaved woticed the amimals fivst.
“That’s & coyote.”

Teeth baved, feet mounted to a
wooden board, the coyote guavded the
lacvimal voom like o poov man’s Aslawm.

And under the bags of clothes, which

we tossed to the edges of the voom, sat
Aozews of amimal species. Havdewed, vozen
Laces. Tails cuvled  lifelike positions
cvushed agaiust suapping suouts amd the
9lls of openmouthed barss.

Tamk said, “I'm not suve lighting this

voom was wise.”

The Fedeval
Buveau of
Investigation’s
umsuccessful
Aecade-long
seavch fov
welder slides a
kuife to the
cavotid avtevy
of my optimism,
I've tviea
explaining

Hats with wo
success. Theve
avew't mamy
Aibbevences

between being

heve a yeav ov
a wmonth, but

Hhis is one.

Sowme cities host Avop-off Aays fov olA battervies

amd televisions. This Aumping ground seemed like the





OEBPS/images/f225-1.jpg
Yealh,” | said, the aiv between us stale with feav.

| wais Fempted to shove him. | Aidn't, because £ he's
not heve with me, 1A wake Zaved amd we'A climb in the
Preezey, let the seal close above our heads, and Avown
m the heat of ouv own breath. Besides, i i+ weve
possible to wish people heve, this voom would ve full.

I said, ‘Il tell you what's cvazy. We weed Weldev.
How wacked is that, eh?”

Tamk lifted o tamk top Hhat would £it o baby Adll
avove his head, examining yellowed spots amd mouse
holes befove Plinging it against the wall. “Wacked.
Totally wacked.” He tugged amother shivt from the
plle beneath him. Found a stain in Hhe avmpit. Thew
sweatpants beaving the Rock Hollow Elementary loge,

stained green amd tovu at Hhe kuees. He threw thew.

“Why Ao pecple Aonate Aamaged stubf?”

) )
We weve quiet omd the quiet was so lilifockenme
well acquainted
with why. When
| +think i i+ weve

Cladys ov Thea

complete | neavly Povgot what we'd said.
But Tamk hadut. He lickea his lips ama
the question came fov him, Brom him,
the way i+ had for all of us.

“Why ave we Aown heve?” Tamk v RSy

vipped a lavge sheet of plastic nto cneloSiilCles;

cowbetti shveds. Dvy-votted black bits
Pluttevea to the Ploov.
“Kicks. Giggles, | said. “Iln Weldev's

Alstovted view, we've loved.”

wstead of we,
whew, Elizaveth,
Just com’t. I'm
sovvy we shawve

“Weve bavely even watched.” this expevience.

Theve weve camevas in the fivst bunkey, but wot

heve. Maybe were some weivd expensive expeviment “This
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I'm titling this letterv:
Deav Elizaveth, —— 7 How to Get Dvank om
wWhat happened next was one of Hope. I've tvied not to

wy favovite expeviences. leave amything out

Tomk had & migraine, so i+ was
wme amd the two yahoos as electviciams.

A year ago they £it on my back, twe at the same
tume. Now, Zawved, at six something, made a better
base candidate. He tvied to stvaighten without
Aumping Rufus on the flooy, but they wobbled until |
stepped Povwavd amd clamped my hands on Zaved's
shoulders. RuPus used our hair like balamce homdles,
and we squeaked like the wice we hear chewing
thvough the gavbage at uight.

“That's better, Rubus said.

“Fov you. Yo. Huvvy,” ZaveA complained.

“Youw'll be begging to Avink uvine abter this,” |
told tHhem.

Zaved’s eyes bounced from the chickew pock
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feet at Rufus amd picking at the skin wheve his
eyebvows used to ve. “Why does that matter?”

“l was gonnar tell myself it was hot apple cider
amd wow | com't”

“Youwve am idiot” Zaved said.

| cut i quickly. “Rube, you cam imagine it's
whatever you want”

Rufus pressed his lips to Hhe vim. His wostvils
twitched. “Eye of the tigey, | said, pounding my Pfists
against the Ploov like we weve in & baw.

I coam’t, mam.” He loweved the jav, swallowing the
lump n his Hhvoat, hating to Aisappoint wme.

You com” | Aow't womt to waste Hhe collection
with & Ademonstration.

“No,” Zawved said. Dvoplets of blood gleamed from
the picking job hed Aone to his face. When he saw
the vlood, he pushed away Brom us omd faced the
wall. | could tell by Hhe way his back bent amd cuvled
like & tvee voot he was made of thivst and ange.

Rufus iguoved Zaved amd tightened his knuckles
avound the jav. Big tears swallowed his broww eyes.
‘I dow’t Hhiuk | cam.” He wiped his eyes with his elbow,
making tny clear tvacks thvough the Aivt ou his
Pace. “Aunl, would you sing ov pray ov something?”

Theve was uncombortable silence amd | wished
Tomk was back from his tool seavch. | Aow't pray
anymove amd | couwldn’t think of what to sing.

From his side of the voom, Zaved said, “I£ theve’s
a God, he's fovgotten us.”

| tvied to imagine what Tank might say i he
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we. But | stepped up amd lied, because I'm the adult
heve. It came easily, the way i+ must have to my
Pather when he said, 'See you abter Aaycave, litHle
buddy, knowing his car was packed with everything

he owweAd.

‘I sweaw,” | said, & pevbectly executed [ theve’s been no
Lalsehood, ama left my boys betove they

questioned me Luvther. /
| passed through Sleeping Room into

sign of ouv captor

in twenty sleeps.

No veasom to
the next voom, the next, the wext, each

believe we'll be
tme hoping the maze wmight produce a

vescued.
Minotaur willing to eat a skinny hevo. Tamk
Pollowed. We walked, palms out, protecting
our shins omd faces. When | was sure Hhe boys wevew't
n eavshot, | asked Tamk, “‘0Ads theve’s a screwdviver
n all this junk?” | wamted the freezer dismantled. 1€
Welder doesw't come back soom, Zaved climbing in the
freezer omd shutting the lid is & legitimate concevn.
Tawk, | can't lose him too. | can’t” And against wy
better judgwment, | sobbed.

Al

| voiiseA wmy hawmd to stop his lectuve. Yes, ves, /
undevstand I'm wot the savior of the universe; Hhat
Aoesn’t make me less vesponsible.

“IHs hawa to believe they've veally heve. That you
have the burden of . . " Tank was caveful how he
spoke—=Pov me, Pov him—and he covvected. “It's hava
o velieve amy of us ave heve!” His face was a Ao,
he held back a viver of wovds. “Youve not planwing to

Avink Hhat urine, ave you?”
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Theve weve wo move balloous. lustead, we
cut seveval trash bags until they weve the
same size as all the other balloous, thinking
they might hold aiiv. The fivst Aisintegrated.
The second: a tear kept it from mflating.

That's wheu | accepted i+ was over.

Using our laast bits of stvength, Rufus,
2Zaved, and | shoved the freezer into the voom
with the castle amd moved Bubba the Coyote
to guawvd us.

wWe made am ovder. Zaved fivst. Then
Rufus, then me. Tauk last; unless he's lying, and
I suspect he is for my bewefit. He wamts Hhis
over fov me.

Elizaveth, | am placing your letters n
Bubba's mouth. Please Aot hate me for giving
up. | Hhink Tamk hates me. He's leaving the voom
as | Pimish Hais last letter.

| grabfitied the wall one last time.

T

- T GofS

Totxs  PIPER
AnuS  MECLAGHEN
ZARED  PAR\EN
RuFus CoRtN
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Deav Elizaveth,

Pee Dviv\\civ\gz Powt Il

The bottle seavch turned up two potential
containevs. owe plastic pitchev—the kina they sell
at the Adllar store—amd a quavt Mason jar that
nweeded to be emptied of bolts amd washers ana
wiped out with a T=shivt. | made am mstvuctional
ammoumcement avout futuve bathvoom habits.
(Pvevious habits nvolved o camping potty amd trash
bags we passed to Welder,) Evgo, post announcement,
an avgument boiled over from the adjacent voom.
Nothing atypical. Zared’s a year older tham Rufus
but acts five years youngev. They've fouvteen and
Libteen—uo, fifteen ama sixteen nwow, omd Zaved was

whining about Rubus locating the containers. He is
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| com imagine my uncle examining every

square inch of the Audl Quattve. Among
the sticky penwies amd empty water bottles
hed find: & bromd-new Dewalt covdless Avill
purchased at Ace HavAdwave; a chicken-
scvatch wote to Thea, another to Nick; maybe
wmy backpack. The police woula provavbly tell
Leo the key was in the iguition, car vuuning,
when they found it Heve's the long amad shovt
of Led’s amswer. "Mistey, wo kin of mine leaves a
vestoved 1982 Audi Spovt Quattvo on the side
of the voad. You better believe someone took
him ov 1'll kil him mysel®”

Who knows what the police saiad
avout Hhat.

Maybe they Hhink Leo took me.

Maybe they think I'm dead.

The Aay | was taken, Leo amd | spoke
brielly. | was on am evvamd fov Uncle Don ama
had stopped vy the house. Leo was on the

povch, reading, ever veading, ever slurping the
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Deav Elizaveth,

Not Adead yet.

1l pick up with exit plaws.

| guaavded the buoyancy of my wovds when
| said, ‘| have an idea.”

Tomk pummeling the washer made me
notice the Avyev, move specifically, a long metal
pipe joming Avyer to Avyer vent. Runming Floov
to ceiling, the vusted cylinder Aisappeaved
somewheve above the popcovu tiles ana
cobwebs. And | guessed, based o the vent
wovk at Hhe castle, somewhere . . . is outside.

“That Avyer used to be nstalled,” | said.

“Yealh.” Cogs clicked nto place.

“Dryer vent means—"’

“That pipe goes outside. Which is great,
except neither of us cam fit through a five-

inch pipe.”





OEBPS/images/f312-1.jpg
vib cages pressed amd pinched each othev; we
Avawmk aiiv in gulps.

“Adwmit it. IH's Hme to give up,’ he said.

“No.”

Tomk hurtled nto the voom, stopping at the
Aoov to watch us gvapple. Zaved was wo lowger
the plushy boy from o year ago. He was bowes
omd teeth. He was o beavd with wo eyebvows
ov lashes. In mamy ways, he was me, and | had
wo idea how to combort him.

I lookeA Aespevately towavd Rufus. “Tell
wme wot to give up yet?”

Malaise folded Rube like o piece of bread,
but he A as | asked. “Yeah, Aul, yeah. Dow't
give up.”

“Tell me we'll fina wmove valloows,” |
Aemanded.

Rufus hesitated. “Theve ave move
valloouns.”

“Let’s seavch Light amd Dawk Lov move. Go
back to the helium voom and—"

Towmk ntevvupted. “Aul, we tvied omd i+
Aldn't wovk. That's not your fault”

“I kmow.”

“No,” Tawmk said. “You Aow't. I'm all Pov hope,
unless hope stops making sewse. And, bvothey,
we've veached that point.”

Zaved amd Rubus slunk to my side amd sat
Aoww at my feet.

“‘Shut up,” | told Tank.
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Elizaveth, he smacked me acvoss the face and
shoveA my chin up towavd the pipe. “Listew to that,
he said.

“To what?”

“That vell

You heav it too?” | touched his eavs, the soft skin
of his loves. “You Leel veal” | said.

“That'’s ‘cause | am.” A smile claimed his face.
“And | know wheve we ave. Come ow. Climp the Aump
heap castle one last time.” Theve was wo veasow to
avgue with this smiling ghost. The freezer waswt going
amywheve,

“one last tvip, | told him.

‘oue last tvip” he vepeated, like he was appeasing
wme, wmstead of | him.

He took amother piece of gavbage bag, tied a loop,
amd thew shoved the helium spout through the hole. As
soon as the bag was ovamge-size, he cinched the kwot
Halhter. Mivaculously, it held.

“How A you Ao that?” | asked. And at Hhat very
wmowment, | vemembered the boys i the freezer and
thvew mysell off the castle.

Towmk spum me like o tuvntable. Compassion oozed
Prom his eyes. Then something else Pollowed the teavs.
Anger? | hoped uet; | Aidn't wamt him to leave amd | was
Laivly cevtain of two things: |) Tamk was & ghost, ana
2) ghosts could come amd go as they wished.

“Aull” He squeezed my avm havd amd said the
thing that broke me and will likely break you too. “The

boys aven't down heve. I'm veal. They've not”
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“Count the closets,

| calleA.

Toamk turned avound, eyes following the voys
out of the voom, head shaking the whole time. He
continued our mapping efforts. “The upper section
is two chunks” He tvaced the small squave he'd
panted m the space ou the left which mncludes the
thvee vooms with bulbs. Main voom: wheve we ave wow.
Sleeping voom: wheve the pool floats ave. Bublbet voom:
wheve we used to eat whew Welder Avopped n £ooA.
He laveled this small section Lightbefore tvacing
the backwavd L shape ow the vight. “And Dark) he
added, with the caveat, */should have thought
about mapping that Livst Aary.”

Tamk wasw't even awake the fivst three sleeps
of his captivity. Welder's Avugs smashed his system
Hulk style. | Aot wawmt to tell him how often his brain
scvawmbles Aetals ov that he cries when he Aveawms.

“You weve freshly kidnapped, Aude.”

“Ana you lost Chvis ama—"





OEBPS/images/f279-1.jpg
evening amd left cuvbside for Tuesday pickup.
Ewmotions Aidw’t end up in lamAfills. They livead
heve. With us. AnA somehow we coexisted.

“Reading people iswt like veading a chavt
ov & gvaph,” | said.

Whether it was my wovas ov his exhaustion,
the lashing stopped. He leaped atop the Avyer
avd collapsed, chest Aoww, sprawled acvoss
the two machines. In the half light, his shadow
quiveved, his lumgs wovked tviple time. They
weve louder thawm his guilt.

Tawmk s brilliomt, but Thea's one of his blina
spots. I£ she woamteA Dow to be immocent, Tank
wovked to make him imocent.

(Sovvy, | need to stop for o minute. My
Priend needs me.)

I shd acvoss the pile of gavbage sacks,
Lovced Tamk to sit up, and gvipped his face
with both hands. | said, “Dow’t, mowm. Just Aon't”
Fov ouce, he laid his head on me and sobbed
like Clhavis used to i the beginuing. Whem his
breathing calmed, | matrched him. Long inhale.
Long exhale. Long mhale. Long exhale. Again
oamA agaiv,

“Aul” He tvapped his Aivty kuees inside his
Aivtier avms. “I£ Dow'’s in jall, he's not coming
back. We've not looking to make it o few move
Aays. We weed o way out”

I thought about Zaved, how close he was

to giving up.
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stubfed turkey. “Whatcha got heve?” | asked, kueeling
beside him,

‘What?” Tamk stepped closev.

“kwife.” | placed Rubus'’s Aiscovery in Tank’s
outstretched hamd. Wooden gvip, two feet by three-
nch-wide blade that avced slightly at the tp. 1A
once seen o machete like this hanging from my
Lather’s velt.

“How shavp?” Tamk asked.

| Avew back my Hhumb alter vried
contact with the edge ama showed a thin
sliver of cvimson. My eyes davted to wheve
Zaved was cvouched, stroking long-dead

animals. He was calling them “oaby.” We had

seconds befove we Avew his cuviosity.
“Hide it/ | said.
Towmk stavted to protest. “But if

Weldey comes—"!

Mawm, that's
Abficult to
adAmit,

“Right now we've greater enewmies to
ouvselves.”
All Lor now. Zaved is switfling, mayve
cvying, amd | need to check o him.
Peace omA Freedom,

Aulus
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The chaivs weve shaky beasts, but | got wmy
kuees on the seat of the uppevmost chaiv ana
Plung my hamds wide like a Hghtvope walker.
oune hand Pound the wall oama | nhaled. Theve
was wo vesistamce whew | punched the fivst
tle. Dust coated my hair and Avifted to the
Ploov.

“Nice, Tamk said, wiping his eye.

Four inches above the ceiling, the vent
passed through am exterior wall. | squinted.
‘We need the coupling ofL. | Aow't wamt to
waste enevgy i we can't get the pipe away
Lrom the wall”

“Would the kuibe help? Use the ena of
the vlade like o screwdviver?” He Aian't
wait fov am amswer. We should have thought
about that with the freezev lid. Dot
£all) he added veforve vetveating toward
Sleeping Roowm.

knife in hamd, he veturmwed. Rufus ama
Zaved followed him like Aucklings.

“Youve hacking through the wall without
us?” Rubus said, yawning.

Zaved glided by, thumping the tp of the
knibe i Tank’s hamd with his middle finger.
“He's keeping me away Lrom the shavp objects.
Right, Aul?” He made the joke, but he was
gvateful too.

Tawk iguoved the boys amd said, ‘we'll

hawe to swake something up the enclosed pipe
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now cevtain Don's wrist was his last image
before succumbing to the Avugs. When | said,
“Auyone com have a vubber bama ou his wrist”
he avgued, “Yeah, but anyone Aidu't call ana
ask me to pull over and come back to the
castle to ving & bell when theve weve four
other people on the voot who could have Aone
it instead.”

GooA pont.

| fovced myself to hold Don's guilt ars tvuth.

No, not +vuth—~Lact.

My mowm ouce said, Tvuth is spandex. Facts
ave metal and she was vight. But, Elizaveth,
we weve Adown heve with him—Aependent fov
wmonths omd months—and we Aidn't know, Aidw't
suspect, wot ouce. From wheve we sat, on the
other side of the glass o acvoss the food
slit opening, Welder was o mawm h awm ovevsize
wmechamic suit who brought food amd water.
The uucle | expeviencea fov seventeen yeavs
of life was kind to stvay amimals, had wo weivd
Pive compulsions, amd helped me suvvive middle
school. Yes, he was quiet, and yes, he was
tense, but he was also tender.

AnA Lovr that veasow, while | accepteA Dow's
guilt; | vefused to feel stupid.

How cvazy is it that I'm thinking amother
mam n my life st who | thought he was
vather tham letting myselt Aigest the fact
that I'm Aying?
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We Avawmk the last of the
watey, ate the last of the food.
Our tongues ave samdpaper
coated i veach; our breath is
bad—hovvendous—amd I'll spave
you the Aetails of our stomachs,
but they ain’t pretty either.

| Aow't know wheve we ave ov
wheve we weve befove Welder
wmoved us. Best guess: Middle
Teunessee? Accovding to Tank,
Middle Teunessee amd Centval
Kentucky got fourteew inches
of vain n & single Aoy not long
ago. That flood matches our
bunkev swap.

Moy things happened when
ouv fivst buvker floodeA.

Many unspeakable suitcase
Hhings.

Now we ave heve. Heve,
wheve each voom exits into
the next, oamd when you've suve
youve out of space, amother
closet pops up amd wawves from
the covwer wall. Fluovescent
tube lights hang from six-inch
chains i our Hhvee main vooms.
Fouv of six bulbs wovk. oue’s

Plickeving. The ouly places that

W

You should hawve pictuves

of us from the news,
yeal? So, n your head,

1 look like o wmechamic ov
a gavage vomd flunky.
Towmk’s got this / Am
Legend vive, except . . .
without the eavs. Ain't
no one Aoww heve got
nothin’ on Will Swith’s
eavs. Zaved’s o staimed
Nightwave Betore
Christmas T-shivt, wide
pink gauge i his eav,
Ylack lipstick, chunky
bits squeezed nto o paiv
of overly tight givl jeams;
omd Rufus is o veceiver
Lor his freshman Lootvall
teowm, scrappy as Dawvid
fighting Goliath, ama
built like o phone cavle
tHhat com He itself in
knots. We've pasty ama
pale these Aays. We'ad
win & ghost competition if

we enteved.
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(ovawmge-size valloous £it Hhrough the pipe. Grapebruit-
size Aowt.)

4. Send up & test balloon. I it passes Hhvough the pipe,
velease twenty at a time, until we've out.

S. Stay close enough to the vent that we cam call out

to someone who might see the valloons.

we had 125 valloous of maybe, oamaA maybe
was wovth wmove tHham nothing.

Towmk suaked the pipe until he was faivly
sure we gained five-inch access to the outside
wovlA. | veleasea the Livst test balloon. The
green latex floated up the pipe like a flying
lime, vlocking the light.

“DiA i+ wovk?” Rufus whispeved.

No oue wamted to check even though we
weve all Aespevate to know.

Toawk peeved into the opewing. “Theve's light
again,” he vepovted. We took Hhat to mean
the valloon was Plying. owe little gveen bivd,
oL amd away. SH|, | held my breath uvtil he
shoved the coat havnger swake Hhvough the
pipe. We waited fov o pop. Tamk tuvned avound
with & broad gvin. “We've i business.”

Rufus jumped up omd Adown. | joined him
oma ouv whole castle construction vockeA amad
shifted slightly. v Rufus’s excitement, he slia
alowg the tvash bag heap while scveaming,

‘It wovked!” at the top of his lungs. Whew he
lamded at the bottom, he Plapped, swow angel





OEBPS/images/f309-1.jpg
Deavr Elizaveth,

We sat n & civcle, Bubba the Coyote
as ouv £iPHh, atop the tvash castle. Ul have
avother idea, | said. ‘We have three wmove
sets, vight?”

Rufus, who had laid the balloous out n
Aelivevate colov-coded gvoups, nodded. Green,
blue, ama vellow. “I1£ we Aon't vun out of helium,”
Towmk said.

| haadn't even cousideved the aiv factov.

“‘What i£ we use the leal vlower?” | asked.

“To what?” ZaveA asked.

‘See i we cam send the balloons thvough
the pipe with o litHe wmove comph.”

That turned out to ve ivvelevamt; the
blower ouly coughed.

“Welve sure theve ave wo move valloons?”

Zaved Aivected the question to Rufus.
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shoulders, amd I'A had o chamce o be fully Hhankful
| waswt Aown heve alone, Zaved asked, ‘Do you +hink
Welder's watching us, Aul?”

| said, “Yep,” appraising the structuve.

Toamk said, “Yep, indeed.”

Owe victory became two. From atop Hhe
scaffolding in Dawk, | amnounced, “Wiving matrches.”
| lifted the light. “Weve about to Find out what's
n heve.”

| scvew m Hhe bulb. ove tuvn. Two. Three.

Elizaveth, that's when we got ouv fivst look at
Davk. I'll be back soom to tell you what'’s Adown heve.

Peace omA Freedowm,

Aulus
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vesult of every small-town wike saying, “Howey, take the
bass amd chipmunks to the cuvb. IHs taxidevmy Friday.”

“Someone’s o collector” Zaved said, almost
impvessed.

Rufus suapped the bamd on Zaved's undevwea.
“Someone’s a psy-cho!”

“Watch out. I'm coming down.” Good Hhing | said
something; shifting my weight caused the scaffolding to
£all amA scatter into o mess of metal. Tamk cussed amd
Zoaved suapped at Rufus to be move caveful with me.

Tank tugged me towavd him. “How much Ao you
know about hunting i kentucky? Species might tell us
wheve we ave. Maybe?”

This was him spoou-feeding my pavticular brand
of hope. Even i we Aidn't get out of heve, | wamted
to know wheve we weve and who had taken us. |
cavessed the velvet eav of a ved Pox similawr to one
Leo’s garage, and agveed.

‘A collector would probably have species beyond
the vegion, but these amimals ave native to the South.”
He petted the specimens lovingly. “River otter. Mink.
Red Pox. Squivvel.”

“Boy Scout | teased.

“Valedickovian. Get it vight,! Tamk said, but
conldn’t hold the wmock anger £ov long.

Rubus’s eyes went all huge. He asked we, “Is he
Jjoking ov whaat?”

I shook my head.

“Bro, you should've tolA us you weve smavt”

Rufus says.





OEBPS/images/f226-1.jpg
pevson, whoever he ov she is, pays to keep us alive. That's
gotta say something abvout their psychology.”

“Defimitely. But, Aul, what’s n Hhis other Hhan
vesponsivility? Why visk so much for so litHe? Welder Aoesw't
evew spend Hme with you.” He covvects himself. “Us.
Doesu't spena time with us.”

“You wamt me to explain the wmotives of a psychopatih?”

“Conld Welder be move tham owe pevsow? | meaw . . . Hhis
takes o lot of setup. And we weve all faken m vawious ways.
Drugs. Shovels. You said Rufus ouly vemembers o grocery
stove alleyway and Zaved’s last memory wars ice cveam.”

“We weve also apologized to. Who shows that sovt of

vewmovse?”

On wmy fivst

- B OUTRRp e

' bunkey,
| woke
£ollowing

You Ng=&y oV I
R B W 8 g wy shivt,
0

o <
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scav undev my left eye to my slightly cvooked £rout
tooth. He cam claim he's fine all he wawnts, but his
gray skin omd plucked eyebrows tell the tvuth. Those
gimger avches Aisappeaved ouv fivst mouth togethey,
amd evevy sleep he twists the same greasy lock

of widow's peak avound his index fingev. He knows

wme well enough to undevstand I'm keeping us vusy,
Aistvacting us from hunger amd the thivst, Weldev’s
wmystevious absence, (hvis. .. and ... Now | am the
one who weeds a Aistvaction.

“Maw, I'A kill Pov o laddey,” | said.

‘Or & gevie so we could ask fov a laddey,’

Rufus said.

Zaved smacked Rufus’s ankle amd | gave Zaved
o pop of equall or greater value ow the fovehead. The
pyvamid almost £Lell. “If we have a gevie, we've asking
to escape,’ he said under his breath.

Good point: “Dear Bunker Genie, I'A love a tavle
ov & lavge piece of fuvniture to push to the center of
the voom. Anything that might get us to the ceiling.”

‘I theve’s a Bunkev Geuie, ask hev to tHhvow in
some cigavettes,” Tank said from behind wme. Then
he cvossed the voom amd vubbed my cheeks like they
weve a geunie lamp. This Hckled and | jevked. Rubus
leapt Aoum before we Avopped him, omd we fanmed
out to find stackavle stubs.

We gvoped the Aavkuess for handbfuls of hope.
Something soft brushed my avm and | squeezed my
hamwds inte fists. Clothes, only clothes. I+ could have

beewn haly, my byain says.
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could rescue this conversation. Something
like, Doubt needs a voice. Big questions
ave Tamk’s joum. | know you believe toe,
Elizaveth, amd | hope that believing
cavvied you through the hovvovs like it now
cavvies Tamk. But I'm just wot theve.

Tank appeaved, staving at the Mason
jow i the cewnter of our miniatuve civcle.
Rufus stvetched his fingers towavd Tank
like theve was & gravitational pull but
stopped shovt of touching him. | Hhink theve
ave some who would judge our ntimacy, but
you know what the absence of love Aoes to
o pevson. These guys, they ave the veasow |
Aon't give up.

Toamk suvprised me with his wext acton.
He hefted the Mason jar to his lips amd
sipped long amd Avamk deep. “Your tuvn,’
he sald to me, which was his way of saying
we've all going to Avink whether | play the
hevo ov wot. "Dow’t stamd up until you dvink
that! he commanded. Thew, overcome by
ewmotions ov committed to his task, he left
to Ao move vummaging in Davk.

| stavted ow the voys fivst.

‘Ru-fus™—I used my £ake pavent voice—
“GoA wawmts you to Avink that”

He gave me the weak laugh | was
hoping fov. “That's low, oo, he said, but

hela his wose with one hamd amd swalloweA.

o

[ One weekend back

n teuth grade

we talked about
GoA amd gods,
Laith, psychics,
wystcism, shawme,
guilt, mastuvbation,
Abomdowment,
litevally everything
tHhat crossed ouv
brains. Like theve
was no such thing
aS A bad idea ov
a secvet. It was
weiva the week
abrevwavd—
knowing we'd gone
theve, knowing
we'a let ouvselves
be seen—and
weither of us got
brave enough to go
theve again, but |
think he thought
it wars good. This
space, the things
we've trying to

savy, Peel like the
Monday abter

that weekend in

the tent.
=
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Deav Escape Avtist,

Sometimes | wake up, heart pounding, sweat

pooling in the gatherings of the pool float.
lmagine veing

I've had the Aveam again.

: X the sing
The oue wheve the suitcase zipper suags e single

the covuer of my lip amd wmy body is folded histoviom

hovizeA
like o puppet, knees to Lovehead, avms authorized to

cvooked like Avainpipes. Welder’s mechaunical R o WMl
voice echoes through the Labvic. | swallow o
mildew. It swallows me back. Weldev says, ov the Great
“Go to sleep, my June Boy.” | choke om o Dervessis

ov 9/11, the

castle, on & key.
1 )|

That moment cloaks wme like skiu. Reredies
Not like skin—skin Plakes ofL. Move like

wool, ov wmove like veius. </ =

vespousibility
Hhat woulA

. That!
Do | sound cvazy? Mawybe. Maybe | am. ke

how | Peel.
But | Adow't think your veaction will be what (AN
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He knew wme so well. He caunght wmy forearm and
held it with his fingevtips. | knew him too. He longed
to tell me Chvis wasu't my £ault, that none of this was
my Lault, but instead we stood togethey, him holding
my avim, me looking toward the boys until he said
“Aul” like he was as wovvied about me as | was avout
Zaved. That hit me good amd havd.

“Maybe I'm being selfish,” | said.

“Youre mamy things vight now and selfish isu't one
of thew.”

A aquiet whisper came fvom wmy gut: Dying first is
easier tHhan watching anyone else Aie.

Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus
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“Yes, they ave.”

‘I never met thewm.” Slowly he shook his head and
thew tapped wmy temple. “They've in heve.”

| vemewmbeyr we've had this Aiscussion befove.
Maybe move thaw owce.

“Sovvy,’ | said aganin.

“Me too.”

Saduness has buoyamcy. | pushed it to my toes ama
the pain vipped upwovd omd lodged in wmy tHhvoat. It
st behind my eves, Wid under my cheekbounes, built a
house in my chest. | fovceA myselt to hold the deaths
of Rufus amd Zaved as something | lived thvough on
the same night Chvis Aied. Their bodies lay votting in
& bunker made to suvvive a techwological apocalypse.
welder made wme zip Chvis into o suitcase omd homa
him out. And he Avagged me £rom the water wheve
Rufus omd Zaved had Avowwed.

| AAn't meawm to lie to you.

| Aidw’t meawm to lie o myself.

Rufus amd Zaved weve my angels of Aistraction.
My brothers. They walked o hell at my side. | tvied
to tell Tawmk, but he alveady knew.

“Cry all you wamt,” he said. Aud when | was Aone—
wot finished exactly—vut dehyavated, confused, amad
hoavse, | asked, "What happeus next?”

Ol Aow't know,” he said, “but that'’s Dow's castle vell
vinging.” / veally wanted him to stop talking so | could
sleep. | wanmted to cvawl into the freezer and not come
out: “That vell's Thea, man. We vamg that sucker

when we weve locking for you amd the sound is Aistinct.
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Not too long after Rufus amd Zaved left
Thanks)umegiving to nap—theve’s a lot of wapping to
pass the Hime—Tawmk lifted o ‘povk chop” to his lips
omd chewed the paper like a goat. My stomach huvt
watching him swallow, but | kept us n the spivit. “We
coulA catch o mouse.”

Toawmk teavs bvown slivevs of paper ama crisscvosses
thewm in o camplive stack. “AnA cook it ovev a
coustruction-paper five.” He adds some ved ama
ovomge amd yellow stvips. “Look! Five's huge!”

“Enovmous.”

‘out of coutvol”

‘I buvn Hhe wmouse up.”

“AnA us.”

Duving ouv frenzy, we stomped the “ive” until our
heavts pounded amd our Leet weve bruised. At the
vawe's height, | heaved a plastic blue toddler chaiv
at the wall; it vicocheted, leaving o huge dent in the
leg. We collapsed in o heap, langhing.

You cam get full-om launghter.

Restauvamts should adA it to their menu.

“Maybe Nick amd Thea will find us and bring
McDonald’s amd cigavettes,” Tank said.

| alloweA Tawmk his Paivy tale. “Yep. HolA the
special sauce.”

(Thea's my cousiu. Nick’s my brother Erom amothey
wothev.)

Accovding to Tamk, they hooked up since I've been
Aown herve, which is weivd, but | get it Nick pevms his

hair amd in the scheme of things, that's weivder than
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Big Gulp. On my way acvoss the laww, he'd spat
a mouthful of seeds owto the povch. ‘| wavned
you about the mud, didwt 17” he said, pointing
at the quattvo’s side panels. Leo’s not keen on
my Aad’s side of the Lamily amAd never missed
a chamce to let me know. The owly pevson he
halbway likes is Thea, and that's because she
Yeavs a stviking vesemblamnce to his favovite
ex-wife.

“Yeah, yeah. I'll wash hev this abtevnoon,” |
said with & two-finger salute. | was i amd out
Last betove he had me washing the Audi n
the dvive. | veeded to get the new Avill back
o Uncle Don since 1A broken his that movning.
| called avound locking fov o veplacement—
Wavven Burton; my Quik Mawvt boss, Mv.
Rachelle; the shop teacher at school, Mv.
Mavkum; omd no one, not even Gviff amd Ruby,
who hawve every tool known to mam m the WCC
shop, had exactly what | was looking fov.

Less thowm o mile £rom the castle, a
Plymouth Sundamce sat stalled m the highway,
passengev Aoov open. Theve'’s nothing out that
voad but Lavms. | hit my hazavds without o
thought.

Elizaveth, I've veplayed the wext thvee
winutes of my life uncountable times over the
last yeav.

I left the Aviver’s door slightly ajav.

Walked to the Plymountha.





OEBPS/images/f317-1.jpg
Zaved sat wm the bottowm of the fveezey,
tucked into the smallest ball his gangly body would
allow. He wove clothes fov the occasion—blue jeaus
omA & Pac-Mowm T-shivt. Noue of us locked better
thom Rufus, who douned a thvee-piece suit he Aug
from the treasured Aonations beside his bed.

one last time, Zaved amd | locked eyes. “Don't
let me out!” he said. “No matter what. This is what
| womt. Even i | scream.”

He was scaved. He was bvawve.

| was umable to Ao move Hhaw woA.

| Aidw’t know if tHhis ov letting us stavve to
Aeath was move humome, anad | had wo idea if
I'A be able to pull their bodies out of the Preezer
without Tawmk’s help. | wasw't suve 1A £it n theve if |
Aldn't move Hhewm.

Elizaveth, this was move awbful Hham being
token.

“llove you guys,” Zaved said.

How mamy times had he told me he Aidw’t love
amyone? Thousamds over the last yeaw.

“Theve’s no one else I'A vather Ale with,” |
tolA him,

‘June Boys fovevey,” Rubus echoed from
wy side.

He stopped me from closing the A, | was
momentavily velieved—hoping he might confess
he had wmove valloous stashed by his float. But
instead, he climbed in with Zaved amd they

pretzeled thelr bodies into o lump.
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not, and | mean, NOT, Avinking anything that comes
Provm my body.”You know how whinevs ave.

Theve was mumbling, incohevent grumbling, Hhen
Rubus said, “Aulus says il save our lives.”

“Aulus iswt God.” Zaved prowounced my wame
Alice vecause he assumed | was listening.

I yelled Hhvough the wall to appease him, “All-Us!”
and Tawk stivved. We weve back im Sleeping Room,
loumging amd cousevving calovies. He was flat o his
velly, Avawing his own copy of The Giving Tree fvom
wmewmovy; | was folded uto o pseudo-chaiv of tvash
bags, veveading a yellowed papevback of Stephen
King's The Stand that's missing pages 142-1773.

Next doov, the argument hit a new level ana
| stvaightened, ready to police if need ve. What
ave you thinking about? Tawmk’s eyebrows asked. Let
em go a bit longey, mine amswered. He vetuvned to
sketching; | veturned to eavesdvopping. Theve was a
sevious Fiwack and shawp owww Brom the wext voom,
A body vamwming the concvete floov.

| cvacked my neck prizefighter style amd tHhvust
wmy upper body iuto the main voom. Rufus had Zaved
n & Lull nelson. A game of cavds, probably blackjack,
scatteved acvoss the concvete floov as they wriggled
amd writhed. The deck of cavds is missing & two of
spades amd the queen of heavts, amd Zaved was
missing & tiny chunk of his eawv. BlooAd Avipped £vom his
cheek to the Ploov.

“You've dvinking pee,’
ZoveA.

| soid mattev-of-factly to
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He collaved wmy shivt amd Avagged wme
away from the boys. “We've going to die and
you weed to make peace with the fact that
you Aot hawe to save us.”

Theve weve tears ow wmy lips, on my chin.
“You Aon't know that!” | yelled nto his eaw.

“And . .. heve's the hava pavt!” Towmk tolA
wme. "It dvesw't make sense, it's wot Paily, ama it's
not our Lault. Blaming youvsel® won't help. You've
not goumar get your head avound how omd why
this happened. Maybe up theve Welder gets
away scot-free. We Aon't kuow. But you cam’t
punish youvsel® enough to punish him.” Tank’s
hoamd—the one he slammed vepeatedly into
the washer—Fflopped listlessly nto the aiv. The
flngevs weve mangled, not to mention seveval
sizes lavger thaw his left. “Youve afvaid of
what it meawns i you get amgry, but you need
to get uvious ov you'll never make peace
with this.”

| was whimpeving. Zaved had his awvms
avound Rufus. | said, “Getting mad means
it's ovev.”

‘It wars over the minute Weldey took us.
Mad means youve humam.”

“Humams Ate.”

He wodded. “Yes, we Ao. Now let’s kick
something to pieces.”

“Why?”

“Because you need to.”





OEBPS/images/f124-1.jpg
Deavr Elizaveth,

| Aow't vemember Lalling asleep ov waking up.

one minute | was on the pool Ploat, eyes bavved
shut like the Quik Mavt at wight, the wext, Tauk’s
stvaddling the blue toddler chaiv | Aented this
wmovning, paper and pen tn hamd, singing jingles to
accewtuate ouv situation. Like o good neighboy,
State Farm was theve. The plastic bends under
his weight, the Aamaged leg threatening to cave.

I'm not suve what he was Avawing, pevhaps
wove Giving Trees. Judgment came alive in his
eyebvows amd the tght lines avound his mouth
when | picked up this letter ama stavted to wite.
Towmk tapped his pencil on the paper like a Avum
until | conlan’t Hhink stvaight. “You still wamt Hhat
Preezev top vemoveA?”

He knew | AlA.

Tomk had five i his eyes. ‘I say we gvid
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way—legs cvossed tightly at the knees, hips cockea
sideways—out that Adidw't mean Welder was my Aad.
Ancther Hhing | noticed was that Dow said “I'm zapped”
when he was Hived, amd Weldev once used zapped i &
similawv Lashion.

“Aul, I'm about 98 pevcent suve Weldev is Down.”

Ik S

I let myself examine my uncle. I£ Don was
vespousible, these cvimes would ve wonviolent and
obsessive. But theve was wo motive. Plus, he was so
wrapped up n his stinking castle that he iguoved his
Aaughter. Why visk criminal vepevcussious to be a
pseudo-pavent to thvee ov fouv voys? Unless he was
building the castle fov us. Unless the voice he claimed
to have veceived castle ustvuctions fvom was o
wmavker of his Aiminished mental health.

“Hear me out! Tamk said. “We Lound Hhose valloons
i Davk eavlier amd something javved loose. | was in
my truck, heading toward Wildweod, and spetted the
Petevsous’ hot-aiv balloow £flying overhead.” He fell Aeep
nto the mewmory. “I'A talked +o Dow at the castle, but
he called ama asked me to pull 0P and turn avound.
He needed wme to ving the tower bell and ving it vight
then. Another voice in his head, some gut-instinct
wmstructon. You should have heava him, Aul. He was
psycho lit over it | told him to call Thea because she
was i the tower vight then, amd he said, ‘No, tvust
wme. Youve the one | need. | think your life Aepends on
' He ...l should have . . . Why would | pull 6b£ the

highway ou June Ist? I'm am it
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“Stop.” Neither of us ueeded to vevisit those eavly
Avugged and grieving Aavys.

out theve, you lose someone ama life slips into your
empty places the way vain £ills low places in the yavd.
Down heve, Pour people ave the whole wovlA. You lose owe
amd s a hole i the dawm, water flooding in all the time.

Toamk coughed, veturning us to the task at hand.
“The way | see things, the flood happened, Aeath
happened, and Welder freaked. The tramster heve
was puvely veactional. Theve's wo way he vetted
evevrything in this hole.”

“Pravably,” | said. Unless we weve Avugged fov
Aays betrween moves. “Even i | was under fov a long
stretch during the tramsfey, | wasu't whew Welder
added you. That happened Last. He shoved you
Hhveugh the £ood slit and vesealed the opening.”

Tank didnt like the veminder of waking up heve.
“Theve could be todls, a chisel, i oue of these bags.”

‘or a sledgehammey,” Rubus adds £rom the
Aooviary.

‘or o sledgehammey,” | vepeat, thinking of the
hours | haammered on the food slit opening with
both feet.

“True, Tank said.

| pulleA Rubus into the next voom. “You ever vum
acvoss amything that might let us chip away the
wmovtaw between the bvicks?”

“Not yet. Dawk is super Aawk.”

He was vight, Elizabeth, but that got me thinking,
even if Weldev's using solav power to stay off-gvid, the
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| said, “lI'm appointing you to Figure out
semething that will”

Tomk seemed pleased with the
assigament, but his expression folded towarad
Alsappointment. "You saw those sweatpants
Erom eavliey, vight?”

“The Rock Hollow oues? Yeah, what Ao they
hawve to Ao with this?”

“What i it's our Rock Hollow?”

| exhaled. 'l Aow't cave wheve we ave
amymove.” That was a lie amd we both knew it

Tank said, ‘Let’s sy we manage to shove
something thvough this pipe into the great
outdoovs. Then what? Someone happens upon am
abandoned house ov a building i the middle
of wowheve amd notices’—he thvew o T-shivt
ot wmy Pace—'a pille of olA clothes ama thinks,
Maw, Il bet theve ave kids in this basement”

“You 9ot & better idea?” He Aidwt. “Then
use that lvy League skull of yours amd tell me
what gives us the highest probability of pushing
something through that vent.”

“‘We need to ve up theve, he said, of the
ceiling. “on a stavle platform. ‘Cause we have
to punch thvough that Avop-Aown stubt, vemove
the pipe on this side, amd thew figure out
wheve i+ goes with some sovt of swake tool.”

‘Well, | happen to have built o castle once.
Stay heve,” | said.

“Wheve'w | gowmar go?”
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amd thew pray the vent iswt coveved. They
often hawve extevnal Plaps to keep amimals out”

Vevy cavefully, Rufus joined me atop
the Avyev. The chairs shook with his added
weight. | steadied us as Tamk passed wme the
kwife. Using the tip of the blade, | loosened
Yoth screws until they £ell out of the coupling
and pinged against the concvete Floov.

Theve was a faiv amount of yelping,
hooting, amad helleving when | yamked the pipe
away from the wall amd staved mto the
opening.

“What Ao you see?” Tamk asked, standing
ow tHptoes.

A true smile unclenched every muscle in
my body. ‘I see light”

Daylight, Elizaveth. Daylight. | wept like
a kid.

'l write again when theve'’s a plaw.

Peace omA Freedowm,

Aulus
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‘I Aowt wamt to Ale,” Tank said.
“Me either.”
| might et write again. We'll be busy ov
we'll be Adead.
Peace amd Blessings,

Aulus
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After a long lounge on the pool float, |
needed to shave move thoughts about Dow.

Do wars not what youd call a logical
wmam. | mean, he tvied to hide o castle. Ana
no matter how mamy Hwmes | said, “Uncle Dow,
£ you keep lying, Thea won't cave that it's a
castle, he wouldu't budge. Castle building’s not
exactly like secvetly taking up scuba Aiving ov
collecting amtique cavs.

Ownce, we weve packing tools, sweating our
evevythings off times five, and | asked, “Why
a castle?” He Hlited his head to the wind,
wrestled with amswers fov o long minute, thewn
said, “Life’s move fun when you leavu to ask
how mstead of why.”

That explamation Aidut sit well with we.
Not after my Aad.

| pushed until he extvapolated. He claimead
GoA asked him to bulld o castle. No, i+ Aidw't
wmake sense. Yes, he'd been asked to Ao other
stvamge things. Was he sure it was the Aivine?
Not alwarys. But this Hime, ves. The caste,
whew finished, would chamge history, he said.

The Aay Welder took me, Uncle Dow omA |
weve extending a cedav voof over the thiva-
Lloov balcony. He was on o ladder amd | wens
paassing him hex bolts. | wovked up wmy courage
omd said, “Look, if you Aon't tell Thea, |
weed to.

His anger was & sudden squall om the lake
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style, amd cooed, "It wovked, it wovked, i+
wovked, it wovked.” Zaved Pollowed amd the
boys volled towavd the middle of the voowm,
wrestling, untll Rufus finally pinned Zaved, and
they lay panting and giggling amd happy. Tamk
swmiled. | smiled vack. We kvew better Hhowm to
wreste.

we filled twenty balloous, wrote twenty
wmessages, veleased thewm.

Towmk kept his ear against the pipe, listening
for amy type of vespounse.

“What Ao you heav?” Zaved asked.

Toamk AlAn't amswer.

We waited as long as we could.

Zaved asked again. Rufus chewed the
skin between his Hhumb and index finger.

Towmk’s head cocked towava the pipe.

“Anything?” | whispeved to him.

I Aow't think so, he said.

“How will we know whewn to velease move?”
Zoaved asked wme.

We decided to nap, and i theve was light
m the pipe when we woke, we'd velease another
twenty.

'l et you know.

Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus
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That thought was vadiation. A Aandelion blown
naked m a single wolf-like hubf. Little bits amd blobs
exploding amd Ploating. Like, Where is Welder? why
hasnwt he come back? He could solve all this if hed
veturn with some food.

| Aow't womt him to come vack.

| wveed him to come back or we'll Ale. Tamk
vealized | was Avifting amd asked, “You ever go on &
tour of Mamwmoth Cave wheve the tour guide turus
off all the lights?”

“And thew stvikes a single match?” | asked. “Yep.”

“Remember how they said you cam ouly
expevience tvue Aavkness in caves ov Aeep watev—"
Aloud metallic ping cut him ofL. Tauk hit the ground
cuvsing befove he finished the sentence.

“Maw, they've ignovamt.” He veachead for whatever
made the ping. ‘Davkuess is everywheve,’ he
concluded as he brought my hands to the ovject.

Thivty or forty inches tall. Cold. Thick wetal
ov aluminum base with a basketball-size Aiameter.
Something shawp stabbed me neav the top. Without
Alscussing, Tamk amd | hauled his Aiscovery to Light

“Helium?” Tamk vocked the cylindey, appraising its
weight. “Could ve some left”

“Helium'’s not much use. Unless you cam figure out
how to Ploat Rufus up to the ceiling with a pickaxe.”

Towmk’s expression said, | probably could have once
upon & time. Ana thew the sadwess hit him.,

I kept us laughing. “He's light, but he'’s not that
light”
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“What £ we've near your WildwooA?” Zaved asked.

| kept my voice contvolled amd low. “Anything’s
possivle now.”

Two-thivds of the fifteen thousama vesidents of
Simpson Coumnty lived in Wildwood city limits. That left
oam ungodly amount of vural propevty to seavch.

Toamk squatted next to the fox. 'l was taken
because . . " It's agonizing to watch him. “Because . . .
because of something | Aid ov said. Maybe with the
wvestigation. Maybve . . "

Zaved saunteved over amd counsideved the
possivility of side-hugging Tamk. At the last wminute,
he baileA. | Aidn't Hhink Tamk heavd him muttey,
“Remembering how ov who won't unbrick these walls,
but | Aid. Nothing broke Tank’s hold on himsel® whew
he got like this. He vocked like a metvonome, pressing
Hhumbs into his temples. Hed have put thewm thvough his
skull it he had the stvength.

“If Welder was watching ov felt threatened by
something we Aid in the vestigation, he would have to
ve local, vight? Someone close enough to watch us?”

‘Suve. Maybe, | said. “But Rube amd Zaved
weven't fvom Wildwood. They've uot even fvom
kentucky. Chvis either.” Meution of Chvis stopped wme,
but | mamaged to continue. “Welder couwld have Aviven
Prom omywheve ama Aviven you to amywheve.”

“Suve. But why take me at all?”

I lkeA his brvain veengaging.

Rufus tapped the Ploov in o nevvous viaythm. He

wove the same Peavful pinched expression as the
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“Have amothey,” | uvged. He swallowed wove
confidently. Without amy urging, he moved towava
Zaved like o priest with prepaved elements.

“Your tuvw, Z. IHs wot so bad.”

Zaved twisted his face towava the floov.

“Youvre doing this,’ Rufus said to Zaved, then
checked with me. “Right?”

“Right”

“Wrong,’ Zaved said.

Rufus used a burst of enevgy to straddle Zared
omaA Blip him over. He tvapped Zaved’s wrists ana
bounced on his weak stomach. “Get his head,” Rufus
urged me while he reached for the jav.

| watched, unsuve. Do we make Zaved Avink
against his will? My brain moved like Foucault’s
pendulum, steady on its couvse. Slowly, slowly, slowly,
tme tickea vy.

“Stop, Rube.” The voys froze, the pause button
pressed midaction. “Dow’t make him,” | said.

Zaved pavted Wis lips, probavly to thank me, but
i+ was too late. Rubus poured the liquid into Zaved’s
opev mouth omd the uvine smacked the vack of
his Hhroat. Some went Aown, some came up. Rufus
triumphomtly wiped the spit-up aas Zaved coughead
omd sputteved.

“Rufe!” | was amgviev with him tham I'A ever beew,
which confused him amd wme.

Our youngest vetveated to his float, and |
grabbed o T-shivt from the plle against the wall and

cleaned Zaved's face. He was sobbing. His wovds weve
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I'A consideved co-kidnappers befove amd examined
the shadowy body acvoss the £ood slit fov vaviamce

but wever noted oue. ‘Mayve,”

| sald, because anything
wars possivle. “Whoever he s . . . ov was, he's methodical
omA smavt,”

Except for the steady wovking of our fingers vipping
bags, we sat with that knowledge until | said, “You
kuow what gets me? other tham being trvapped, theve'’s
been wo acton. Zevo. Sometimes | evew think Welder
wawmts to come through the food slit ama hug us. He
Acesu’t, Hhamk God, but his body language is Lull of
semething that's less criminal and move patrevnal. But
thew Chvis . . . That changed what | thought | knew.
Welder took you £ov me because | was losing it

“No wary.”

‘1 Hhink so. | Hhink it's my Launlt youve heve. It's
eating wme alive. | need him to come back,’ | said.

Toawmk poked a hole through the tissue-thin T-shivt
he was wringing. He tugged until the £abvic vipped and
he hela pieces in both hamds. He Paced wme, T-shivt
tucked to his nese amad mouth. “Welder’s not coming to
let us out, Aul”

“Hey, if youve going to be in chavge of hope, you
con’t say stubl like that”

‘I remembered something eavliev, and t's not good,”
Toawmk sald cavefully. | A not hawve to say Tell me.
“Don called the wight | was taken.”

over the last month Taunk had shaved many
Aetails of the outside wovld. The vise of Justin Biever.
Wildwood adding o thivd school colov. Leo Aviving the
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That okay?” Thew he asked me to Avag the stubfed
coyote veside his pool float, which | Aid. He patted the
beast’s head and Plopped hava outo the float. Aftev
that, | fireman-hauled o neavly unconscious Zaved
next to Rufus.

| sat beside thewm, mothering them. These voys,
they've my life.

The wovst efPects avew’t physical. They've
psychological. A colony of ants inside my brain, tunneling
avound, prepping for winter like they own the place. |
Aot know which thoughts to trust—which ave mine?
Which belong to the ants?

Either way, while my suoving rothers float thvough
Aveamlomd, I've come to the unpopular conclusion that
H's pee-dvinking time.

Im wmy above life, a mam came o Quik Mavt
evevy Aay, voughly ten minutes aftev my shift
stavted. | thought of him as & Richawvd ov mayve
a Tony, though we never exchamged names. Skin
clung to his bowes like Led's Avy-votted ook covers
cleaved to their bindings—like they might slough
off m & havd wind. He wars eavly thivties, mayve
late twenties, oamd had teeth that weve wo longer
sevving the function of teeth. A paiv of navy
cavgo Dickies weve attached to his waist with o
bicycle tuve.

Without £all, he pointed to the prices ow the
Pountain Avink machine. “How much do’—he'd lift a
homaful of coins rvom his pocketr—"Sixty-thvee cents

buy toAay?”
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the (expletive, expletive, expletive) is this guy
talking about? | velieve you, being you, undevstand
that we belowg to o velatively exclusive clup

of zippers omd buwkers amd thieves. That'’s why

| chose you fov these letters. I case they've

the last | write. Youve my best chawce to be
undevstood.

Listening will not be easy. We've dying. Most
likely dead i youve reading this.

£ you Aow't wamt Aetails, Adow't wawmt to shave
in Hhis stovy, stop heve amad know | admive you fov
living.

But if you declde to vead ow, evevything |
shave vegarding the captivity of the June Boys
belongs to me, Aulus McClaghen, and only me.

Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus

P.S. | miss bivds. Bivds £ill my dveams. | dvaw chalk bivds
on the Flooy, the walls, the sides of the Aeep freezev.
Cavdinals. Blue jays. Finches. owls. Geese. Hawks. Most
of the time they've pevched on a high stone wall, singing
ov cawing ov houking. Sometimes they've flying over am

Amevicom flag m & pevfect V.

Elizaveth, have you ever listened while o Plock of
Ylackbivds bursts of £ covustalks in a wave? Nothing sounds
like that. Not even the creek abtrer a hava vain. | miss
natuve so much | want to tell every living soul: i you've not

stamding outside vight wow, leave your aiv conditioning ov
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vewmotely compare: Dow's castle bunker (I'll Avaw you o
pictuve of that i the next letter. Totally wild.) ana
the WildwooA Community Center basement. They've
cavevns too.

wWe measuve time v sleeps.

welder haswt been back i twenty sleeps.

That's all fov now.

Peace oA Freedom,

Aulus
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Deav Escape Avtist,

As prowmised, heve's my uncle’s castle.

’DELA CRoV% CASTL_E

A

Tower 2.

Cool, huh? I'A tell you why he's Aoing i, but he hasw't tald amyone else
besides me the whole stovy. Il owly say this: he's got o bt of o sawvior
complex, my uncle, but he's also got a castle. As of last June we'd
only done construction ow the keep, utlity space, amd umndevgrouna

gavages. Tamk added the towers. | guavamtee you Uncle Dow's Aone

wove by now Hhawm either of us kwows.
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“No.”

“Kick something,’ he demanded.

“No

“Kick something amd yell your lumgs out ov
Nl Wit vou tn the face.” Tauk launched himsel®
at we.

| turmned my jaw, offered him om easy
tovget.

He cuvled his kwuckles but Aidw't Hhvow
the punch. ‘Come om . . . at least say tHhis isw't
your fault”

“But if | cam’t get us out of—"

“Stop.”

“But someone has to—"

“You Aidw’t put us heve amd wo matter how
havd you try, you can’t make us £it thvough
a five-inch pipe.” He sagged but continued,
“Eavliey, whew | was pounding the washing
wmachine, you knwow what happened?” He Aidw't
let me amswer. “Theve was a voice i my ear
amd you know what it said, Aul? That we—you,
we . .. Zaved, Ruus, Chvis, the othevs—ave
blawmeless. Not about everything, but this . . .
Hhis iswt on amy of us.”

“But | Adow't wamt to give up,’ | said.

Toamk’s eyes flutteved. “That might be a
provlem because I'm . . " He slumped. | canght
him velfove he Lell, but only bavely. The fivst
tHhing | noticed was how heavy he was. Time

Aowv heve has ouly whittled away his extvar.
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That's hev. I'm telling you, she'’s vinging the vell for us,
he said.

“Youve suve?”

“Positive.”

We veleased five gavbage-bag balloons together.

wWe waited. We hopeAd.

The bell vamg again omd again.

Ouv eavs weve piuned to the opening.

The vell stopped ana | sha Aown the pile anad
locked my hawmds ovey my eavs. Can [ stop now? Is
it over?| lifted the lid ou the freezer omd Tamk
slammea it shut.

“Youve veally heve,' | said to Tauk.

“I'm veally heve, he answeved.

“AnA you never metr Rufus oamd ZaveA?”

He shook his head.

“Do you heav a vell?”

Tamk Avagged wme to the top of the heap amd we
listened again.

Four Himes the clapper stvuck the crown.
Ring-ving-ving-ving.

“Do you hear the vells?” he askea.

| AlA.
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The asphalt wavmed the soles of my shoes.
The wind grabbed the scents of honeysuckle
amd lavender and sent them my wary.

| called out, “Hey! Need help?”

Foumd uo one i the vehicle.

Assumed the Plymouth vawm out of gas.

Heowvd something £rom the brush, near the
WOOAS.

A flock of bivds alighted in the tveetops
amd sat twisting their necks side to side.

| stopped wmoving. Listened hava.

A weak voice. “Help.”

| picked my way fovward. Thigh-high gvass.
The buzzing of bees. The pop of Aisturbed
gvasshoppers.

A wovk glove shot above green wisps, tewn
voawds away. “Help, the weak voice callea
agam,

‘Should | call om ambulance?” | asked.

No awmswev.

Eight yawvds.

Someome was m pain. Iw tvouble.

Six yowds.

My brain fived, thinking through possivle
scenawios: hunting accident? heavt attack? |
bvaceA fov blooA.

Fouv yawds.

“My name’s Aulus. Wheve ave you? keep
talking.”

Gvroawms.
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Ouv scavenger Avopped his chin. “Not that
| know o

| Lelt bad that | wound up the voys with
the lead blower. Their enthusiasm plummeted
again with & lack of vespouse to the fourth
velease of valloows.

Tamk ammounced the light m the pipe was
out. The night ahead would e long, mayoe
even damgevous. The wrestling. The wmoving.
The wovk. These physical activities weve
asking fov a vetuvrw investment.

‘I wiss the pee jav,” Zaved said as he
stvetched out wext o Rufus. We piled
ouvselves atop the mound. No one wamted o be
Lar Lrom Hhe pipe ov each othev.

“Who Ao you miss most?” | asked Tamk.

Tamk laced his homds behina his eavs,
volled his Pace slightly towavd wmine amd then
back towavd the pipe. 'Glads. You?”

“Thea!

“You've been her whole life since you
Alsappeaved,’ he said.

And though he Aidn’t intend for me to feel
vad, | Ad. “Will you check the pipe again?” |
asked.

He AlA.

Coal black.

Untl light . . .

Peace oA Freedowm,

Aulus
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my cousin amd Lriend kissing in my absence. Tank
wats i some Shevlockiom club with them ama Gladys

(ouv other Briend) before Welder made him our new

Pourth. They've spent heaps of Hme looking for us.

| asked plenty of questions about their theovies om

Welder. on wheve we've being kept. Is theve amy hope

of vescue?

Tomk com’t vemember.

Welder'’s Avugs messed him up. He's still Tamk,

but & Aulled, hamds-presseA-to-his-temples Tawmk. |

try wot to bving up who took us because it vattles all

his obsessions amd wo matter how mamy times | say,

‘We've probably never going to kuow,’ he won't let it

Avop. Sad, consideving I've seen him out-math our old

calculus teachey. | prod him, smiling. “Hey, Uncle Leo

once vead a stovy about o lost camper who gulped his

pee like Mello Yello”

“Didn’t kill him?”

“Nope. HelpeA.” /_\

“Let’s tvy it} he said. “Might buy us
wmove Hme.”

| velled towawvd the other voom,
“Rubus! We need your scavenger skills.
Prouto!” To Tawmk | said, “We weed a
vottle, vight?”

He looked concevned until | promised
to go with Rufus amd keep him om tvack.

| wars out of the voom when his
teasing veached my eavs. "Pee Avinker.”

“Urvine lover! | calleAd vback.

Pee Avinking
isw't o pevbect
idea, but uvine’s
90 something
pevcent water
AMA you Cam
Avink t+ o Pew
Aays without
the vactevia

building up. I£

Led's vight-
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Zaved bucked Rubus’s hold amd screeched,

‘We've going to die i heve!”

Rufus growled in am efPovt to contvol Zaved. “Aul,

tell him we won't die. Welder’s coming back to let

us go.”

‘Welder veleases June Boys om June
20th. We hamg in & Pew move Aays amd
we've golden,” | told thewm both.

Rufus lossened his hold amad Zaved
swmashed the cvown of his head wto the
kid's Pace. This broke the hold, mayve

the wnose, based on the cvunching woise

and subsequent vel
I£ you've thinking Zaved is Aifficult,
you get o gold staw. But also, whew he
thought 1A stopped watching, he peckea
at Rubus’s bleeding nose, and the sovvow
wats theve. owly a flash. But theve.
‘Save that vlood, Rube. Aulus the

Oour bowes awve
sobtevr thowm
they should ve.

Vitowmin D is one

of the manmy
things Weldev

stopped supplying
abtev ... well,

abtey.

Conquevor will have you Aviuk it latey,” he said.

I'm not vidlent, Elizabveth, wot even playfully, but

| chavged Zaved. | guess I'A had enough lip ama

negativity. | shoved him offensive-lineman style amad

pimmned him to the wall. His avms weve sticks. The

sliver of his humevus met the elbow and Lovked into

his ulwan amd vadius like o Aying tree bramch. Theya

shap & havd wind. | planed to be a stvong breeze.
You shouwld have heavd wme, Elizaveth. | was o

guuma, pistol to his cavotid. | was Lioawm Neeson. ‘1 will

keep you alive. Understamd?” When he Aidw't vespond,
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Deavr Elizaveth,

Ouv scvewdviver seavch was delayed due
to Tamk’s bvain hurting.

Cuvvently, he'’s holding his head like a
Lootball while Rufus amd Zaved play cavds n
the wext voom. They've laughing havd, havd
enough to amnoy him, but he'’s Stonehenge when
it comes to the boys.

That gave me time to write move.

Times like this, when wo one needs me,
| give myself over to missing. You know how
Aamgevous wmissing is? one little thought of
Thea or Gladys ov Nick amd I'm all but gone.
Fov this session, | Avift towavad Uncle Leo.

£ youve net & gun, & Aoy, ov am Amevicam,
Led’s got commitment issues with you. Accovding
to him, he's had three amd o hal® wives (wo

comment on which wife was the “hal®” but we
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| caunght his awvm so he would stop Aviving his fist
into his thigh amd handed him move plastic to vip.

He said, ‘I can’t remember amything albter
agreeing to come back to the castle. Except. . "
Towmk smoothed his hair Adown omd Hhen up, like he was
coaxing the mewmory by petting his brain into o Aocile
oamimanl,

“And he hit you with o shovel?” | guessed.

Head buvied between his knees, Tomk said, “No,
theve wars, | .. . | ... Theve was & towel or & varg.
Someone coveved my mouth from behind. | smellea
gvarss. The hamds weve small, stroug. | saw the wrists
over wmy mouth.”

Towmk vivratred so viclewtly he slid o the floov. |
sHA too. His eyes boved thvough my skin like o diamond
Ylade. Without asking, he guided my hands over his
wmouth, reenacting the way Welder attacked him. My
own wrist stung from the pressuve he applie.

“This Huy bit of skin was uncovered, and a
ponytail holdevr was vight theve! With his left hand,
he touched the wavvow place between my wrist bone
omd hamd.

The place wheve my uncle has wovw o ponytail
holder fov veavs.

Elizaveth, | struggled to accept Tank’s inbormation
even though he would uet lie to me. Do you know how
sometimes a truth will stave you doww, wink at you,
amd you still don't know i it's hitting ou you? Likewise,
lie might date you for months amd youd have no idea

youd beew deceived.
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Hhis place amad seavch methodically fov tHhat
scvewdvivey, he said.
Back soom to tell you what happenea.
The following map took hours to cveate.

| love it like o Picasso.

N
0{4 ToaRK.

“ el i (3 T €, [

o —+
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Elizaveth, i youve Hhinking we wasted am
enormous amount of Hime Asing nothing to help
ouvselves, youve uot wrong. My ouly defeuse is this:
ouv fivst bunker was built +o house prisoners omaA we
weve theve eleven months’ wovth of sleeps. Welder
left Hhvee to seven Aays’ wovth of LooA each
time he visited. You kwow how zookeepevs chain
elephamts to posts to teach thewm captivity ama
once they've leavued, the zookeepevs vemove the
posts amd the elephants Adow't budge? That's us.
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Tomk was probably at Hhe Aooy, shaking
with disapproval. | AIA not turn and look.

‘Ready?” | asked.

“Ready,’ the boys said togethey, peace
omd Lear on each face.

| closed the lA.

Elizaveth, | closed that liA.
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intevnal wiving should be novwmal. The ntevior walls

of Light amd Davk ave either Avywall ov paneling.
The exteriov, concvete. Ceilings vange Lrom Lourteen
Leet in the main voom to tew i the auxiliavy spaces.
Theyve made of Avopped tle ov Hhat filthy popcovn
stull. Electvical could e up there, even though none
of the vest of the plugs wovk.

The theory was money scalding my pocket amad
tHhigh. I left Light to investigate, squinting against the
shadows of Davk amd picking my way closev to the
center of the voom. Theve was a vound metal platre in
the ceiling. Empty hooks to the vight and left wheve
fixtuves used to hawmg.

‘Get W heve!” Three June Boys made thvee
silhouettes i the doovwary. “Think we could get up
theve?” | asked, pointing at the plates.

Rufus nodded exubevamtly. “I£ we pile stuff.
Yealh, Lov suve”

Tamk said, "Yealh,” but he was av move vesevveA
thom Rufus.

Zoawved’s expression vemained blomk amd
zowmbie-like.

| kept wovking the theovy. “We could move the
Pluovescents from Sleeping Room amd seavch for tools.”
| cut ofP some negative banter between Zaved and
Rufus, tvying not to burst hope while i+ was bubbling.
“Thew, i Welder doeswt veturn, we'll be veady.” |
At admit we could die of Aehydvation in the
wmeantime. | bavveled ow, hoping Leo was vight about

urine amd Tamk was vight about June 30th.





